

On the shape of Meissner solutions to the 2-dimensional Ginzburg–Landau system

Xing-Bin Pan^{1,2} · Xingfei Xiang³

Received: 12 April 2021 / Revised: 4 August 2022 / Accepted: 7 August 2022 / Published online: 11 September 2022 © The Author(s), under exclusive licence to Springer-Verlag GmbH Germany, part of Springer Nature 2022

Abstract

This paper concerns the asymptotic behavior of the stable solution $(f_{\lambda}, \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda})$ of the full Meissner state equation for a two-dimensional superconductor with penetration depth λ and Ginzburg–Landau parameter κ , and subjected to an applied magnetic field \mathcal{H}^e . It is known that the solution is stable if the minimum value of $|f_{\lambda}(x)|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}(x)|^2$ is larger than 1/3, and the solution loses its stability when the minimum value reached 1/3. It has been conjectured that the location of the minimum points of $|f_{\lambda}(x)|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}(x)|^2$ has connection with the location of vortex nucleation of the superconductor. In this paper, we prove that if the penetration depth λ is small, the solution $(f_{\lambda}, \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda})$ exhibits boundary layer behavior, and $(1 - f_{\lambda}, \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda})$ exponentially decays in the normal direction away from the boundary. Moreover, the minimum points of $|f_{\lambda}(x)|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}(x)|^2$ locate near the set $S(\mathcal{H}^e)$, which is determined by the applied magnetic field \mathcal{H}^e and the geometry of the domain. In the special case where the applied magnetic field \mathcal{H}^e is constant, the minimum points of $|f_{\lambda}(x)|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}(x)|^2$ locate near the maximum points of the curvature of the domain boundary.

Mathematics Subject Classification $\ 82D55 \cdot 35B25 \cdot 35Q55$

 Xingfei Xiang xfxiang@tongji.edu.cn
 Xing-Bin Pan panxingbin@cuhk.edu.cn; xbpan@math.ecnu.edu.cn

² School of Mathematical Sciences, East China Normal University, Shanghai 200241, China

³ School of Mathematical Sciences, Tongji University, Shanghai 200092, China

¹ School of Science and Engineering, The Chinese University of Hong Kong (Shenzhen), Shenzhen 518172, Guangdong, China

Contents

1	Introduction	542
	1.1 The equation	542
	1.2 Motivation from phase transformation of Meissner states	543
	1.3 Main results	548
	1.3.1 Organization of this paper	552
2	Formal asymptotic solution to system (1.1)	52
	2.1 The leading order term	555
	2.2 The first order term	559
	2.3 The second order term	560
3	Uniform estimation for the approximation solution	662
4	Decay estimate for Meissner solutions	571
5	Proof of Theorem 1.2	580
6	Further remarks	593
	6.1 Chapman's conjecture on vortex nucleation	;93
	6.2 Meissner states of three dimensional superconductors	<i>5</i> 94
	6.3 Comparison of Meissner effects and surface superconductivity	594
	6.4 Meissner states in various setting	595
Aŗ	ppendix A: Uniqueness of the solution to system (2.11)	597
Aŗ	opendix B: Exponential decay for some ODEs	;99
Aŗ	ppendix C: Derivation of system (2.20) $\ldots \ldots $	502
Aŗ	ppendix D: Derivation of system (2.22) and proof of (3.5) $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	604
Aŗ	ppendix E: Derivation of the boundary condition (3.8) $\ldots \ldots $	510
Re	e_{ferences}	512

1 Introduction

1.1 The equation

This paper concerns the asymptotic behavior, as $\lambda \to 0$, of the solutions of the following equation:

$$\begin{cases} -\frac{\lambda^2}{\kappa^2} \Delta f = (1 - |f|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}|^2) f & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \lambda^2 \text{curl}^2 \mathbf{Q} + |f|^2 \mathbf{Q} = \mathbf{0} & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \mathbf{n} \cdot \nabla f = 0, \quad \lambda \text{curl} \mathbf{Q} = \mathcal{H}^e & \text{on } \partial \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

where Ω is a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^2 , **n** is the unit outward normal to $\partial\Omega$, and \mathcal{H}^e is a given function. *f* and **Q** are unknown, where *f* is a scalar function and **Q** = (Q_1, Q_2) is a vector field. For a vector field **Q** in two dimensions,

$$\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{Q} = \partial_2 Q_1 - \partial_1 Q_2, \quad \operatorname{curl}^2 \mathbf{Q} = (\partial_2 (\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{Q}), -\partial_1 (\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{Q})).$$

Equation (1.1) is called the *Meissner equation*, as it describes the Meissner states of a type II superconductor occupying a cylinder of infinite hight with its axis along the x_3 -axis and a cross section Ω in the x_1x_2 -plane, and subjected to an axial applied magnetic field $\mathbf{H} = (0, 0, \mathcal{H}^e)$. κ and λ are positive constants, among them, λ is the penetration depth of the superconductor (generally $0 < \lambda \ll 1$), and κ is the Ginzburg-Landau parameter given by the ratio of the penetration depth and the coherence length.

1.2 Motivation from phase transformation of Meissner states

In the classical theory of superconductivity, the electromagnetic behavior of a superconductor is described by a global minimizer of the Ginzburg-Landau energy functional. A superconductor of type II is subjected to an increasing magnetic field will undergo phase transitions, and there exist three critical values for the strength of the applied field, denoted by H_{C_1} , H_{C_2} and H_{C_3} respectively, with $H_{C_1} < H_{C_2} < H_{C_3}$. If the applied field is below H_{C_1} , it will be excluded from the bulk of the superconductor and the sample is in a superconducting state, which is also called a *Meissner state*. This phenomenon is the well-known Meissner effect. If its strength of the applied magnetic field is raised to above H_{C_1} but still below H_{C_2} , the applied field will penetrate the sample through some vortices, and the sample is in a mixed state so that both superconducting and normal regions coexist. If the applied field increases to exceed H_{C_2} , but remains below H_{C_3} , the superconductor will be in a surface superconducting state. In this state superconductivity persists only within some thin sheathes near the surface of the sample. If the applied magnetic field is raised above H_{C_3} , superconductivity will be totally destroyed and the entire sample will be in a normal state.

These phenomena have been extensively studied by many mathematicians, see for instance [28–31] for the mathematical theory of the mixed states when the applied magnetic field is between H_{C_1} and H_{C_2} , and see [12, 13, 16, 20, 23, 24] and references therein for the analysis of surface superconductivity when the applied field is between H_{C_2} and H_{C_3} .

Physicists have discovered that, superconductivity can be described by a critical point of the Ginzburg-Landau functional, which is not necessary to be a global minimizer. For type II superconductors, the Meissner state is metastable and persists up to the so-called superheating field H_{sh} which is higher than H_{C_1} , see [18, 21, 32]. As the applied field increases further and reaches H_{sh} , it begins to penetrate the sample and vortices start to nucleate. See [6, 7] and the references therein for the mathematical discussions on the critical field H_{sh} and nucleation of vortices.

We believe that one more critical field is needed in order to understand the phase transitions of the Meissner states. This critical field, denoted by H_S , lies in between H_{C_1} and H_{sh} , and it is a critical value of the strength of the applied magnetic field for a Meissner state to lose local stability. That is, if the applied field is below H_S , the Meissner states are locally stable; while if the applied field reaches H_S , some Meissner states will be locally instable. For comparison, the first critical field H_{C_1} is the critical value of the strength of the increasing applied magnetic field at which some Meissner solutions start to lose global stability.

To explain this critical field H_S , let us recall that in the Ginzburg-Landau theory [15], superconducting behaviors of a sample are described by a critical point (ψ , **A**) of the Ginzburg-Landau functional. Let us consider a type II superconductor occupying a cylinder in \mathbb{R}^3 with its axis along the x_3 -axis, subjected to an axial applied magnetic field $(0, 0, \mathcal{H}^e)$, where $\mathcal{H}^e(x_1, x_2) > 0$ is a smooth function. For simplicity, we may also call the function \mathcal{H}^e the *applied field*. Then the Ginzburg-Landau energy is reduced

to the two-dimensional functional of the following form

$$\mathcal{E}[\Psi, \mathbf{A}] = \int_{\Omega} \left\{ \left| \left(\frac{\lambda}{\kappa} \nabla - i\mathbf{A} \right) \Psi \right|^2 + \frac{1}{2} (1 - |\Psi|^2)^2 \right\} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |\lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{A} - \mathcal{H}^e|^2 dx,$$
(1.2)

where Ω is the cross section of the cylinder, Ψ is a complex-valued function called *order parameter* with $|\Psi|^2$ representing the density of superconducting electron pairs, **A** is the magnetic potential and curl**A** is the induced magnetic field. The Euler-Lagrange equation of the functional \mathcal{E} is called the Ginzburg-Landau equation:

$$\begin{cases} -(\frac{\lambda}{\kappa}\nabla - i\mathbf{A})^{2}\Psi = (1 - |\Psi|^{2})\Psi & \text{in }\Omega, \\ \lambda^{2}\text{curl}^{2}\mathbf{A} + \Psi^{2}\mathbf{A} = \frac{i\lambda}{2\kappa}\left(\Psi\nabla\Psi^{*} - \Psi^{*}\nabla\Psi\right) & \text{in }\Omega, \\ \lambda\text{curl}^{2}\mathbf{A} = \text{curl}\mathcal{H}^{e} & \text{in }\Omega^{c}, \\ \mathbf{n} \cdot \left(\frac{\lambda}{\kappa}\nabla - i\mathbf{A}\right)\Psi = 0, \quad [\mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{A}] = \mathbf{0}, \quad [\text{curl}\mathbf{A}] = 0 \quad \text{on }\partial\Omega, \\ \lambda\text{curl}\mathbf{A} - \mathcal{H}^{e} \to 0 & \text{as } |x| \to \infty, \end{cases}$$

$$(1.3)$$

where $[\cdot]$ represents the jump in the enclosed quantity across $\partial \Omega$, and

$$\operatorname{curl}\mathcal{H}^e = (\partial_2(\mathcal{H}^e), -\partial_1(\mathcal{H}^e)).$$

For convenience we call a cylindrical superconductor that can be described by the equation (1.3) as a *two-dimensional superconductor*, and call a superconductor occupying a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^3 and can be described by the Ginzburg-Landau equation on the three-dimensional domain as a *three-dimensional superconductor*.

A Meissner state is represented by a solution (Ψ, \mathbf{A}) of (1.3) such that the order parameter Ψ does not have zero points over $\overline{\Omega}$, and such a solution is called *Meissner solution*. If a solution (ψ, \mathbf{A}) is such that Ψ has zero points, then the zero points are called *vortices* and (ψ, \mathbf{A}) is called a *vortex solution*. Existence of Meissner solutions and vortex solutions of (1.3) have been extensively studied, and very rich results have been established, see for instance [19, 29, 31] and the references therein.¹

If the applied field is below H_{C_1} , then the global minimizers of the Ginzburg-Landau energy have no zero points, hence they are Meissner states. In other words, those Meissner solutions are globally stable with respect to the Ginzburg-landau energy [28–30]. If the applied field increases to exceed H_{C_1} but is still below H_S , the solutions are no longer global minimizers, but they are still locally stable with respect to some energy functional which may be called *Meissner energy* and will be defined later. If the applied field increases further to exceed H_S but is still below H_{sh} , some Meissner solutions continuous to exist but become instable with respect to the Meissner energy. When the applied field reaches H_{sh} , then some Meissner solutions will change to vortex solutions, namely the order parameters will have zeroes. So the phase transitions of Meissner states with the applied magnetic filed increasing along H_{C_1} , H_S and H_{sh} have different nature, comparing with the phase transitions of the global minimizers

¹ See also [31, Chapter 11] and [9] for the corresponding results of type I superconductors.

with the applied field increasing along H_{C_1} , H_{C_2} and H_{C_3} . Therefore it will be useful to study the whole process how a stable Meissner state loses its local stability and then produces vortices and changes into a mixed state, and find the location where the vortices begin to nucleate.

To study these problems, we start with the Meissner equation derived by Chapman [6, 7]. Let (Ψ, \mathbf{A}) be a Meissner solution and suppose that Ψ can be written as

$$\Psi = f e^{i\chi}$$

where f is a positive function and χ is a smooth real function. Then we let

$$\mathbf{A} = \mathbf{Q} + \frac{\lambda}{\kappa} \nabla \chi.$$

Plugging this (Ψ, \mathbf{A}) into (1.3), we see that (f, \mathbf{Q}) satisfies the following equation:

$$\begin{cases} -\frac{\lambda^2}{\kappa^2} \Delta f = (1 - |f|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}|^2) f & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \lambda^2 \text{curl}^2 \mathbf{Q} + |f|^2 \mathbf{Q} = \mathbf{0} & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \lambda \text{curl}^2 \mathbf{Q} = \text{curl} \mathcal{H}^e & \text{in } \Omega^c, \\ \mathbf{n} \cdot \nabla f = 0, \quad [\mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{Q}] = \mathbf{0}, \quad [\text{curl} \mathbf{Q}] = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial \Omega, \\ \lambda \text{curl} \mathbf{Q} \to \mathcal{H}^e & \text{as } |x| \to \infty. \end{cases}$$
(1.4)

In the two dimensional case, we can write the third and last equalities in (1.4) as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_2(\lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{Q} - \mathcal{H}^e) &= 0, \quad \partial_1(\lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{Q} - \mathcal{H}^e) = 0 \quad \text{in } \Omega^c, \\ \lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{Q} - \mathcal{H}^e \to 0 \quad \text{as } |x| \to \infty. \end{aligned}$$

This gives that

$$\lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{Q} = \mathcal{H}^e \quad \text{in } \Omega^c.$$

Therefore, (1.4) is reduced to (1.1) if the condition $[\mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{Q}] = \mathbf{0}$ is ignored.²

On the other hand, if (f, \mathbf{Q}) is a solution of (1.4) with $0 < f(x) \le 1$, then for any smooth real-valued function χ ,

$$(\Psi, \mathbf{A}) = (f e^{i\chi}, \mathbf{Q} + \frac{\lambda}{\kappa} \nabla \chi)$$

is a solution of the Ginzburg-Landau equation (1.3).

Equation (1.1) can be further simplified by taking large κ limit. From the first equality in (1.1) one formally gets $(1 - |f|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}|^2)f = 0$. For a Meissner state, one

 $^{2^{\}circ}$ See also [5, 25, 26] for the derivation of (1.4) and (1.1).

expects that f > 0, which implies that $|f|^2 = 1 - |\mathbf{Q}|^2$. Plugging this into the second equation in (1.1), we get the limiting equation for **Q**:

$$\begin{cases} -\lambda^2 \operatorname{curl}^2 \mathbf{Q} = (1 - |\mathbf{Q}|^2) \mathbf{Q} & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{Q} = \mathcal{H}^e & \text{on } \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$
(1.5)

For our convenience we may say (1.5) is the special case of (1.1) with $\kappa = \infty$.

Equation (1.5) with \mathcal{H}^e equalling to a positive constant has been studied in [4, 6, 7, 27]. Chapman [6] showed that the solution \mathbf{Q} of (1.5) is stable with respect to the energy associated with (1.5) if $\max_{x\in\bar{\Omega}} |\mathbf{Q}(x)| < 1/\sqrt{3}$, and as the applied field \mathcal{H}^e increases, the solution begins to loss such stability when the maximum value of $|\mathbf{Q}(x)|$ reaches $1/\sqrt{3}$. Berestycki, Bonnet and Chapman [4] showed that the maximum points of $|\mathbf{Q}(x)|$ locate on the domain boundary. Chapman [7] used the asymptotic analysis to derive that the maximum points of $|\mathbf{Q}(x)|$ locate on the maximum points of the boundary curvature, which has been rigorously proved for small λ by Pan and Kwek [27].

The analysis in [6, 7] suggests that the loss of certain stability of Meissner states will lead to generation of vortices, and Chapman conjectured that the location of the maximum points of $|\mathbf{Q}(x)|$ is the location where the first vortices will appear. This conjecture motivates our study on the change of stability of the Meissner solutions of (1.1).

For reader's convenience, we now state the definition of stability of a solution (f, \mathbf{Q}) of (1.1). We define the *Meissner energy functional* associated with the equation (1.1) by

$$\mathcal{E}_{\Omega}[f, \mathbf{Q}] = \int_{\Omega} \left\{ \frac{\lambda^2}{\kappa^2} |\nabla f|^2 + |f|^2 |\mathbf{Q}|^2 + \frac{1}{2} (1 - |f|^2)^2 \right\} dx$$
$$+ \int_{\Omega} |\lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{Q} - \mathcal{H}^e|^2 dx.$$

Then the second order differential of the functional \mathcal{E}_{Ω} is given by the following:

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \mathcal{E}_{\Omega}^{''}[f,\mathbf{Q}],[g,\mathbf{B}]\rangle &= 2\int_{\Omega} \left\{ \frac{\lambda^2}{\kappa^2} |\nabla g|^2 + |f\mathbf{B} + 2g\mathbf{Q}|^2 + 3g^2(|f|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}|^2 - \frac{1}{3}) \right\} dx \\ &+ 2\int_{\Omega} |\lambda \mathrm{curl} \mathbf{B}|^2 dx. \end{aligned}$$

Set

$$\mathcal{W}(\Omega) = [H^1(\Omega) \cap L^{\infty}(\Omega)] \times [H^1(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3) \cap L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^3)].$$

Definition 1 Let (f, \mathbf{Q}) be a solution of (1.1) and assume $(f, \mathbf{Q}) \in \mathcal{W}(\Omega)$.

(a) We say (f, \mathbf{Q}) is a *Meissner solution* of (1.1) if f(x) > 0 over $\overline{\Omega}$.

🖉 Springer

(b) We say (f, Q) is stable (with respect to the Meissner equation (1.1)) if E["]_Ω is non-negative on W(Ω), namely if

$$\langle \mathcal{E}_{\Omega}[f, \mathbf{Q}], [g, \mathbf{B}] \rangle \ge 0 \text{ for all } (g, \mathbf{B}) \in \mathcal{W}(\Omega).$$

Existence and uniqueness of a stable Meissner solution of (1.1) have been discussed in [5].³ If $(f, \mathbf{Q}) \in \mathcal{W}(\Omega)$ and if

$$|f(x)|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}(x)|^2 > \frac{1}{3}, \quad 0 < f(x) \le 1 \text{ for all } x \in \Omega,$$

then (f, \mathbf{Q}) is stable, and it is the case if κ is sufficiently large. The solution loses its stability when the minimum value of $|f(x)|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}(x)|^2$ reaches 1/3.

Although the physical meaning of the critical fields H_S and the superheating field H_{sh} are clear, mathematically we need a careful definition of these fields. Since one can describe a Meissner state by using either the Ginzburg-Landau model (1.3), or the full Meissner model (1.4), or the reduced Meissner system (1.1), there are many options to define these critical fields. As in this paper we use the reduced system (1.1) to describe the Meissner states, we shall give a definition of stability based on (1.1).

Let us consider the applied magnetic field of the form

$$\mathcal{H}^e = \sigma \mathcal{H}$$

where \mathcal{H} is a continuous and positive-valued function defined over Ω , and $\sigma > 0$. Then we define the critical fields H_S and H_{sh} as follows.

Definition 2

$$H_{S}(\mathcal{H}) = \sup\{H > 0 : \text{ all Meissner solutions of (1.1) with } \mathcal{H}^{e} = \sigma \mathcal{H}$$

are stable if $0 \le \sigma < H\}$,
$$H_{sh}(\mathcal{H}) = \inf\{H > 0 : \text{ Equation (1.1) with } \mathcal{H}^{e} = \sigma \mathcal{H}$$

has no Meissner solutions if $\sigma > H\}.$ (1.6)

Then we let

$$H_S = H_S(1), \quad H_{sh} = H_{sh}(1).$$

The above discussions suggest the following problems:

Problem (A). Find the value of the critical field H_S . Examine how a stable Meissner solution (f, \mathbf{Q}) of (1.1) starts to lose its stability as the strength of the applied magnetic field \mathcal{H}^e increases and reaches this critical value. In particular, find the location of the minimum points of $|f(x)|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}(x)|^2$ (with minimum value 1/3).

³ Uniqueness of the stable Meissner solution of the system in a three dimensional domain can be directly derived from Lemma 3.1 in [26].

Problem (B). Find the value of the critical value H_{sh} . Examine how an instable Meissner solution (f, \mathbf{Q}) of (1.1) starts to nucleate vortices and find the location of the first vortices.

Problem (C). Verify that if κ is large then

$$H_{C_1} < H_S < H_{sh}.$$

In this paper we investigate Problem (A).

1.3 Main results

At moment we do not know the precise value of H_S , so we start with Meissner solutions in a *weak* magnetic field, that is, $\max_{\bar{\Omega}} |\mathcal{H}^e(x)|$ is sufficiently small. Under a weak magnetic field, a Meissner solution (f, \mathbf{Q}) of (1.1) is stable, hence

$$d_{f,\mathbf{Q}} > \frac{1}{3},$$

here we denote

$$d_{f,\mathbf{Q}} := \inf_{x \in \bar{\Omega}} \left\{ |f(x)|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}(x)|^2 \right\}.$$
 (1.7)

We let \mathcal{H}^e increase and look for a Meissner solution (f_0, \mathbf{Q}_0) which first loses its stability, hence d_{f_0,\mathbf{Q}_0} first achieves the value $\frac{1}{3}$, and find the position of the minimum points of $|f_0(x)|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_0(x)|^2$. Due to some technical reason, instead of analyze the solution (f_0, \mathbf{Q}_0) with $d_{f_0,\mathbf{Q}_0} = \frac{1}{3}$, we consider first an approximation problem as follows. We fix $\kappa > 0$ and take a small number $\delta > 0$. Let (f, \mathbf{Q}) be a solution of (1.1) satisfying the following inequality

$$|f(x)|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}(x)|^2 \ge \frac{1}{3} + \delta^2, \quad 0 < f(x) \le 1, \quad x \in \bar{\Omega}.$$
 (1.8)

We show that the minimum points of $|f(x)|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}(x)|^2$ locate near the domain boundary, and $(1 - f(x), \mathbf{Q}(x))$ decays exponentially in the normal direction away from the boundary if the penetration depth λ is small. Denote

$$d(x, \partial \Omega) = \min_{y \in \partial \Omega} |x - y|.$$

Let h^* be the number defined in Definition 2.3 in Sect. 2.

Theorem 1.1 (Decay estimate) Let Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^2 with a C^3 boundary $\partial \Omega$, and let \mathcal{H}^e be a C^3 function on $\overline{\Omega}$ satisfying $\|\mathcal{H}^e\|_{C^0(\partial\Omega)} < h^*$. There exists a positive constant λ_0 such that, if $\lambda \in (0, \lambda_0)$ and if $(f_{\lambda}, \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda})$ is a solution of system (1.1) satisfying (1.8), then for any $0 < \alpha < \min\{\sqrt{2\kappa}, 2\}$ and any $0 < \beta < 1$, we

have

$$|1 - f_{\lambda}(x)| \le C_1 e^{-\alpha d(x, \partial \Omega)/\lambda}, \quad |\mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}(x)| \le C_2 e^{-\beta d(x, \partial \Omega)/\lambda}, \quad x \in \bar{\Omega},$$

where the constants C_1 and C_2 depend only on Ω , \mathcal{H}^e , κ , δ , α and β .

- **Remark 1** (a) Theorem 1.1 says that if a superconductor is in a stable Meissner state and is subjected to a weak magnetic field, then in the interior of the sample we have $(f_{\lambda}, \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}) \sim (1, \mathbf{0})$, which shows that the induced magnetic field vanishes away from a thin layer around the surface of the sample, hence the applied magnetic field does not penetrate the bulk and will not destroy the superconductivity in the interior, and the material is almost in a perfectly superconducting state except a boundary sheath. This is the mathematical description of the Meissner effect.
- (b) Intuitively, the decay behavior of |1 − f_λ(x)| and |Q_λ(x)| can be explained in the following way. If the boundary conditions in (1.1) were ignored, formally we can derive from the equations that, f_λ(x) ~ 1 and |Q_λ(x)| ~ 0 in the interior of the domain as λ → 0. Then the linearization of the second equality of (1.1) around (f, Q) = (1, 0) gives the London equation

$$\lambda^2 \operatorname{curl}^2 \mathbf{H} + \mathbf{H} = \mathbf{0}, \quad \operatorname{div} \mathbf{H} = 0 \quad \text{in } \Omega$$

By the Agmon's estimate [2] we can show that the non-zero solutions of the above equation are exponentially decay

$$|\mathbf{H}(x)| \le Ce^{-d(x,\partial\Omega)/\lambda}, \quad x \in \Omega,$$

from which we can derive the decay behavior of $|\mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}(x)|$. The linearization of the first equality of (1.1) around $(f, \mathbf{Q}) = (1, \mathbf{0})$ gives

$$-\frac{\lambda^2}{\kappa^2}\Delta w + 2w = |\mathbf{q}|^2 \quad \text{in } \Omega,$$

where **q** is a variation of **Q**. Using the Agmon's estimate again we can show that

$$|w(x)| \le Ce^{-\min\{\sqrt{2\kappa}, 2\}d(x, \partial\Omega)/\lambda}, \quad x \in \Omega,$$

from which we can obtain the decay behavior of the function $1 - f_{\lambda}(x)$.

To determine precise location of the minimum points of $|f_{\lambda}(x)|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}(x)|^2$, we need carefully analyze the behavior of the solution $(f_{\lambda}, \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda})$ in a thin layer around the domain boundary. We shall derive an asymptotic expansion of $(f_{\lambda}, \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda})$ around any given point $X_0 \in \partial \Omega$ for small λ :

$$\left\| f_{\lambda}(x) - \hat{f}_{0}(\psi^{-1}(x)/\lambda) - \lambda \hat{f}_{1}(\psi^{-1}(x)/\lambda) \right\|_{C^{0}\left(\overline{\mathcal{U}_{0,\lambda} \cap \Omega}\right)} \le O(\lambda^{2})$$
(1.9)

🖉 Springer

and

$$\left\|\mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}(x) - \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{0}(\psi^{-1}(x)/\lambda) - \lambda \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{1}(\psi^{-1}(x)/\lambda)\right\|_{C^{0}\left(\overline{\mathcal{U}_{0,\lambda} \cap \Omega}\right)} \le O(\lambda^{2}), \quad (1.10)$$

where

- $\mathcal{U}_{0,\lambda}$ is an open neighbourhood of the point X_0 with diameter λ ;
- $x = \psi(y)$ is a diffeomorphism straightening a boundary portion of $\partial \Omega$ around X_0 ;
- the scalar function $\hat{f}_0(\cdot)$ and the vector field $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(\cdot)$ are determined by the strength of the magnetic field (see (5.18) in section 5);
- the scalar function $\hat{f}_1(\cdot)$ and the vector field $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_1(\cdot)$ are defined by equations involving the strength of the magnetic field and the curvature *k* of the domain boundary (see (5.19) in section 5).

Moreover we shall show that $\hat{f}_1(\cdot)$ and the first component of $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_1(\cdot)$ are monotonic with respect to the curvature k of $\partial\Omega$, see for the more precise description in Theorem 5.2. This monotonicity property together with the estimates (1.9) and (1.10) will lead to the determination of the location of the minimum points of $|f_\lambda(x)|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_\lambda(x)|^2$ as described in the following Theorem 1.2. To state the result of Theorem 1.2 we need the concept of *sub-convergence*.

Definition 3 Let $\{P_{\lambda}\}$ be a family of points indexed by the parameter λ . We say that the points $\{P_{\lambda}\}$ sub-converge to the set *S* as λ tends to zero, if for any sequence $\lambda_n \to 0$ there exists a subsequence $\{\lambda_{n_j}\}$ and a point $P \in S$ which depends on the subsequence, such that $\lim_{j\to\infty} P_{\lambda_{n_j}} = P$.

For the given function \mathcal{H}^e we set

$$\partial \Omega(\mathcal{H}^e) = \left\{ x \in \partial \Omega : \mathcal{H}^e(x) = \| \mathcal{H}^e \|_{C^0(\partial \Omega)} \right\},\tag{1.11}$$

and

$$S(\mathcal{H}^{e}) = \left\{ x \in \partial \Omega(\mathcal{H}^{e}) : k(x) = \max_{y \in \partial \Omega(\mathcal{H}^{e})} k(y) \right\},$$
(1.12)

where k(x) is the curvature function of $\partial \Omega$.

Theorem 1.2 Assume Ω is a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^2 with a C^3 boundary $\partial \Omega$, and let \mathcal{H}^e be a C^3 function on $\overline{\Omega}$ satisfying $\|\mathcal{H}^e\|_{C^0(\partial\Omega)} < h^*$. Suppose $(f_\lambda, \mathbf{Q}_\lambda)$ is the solution of system (1.1) satisfying (1.8). Then, as λ tends to zero, the minimum points of $|f_\lambda(x)|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_\lambda(x)|^2$ sub-converge to the set $S(\mathcal{H}^e)$ defined by (1.12).

If $\mathcal{H}^e = h$ is a positive constant, then

$$\partial \Omega(h) = \partial \Omega, \qquad S(h) = \{x \in \partial \Omega : k(x) = \max_{y \in \partial \Omega} k(y)\},\$$

that is, S(h) is the set of the maximum points of the curvature function of $\partial \Omega$.

Corollary 1.3 Assume Ω is a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^2 with a C^3 boundary $\partial \Omega$, and $\mathcal{H}^e = h$ is a positive constant. Suppose $(f_{\lambda}, \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda})$ is the solution of system (1.1) satisfying (1.8). Then, as λ tends to zero, the minimum points of $|f_{\lambda}(x)|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}(x)|^2$ sub-converge to the set of the maximum points of the curvature of the domain boundary.

Remark 2 It is interesting to compare the result on (1.1) in Corollary 1.3 with those on (1.5) in [7, 27].⁴ In the limiting process as $\kappa \to \infty$, the solution $(f_{\lambda}, \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda})$ of (1.1) corresponds to the solution \mathbf{Q} of (1.5) by the relation $|f|^2 = 1 - |\mathbf{Q}|^2$, hence the minimum points of $|f_{\lambda}|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}|^2$ correspond to the maximum points of $|\mathbf{Q}(x)|$. However, if $\mathcal{H}^e = h$ is a positive constant, as λ tends to zero, the minimum points of $|f_{\lambda}|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}|^2$ sub-converge to the *maximum points of the curvature* (see Corollary 1.3), while the maximum points of $|\mathbf{Q}|$ sub-converge to the *minimum points of the curvature* (see [7, 27]). This difference reflects the multi-scale nature of (1.1). In fact the behavior of the Meissner states depends on two parameters, the Ginzburg–Landau parameter κ and the penetration depth λ , among other physical parameters. Then:

- If we fix κ and send λ to zero as in this paper, then we have the situation of Corollary 1.3. The minimum points of $|f|^2 |\mathbf{Q}|^2$ sub-converge to the maximum points of the boundary curvature.
- If we first send κ to infinity (and we get (1.5)) and then send λ to zero, then we have the situation of [7, 27]. In this case $|f|^2 |\mathbf{Q}|^2 \sim 1 2|\mathbf{Q}|^2$, and the minimum points of $|f|^2 |\mathbf{Q}|^2$ correspond to the maximum points of $|\mathbf{Q}|^2$, which sub-converge to the minimum points of the boundary curvature.

We expect that if we let $\kappa \to \infty$ and $\lambda \to 0$, the minimum points of $|f|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}|^2$ will sub-converge to points on the boundary, and the location of the limiting positions depends on the relative scale of κ and λ . We will study the multiple-scales phenomena of the Meissner solutions in the later future.

In order to establish the uniform convergence estimates (1.9) and (1.10), we need a C^0 estimate of the solution to a semilinear Maxwell system (or called semilinear curlcurl system) for the vector field \mathbf{Q}_{λ} , which is a degenerately elliptic system without comparison principle and maximum principle, hence the C^0 estimate does not follow from the standard theory of elliptic systems. Our strategy to prove (1.9) and (1.10) is as follows:

— We first prove the global H^1 estimate for the remainder terms in (1.9) and (1.10) by the method of matched asymptotic expansions;

— Then we deduce an H^2 estimate of the remainder terms near the domain boundary by the difference quotient technique, which yields the C^0 regularity of the remainder terms by the Sobolev imbedding theorem.

Let us mention that the method of the proof of (1.9) and (1.10) in this paper is different from that used by Pan and Kwek in [27], where the estimates for the solutions were proved by applying the maximum principle to a divergence-type elliptic equation for the scalar function $H_{\lambda} = \lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}$.

⁴ See also [3] for the three dimensional system.

1.3.1 Organization of this paper

The formal expansion for $(f_{\lambda}, \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda})$ with respect to λ is derived in section 2. Then we establish the uniform estimation for the asymptotic expansion of the solution $(f_{\lambda}, \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda})$ in section 3. In section 4, we prove the exponential decay estimate (Theorem 1.1) of $1 - f_{\lambda}$ and $|\mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}|$. Finally in section 5, by applying (1.9) and (1.10) we give the proof of Theorem 1.2. Further remarks will be given in section 6. The proofs of the theorems involve lengthy computations and technical details, which will be given in appendices. Among them, in appendix A we prove the uniqueness of the solution to a limiting system in the half space (see (2.11)), which is associated with the leading order term of the expansions of $(f_{\lambda}, \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda})$; in appendix B we prove the exponential decay estimate for the solutions to some ODEs; in appendix C and appendix D we give the details of the calculations for the formal expansion for $(f_{\lambda}, \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda})$.

Throughout the paper, the bold typeface is used to indicate vector quantities; normal typeface will be used for scalars and the components of vectors. We shall use the letter C to denote a positive constant which is independent of λ , but the numerical value may be vary line to line.

2 Formal asymptotic solution to system (1.1)

As stated in the introduction, we shall find the location of the minimum points of $|f_{\lambda}|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}|^2$ for small λ , and we need first prove the uniform convergence of the approximation solutions as λ tends to zero. The proof is based on the method of matched asymptotic expansions of the solution $(f_{\lambda}, \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda})$ in term of λ . The construction of the inner expansions in a thin tubular neighborhood of the domain boundary of scale λ requires detailed analysis on the behavior of the solutions near the domain boundary, which will be carried out in this section.

To start with, let us first introduce a new local coordinate system near a boundary point $X_0 \in \partial \Omega$. Let \mathcal{U} denote a neighborhood of X_0 . The portion of the boundary $\partial \Omega$ located inside \mathcal{U} can be represented as u = u(s) with $u(0) = X_0$, where *s* is the arc length variable of $\partial \Omega$. Then $\tau(s) = u'(s)$ is the unit tangent vector. Let $\mathbf{n}(s) = (n_1, n_2)$ be the unit outer normal at $x \in \partial \Omega$. We introduce new variables y_1 and y_2 , with $y_1 = s$, such that for any $x \in \overline{\Omega} \cap \mathcal{U}$ we have a diffeomorphism map ψ given by

$$x = \psi(y_1, y_2) = u(y_1) - y_2 \mathbf{n}(y_1).$$
(2.1)

Let

$$g(y_1, y_2) = |\det D\psi| = 1 - k(y_1)y_2, \tag{2.2}$$

where $k(y_1)$ is the curvature of $\partial \Omega$ at the point $x = \psi(y_1, 0) \in \partial \Omega$. Then we have a new orthogonal coordinate framework $\{\mathbf{E}_1, \mathbf{E}_2\}$ as follows:

$$\mathbf{E}_1(y) = \frac{\partial_1 \psi}{|\partial_1 \psi|} = \tau(y_1), \qquad \mathbf{E}_2(y) = -\mathbf{n}(y_1).$$

Now we introduce the following notations. For any function f(x) defined on \mathcal{U} we define a function of y and write it by $\hat{f}(y)$, such that

$$\hat{f}(\mathbf{y}) := f(\boldsymbol{\psi}(\mathbf{y})).$$

For a vector field $\mathbf{Q}(x)$ depending on the variable *x*, we define a vector field $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}(y)$ with variable *y* by

$$\hat{\mathbf{Q}}(\mathbf{y}) := \mathbf{Q}(\psi(\mathbf{y})).$$

We shall call $\hat{f}(y)$ and $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}(y)$ the *representations of* f(x) *and* $\mathbf{Q}(x)$ *in the coordinates y* respectively.

Using the framework $\{\mathbf{E}_1, \mathbf{E}_2\}$ we can write $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}(y)$ as

$$\hat{\mathbf{Q}}(\mathbf{y}) = \hat{Q}_1(\mathbf{y})\mathbf{E}_1 + \hat{Q}_2(\mathbf{y})\mathbf{E}_2,$$

where $\hat{Q}_1(y)$ and $\hat{Q}_2(y)$ are scalar functions. Then curl $\mathbf{Q}(x)$ and curl² $\mathbf{Q}(x)$ can be represented by

$$\operatorname{curl}\mathbf{Q}(x) = \frac{1}{g} \left[\partial_1 \hat{Q}_2 - \partial_2 (g \hat{Q}_1) \right]$$

and

$$\operatorname{curl}^{2}\mathbf{Q}(x) = \mathcal{M}_{1}(y)\mathbf{E}_{1}(y) + \mathcal{M}_{2}(y)\mathbf{E}_{2}(y)$$

where

$$\mathcal{M}_{1}(\mathbf{y}) \equiv \partial_{2} \left(\frac{1}{g} \left[\partial_{1} \hat{Q}_{2} - \partial_{2} (g \hat{Q}_{1}) \right] \right),$$

$$\mathcal{M}_{2}(\mathbf{y}) \equiv -\frac{1}{g} \partial_{1} \left(\frac{1}{g} \left[\partial_{1} \hat{Q}_{2} - \partial_{2} (g \hat{Q}_{1}) \right] \right).$$

(2.3)

In the above, ∂_j denotes $\frac{\partial}{\partial y_j}$ for j = 1, 2. Also, we have

$$\Delta_x f = \Delta_y \hat{f},$$

where Δ_{v} is defined by

$$\Delta_{y}\hat{f} = \frac{1}{g} \left(\partial_{1} \left(\frac{1}{g} \partial_{1} \hat{f} \right) + \partial_{2} \left(g \partial_{2} \hat{f} \right) \right).$$
(2.4)

🖄 Springer

For simplicity, we introduce the operators

$$\mathscr{C}\mathrm{url}_{y}\,\hat{\mathbf{Q}} = \frac{1}{g} \Big[\partial_{1}\hat{Q}_{2} - \partial_{2}(g\hat{Q}_{1}) \Big], \quad \mathscr{C}\mathrm{url}_{y}^{2}\,\hat{\mathbf{Q}} = (\mathcal{M}_{1}(y), \mathcal{M}_{2}(y)). \tag{2.5}$$

Let $(f_{\lambda}(x), \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}(x))$ be a solution of (1.1), and let $\hat{f}_{\lambda}(y)$ and $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{\lambda}(y)$ be the representations of $f_{\lambda}(x)$ and $\mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}(x)$ in the coordinates *y* respectively. We introduce re-scaled variables

$$y = \lambda z$$
.

In the neighborhood of X_0 , we then define the rescaled vector fields (which will be called the *z*-coordinates):

$$\tilde{f}_{\lambda}(z) = \hat{f}_{\lambda}(\lambda z) = \hat{f}_{\lambda}(y) \text{ and } \tilde{\mathbf{Q}}_{\lambda}(z) = \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{\lambda}(\lambda z) = \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{\lambda}(y).$$
 (2.6)

In the following, for convenience of notation, we may drop the subscript λ and denote $\tilde{f}_{\lambda}(z)$ by $\tilde{f}(z)$, and $\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}_{\lambda}(z)$ by $\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}(z)$. Then system (1.1) can be rewritten by

$$\begin{cases} -\frac{1}{\kappa^2} \Delta_z \tilde{f} = (1 - |\tilde{f}|^2 - |\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}|^2) \tilde{f} & \text{in } \tilde{\mathbf{Q}}_z, \\ \mathscr{C} \text{url}_z^2 \tilde{\mathbf{Q}} + |\tilde{f}|^2 \tilde{\mathbf{Q}} = \mathbf{0} & \text{in } \tilde{\mathbf{Q}}_z, \\ \frac{\partial \tilde{f}}{\partial \mathbf{n}} = 0, \quad \mathscr{C} \text{url}_z \tilde{\mathbf{Q}} = \tilde{\mathcal{H}}^e & \text{on } \tilde{T}_z, \end{cases}$$
(2.7)

where the operators $\mathscr{C}url_z$ and Δ_z are defined by

$$\mathscr{C}\operatorname{url}_{z} := \lambda \,\mathscr{C}\operatorname{url}_{y}, \quad \Delta_{z} := \lambda^{2} \Delta_{y}, \quad y = \lambda z,$$
(2.8)

and $\tilde{\Omega}_z$ and \tilde{T}_z represent the images of the domain $\Omega \cap \mathcal{U}$ and of the boundary $\partial \Omega \cap \mathcal{U}$ under the *z*-coordinate system respectively.

Now we begin to derive the formal asymptotic solution in the (y_1, z_2) coordinates, where $z_2 = y_2/\lambda$. Let us assume that the inner expansion of the solution in the neighborhood of X_0 has the form

$$\hat{f}_{\lambda}(y) = \hat{f}_{0}(y_{1}, z_{2}) + \lambda \hat{f}_{1}(y_{1}, z_{2}) + \lambda^{2} \hat{f}_{2}(y_{1}, z_{2}) + O(\lambda^{3}),$$

$$\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{\lambda}(y) = \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{0}(y_{1}, z_{2}) + \lambda \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{1}(y_{1}, z_{2}) + \lambda^{2} \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{2}(y_{1}, z_{2}) + O(\lambda^{3}).$$
(2.9)

We emphasize that $\hat{f}_{\lambda}(y_1, z_2)$ and $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{\lambda}(y_1, z_2)$ have multi-scales with y_1 in the scale O(1) and z_2 in the scale $O(\frac{1}{\lambda})$ for small λ .

2.1 The leading order term

We first derive the leading order term $(\hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2)), \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(y_1, z_2))$. We shall prove a uniform $C^{2,\alpha}$ estimate for $(\tilde{f}_{\lambda}(z), \tilde{\mathbf{Q}}_{\lambda}(z))$ on any bounded z-domain, which yields estimates of $(\hat{f}, \hat{\mathbf{Q}})$ inside any boundary layer.

Lemma 2.1 Assume Ω is a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^2 with a $C^{2,\alpha}$ boundary, $0 < \alpha < 1$ and $\mathcal{H}^e(x)$ is a $C^{2,\alpha}$ function on $\overline{\Omega}$. Let $(f_{\lambda}, \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda})$ be a solution of (1.1) satisfying (1.8), and $(\tilde{f}_{\lambda}, \tilde{\mathbf{Q}}_{\lambda})$ be the rescaled pair. Then for small λ , we have

$$\|\tilde{f}_{\lambda}\|_{C^{2,\alpha}(\tilde{\Omega}_{\varepsilon}\cap B_{R}^{+}(0))}+\|\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}_{\lambda}\|_{C^{2,\alpha}(\tilde{\Omega}_{\varepsilon}\cap B_{R}^{+}(0))}\leq C,$$

where *C* depends only on Ω , \mathcal{H}^e , κ , δ and α , but is independent of *R* and λ .

Proof The proof is quite similar to that of Lemma 9.2 in [26], we here omit it. \Box

Next we show that

$$(\tilde{f}_{\lambda}, \tilde{\mathbf{Q}}_{\lambda})$$
 converges in $C^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^2_+)$ as $\lambda \to 0.$ (2.10)

Proof of (2.10) From Lemma 2.1 and by Arzela-Ascoli's theorem (see the compactness result [14, Lemma 6.36]), for any sequence $\lambda_n \to 0$, there exists a subsequence $\{\lambda_{n_j}\}$ such that, as $j \to \infty$, $(\tilde{f}_{\lambda_{n_j}}, \tilde{\mathbf{Q}}_{\lambda_{n_j}})$ converges in $C^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^2_+)$ to the solution $(\bar{f}_0(z_1, z_2)), \bar{\mathbf{Q}}_0(z_1, z_2))$ of the following system

$$\begin{cases} -\frac{1}{\kappa^2} \Delta \bar{f}_0 = (1 - |\bar{f}_0|^2 - |\bar{\mathbf{Q}}_0|^2) \bar{f}_0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^2_+, \\ \text{curl}^2 \bar{\mathbf{Q}}_0 + |\bar{f}_0|^2 \bar{\mathbf{Q}}_0 = \mathbf{0} & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^2_+, \\ \frac{\partial \bar{f}_0}{\partial \mathbf{n}} = 0, \quad \text{curl} \bar{\mathbf{Q}}_0 = \mathcal{H}^e(X_0) & \text{on } \partial \mathbb{R}^2_+. \end{cases}$$
(2.11)

Moreover, because $(f_{\lambda}, \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda})$ satisfies the condition (1.8), so $(f, \mathbf{Q}) = (\bar{f}_0, \bar{\mathbf{Q}}_0)$ satisfies the following

$$|f(z)|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}(z)|^2 \ge \frac{1}{3} + \delta^2 \text{ and } 0 < f(z) \le 1, \quad \forall z \in \mathbb{R}^2_+.$$
 (2.12)

From Lemma A.1, the solution of (2.11) satisfying (2.12) is unique. Hence $(\bar{f}_0, \bar{\mathbf{Q}}_0)$ is the unique solution of (2.11) satisfying (2.12). It follows that the whole sequence $(\tilde{f}_{\lambda_n}, \tilde{\mathbf{Q}}_{\lambda_n})$ actually converges to $(\bar{f}_0(z_1, z_2), \bar{\mathbf{Q}}_0(z_1, z_2))$. Therefore $(\tilde{f}_{\lambda}, \tilde{\mathbf{Q}}_{\lambda})$ converges to $(\bar{f}_0(z_1, z_2), \bar{\mathbf{Q}}_0(z_1, z_2))$ in $C^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^2_+)$ as $\lambda \to 0$. Hence (2.10) is proved.

In the following we show that if $\mathcal{H}^{e}(X_0)$ is small, then the unique solution of (2.11) satisfying (2.12) has the form

$$\bar{f}_0(z_1, z_2) = f_0(z_2), \quad \bar{\mathbf{Q}}_0(z_1, z_2) = (\mathcal{Q}_0^1(z_2), 0).$$
 (2.13)

To prove this conclusion, we only need to show that, if $\mathcal{H}^e(X_0)$ is small, (2.11) has a solution of this form and it satisfies (2.12). Then the uniqueness result of Lemma A.1 implies that this solution is the only solution of (2.11) satisfying (2.12).

Plugging (2.13) into (2.11) we see that $(f_0(z_2), Q_0^1(z_2))$ satisfies the following ODEs:

$$\begin{cases}
-\frac{1}{\kappa^2} f_0'' = (1 - |f_0|^2 - |Q_0^1|^2) f_0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\
-(Q_0^1)'' + |f_0|^2 Q_0^1 = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\
f_0'(0) = 0, \quad (Q_0^1)'(0) = -h_0, \\
f_0(\infty) = 1, \quad (Q_0^1)(\infty) = 0,
\end{cases}$$
(2.14)

where $f'_0 = \frac{df_0}{dz_2}$, and $h_0 = \mathcal{H}^e(X_0) > 0$. We look for the solution of (2.14) satisfying (2.12).

Proposition 2.2 If (2.14) has a solution $(f_0, Q_0^1) \in C^3(\mathbb{R}_+) \times C^3(\mathbb{R}_+)$, then it is the unique solution of (2.14) satisfying (2.12), and for any $0 < \alpha_1 < \min\{2, \sqrt{2\kappa}\}$ and any $0 < \beta_1 < 1$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} f_0'(z_2) &> 0, \quad |1 - f_0(z_2)| \le C e^{-\alpha_1 z_2}, \\ (Q_0^1)'(z_2) &< 0, \quad 0 < Q_0^1(z_2) \le C e^{-\beta_1 z_2} \end{aligned}$$

for all $z_2 > 0$, where $C = C(\mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \alpha_1, \beta_1)$.

Proof Step 1. Assume (2.14) has a solution (f_0, Q_0^1) satisfying (2.12). Then $(f_0, Q_0^1) \in C^3(\mathbb{R}_+) \times C^3(\mathbb{R}_+)$. By the maximum principle, it is easy to see that

$$Q_0^1(z_2) > 0, \quad (Q_0^1)'(z_2) < 0 \quad \text{for all } 0 < z_2 < \infty.$$
 (2.15)

Since $f_0(\infty) = 1$, by the comparison principle (or see Proposition B.2 in appendix B), we easily obtain that: for any $0 < \beta_1 < 1$, there exists a constant C > 0 depending on β_1 and \mathcal{H}^e such that

$$|Q_0^1(z_2)| \le Ce^{-\beta_1 z_2}$$
 for all $z_2 > 0$.

Next we show that $f'_0(z_2) \ge 0$ for all $z_2 > 0$. Suppose not, then there exist two numbers c_2 and c_3 with $0 < c_2 < c_3$ such that

$$f_0''(c_2) \le 0, \quad f_0''(c_3) \ge 0, \quad f_0(c_2) > f_0(c_3).$$
 (2.16)

From the first equation in (2.14), we have

$$(1 - |f_0|^2 - |Q_0^1|^2)|_{z_2 = c_2} \ge 0, \quad (1 - |f_0|^2 - |Q_0^1|^2)|_{z_2 = c_3} \le 0.$$
 (2.17)

From (2.15) we have $Q_0^1(c_2) > Q_0^1(c_3)$, and by (2.16) we have $f_0(c_2) > f_0(c_3)$. Then

$$(1 - |f_0|^2 - |Q_0^1|^2)|_{z_2 = c_2} < (1 - |f_0|^2 - |Q_0^1|^2)|_{z_2 = c_3}.$$

This is a contradiction with (2.17).

Now we show that

$$f_0'(z_2) > 0$$
 for all $z_2 > 0$.

Otherwise, suppose there exists $c_4 \in (0, \infty)$ such that $f'_0(c_4) = 0$, then $f''_0(c_4) \ge 0$. This is a contradiction with

$$f_0^{\prime\prime\prime}(c_4) = -(1 - |f_0|^2 - |Q_0^1|^2)f_0^{\prime} + (2f_0f_0^{\prime} + 2Q_0^1(Q_0^1)^{\prime})f_0|_{z_2 = c_4} < 0.$$

Therefore the strict inequality holds.

Let $w(z_2) = 1 - f_0(z_2)$. Then w satisfies

$$\begin{cases} -\frac{1}{\kappa^2}w'' + w(2 + |Q_0^1|^2 - 3w + w^2) = |Q_0^1|^2 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ w'(0) = 0 \text{ and } w(\infty) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Note that $2 + |Q_0^1|^2 - 3w + w^2 \rightarrow 2$ as $z_2 \rightarrow +\infty$. Then from Proposition B.2 in appendix B, for any $0 < \alpha_1 < \min\{2, \sqrt{2\kappa}\}$ there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$w(z_2) \leq C(\mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \alpha_1, \beta_1)e^{-\alpha_1 z_2}$$
 for all $z_2 > 0$.

Step 2. We show that (2.14) has at most one solution satisfying (2.12). Define the space

$$\mathcal{V} = \left\{ (u, v) : u', \ 1 - u, \ v', \ v \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+), \ u'(0) = 0, \ v'(0) = 0 \right\},$$

which is a reflexive Banach space equipped with the norm

$$\|(u, v)\| = \|1 - u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})} + \|u'\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})} + \|v\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})} + \|v'\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}.$$

Set

$$\mathscr{U} = \left\{ (f_0, P_0^1) \in \mathscr{V} : \ 0 \le f_0 \le 1, \ |f_0|^2 - (P_0^1 + h_0 e^{-z_2})^2 \ge \frac{1}{3} + \frac{1}{2} \delta^2 \right\},\$$

and define a functional \mathcal{E} in \mathcal{U} by

$$\mathcal{E}[f_0, P_0^1] = \int_0^\infty \left\{ \frac{1}{\kappa^2} |f_0'|^2 + |f_0|^2 (P_0^1 + h_0 e^{-z_2})^2 + \frac{1}{2} (1 - |f_0|^2)^2 + |(P_0^1)'|^2 - 2h_0 e^{-z_2} P_0^1 \right\} dz_2.$$

🖄 Springer

It is easy to see that \mathscr{U} is a closed and convex subset of \mathscr{V} , and \mathscr{E} is strictly convex, coercive and weakly lower semi-continuous on \mathscr{U} with respect to the norm inherited from \mathscr{V} . Therefore, \mathscr{E} has a unique minimizer $(f_0, P_0^1) \in \mathscr{U}$.

Let (f_0, Q_0^1) be a solution of (2.14) satisfying (2.12). From step 1, we see that $f'_0(z_2) > 0$ for all $z_2 > 0$. It follows that $0 < f_0(z_2) < 1$ for all $z_2 \ge 0$. Let $P_0^1 = Q_0^1 - h_0 e^{-z_2}$. Then from (2.12), we see that (f_0, P_0^1) lies in the interior of \mathscr{U} , and it is a critical point of the strictly convex functional \mathscr{E} . Hence (f_0, P_0^1) is the unique minimizer of \mathscr{E} in \mathscr{U} . This shows that if (2.14) has a solution satisfying (2.12) then it is unique.

Another proof of uniqueness of the solution of (2.14) satisfying (2.12) will be given in Lemma A.1 in Appendix A.

Definition 2.3 We define

$$h^* = \sup \{h : (2.14) \text{ has a solution } (f_0, Q_0^1) \text{ satisfying } |f_0|^2 - |Q_0^1|^2 > \frac{1}{3}$$

and $0 < f_0 \le 1 \text{ for all } h_0 \in (0, h) \}.$

Proposition 2.4 We have

$$\frac{\sqrt{2}}{3} \le h^* \le \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}.$$
 (2.18)

The proof of Proposition 2.4 will be given in section 5 after Theorem 5.1.

From Propositions 2.2 and 2.4, for any $0 < h_0 < h^*$, (2.14) has a unique solution (f_0, Q_0^1) satisfying (2.12) for some positive constant δ . Then we define $\hat{f}_0(0, z_2)$ and $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(0, z_2)$ by letting

$$\hat{f}_0(0, z_2) = f_0(z_2), \quad \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(0, z_2) = (Q_0^1(z_2), 0).$$

Moreover, for each $y_1 \neq 0$, we can define $\hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2)$ and $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(y_1, z_2)$ by using the equations (5.18) in section 5. We will see later that $(\hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2), \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(y_1, z_2))$ gives the leading order term of the asymptotic expansions at X_0 , which provides the information how the minimum points of $f^2 - |\mathbf{Q}|^2$ depend on the intensity of the applied magnetic filed.

Based on Proposition 2.2, we have the exponential decay in the z_2 -direction for $1 - \hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2)$ and $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(y_1, z_2)$ which will be used later.

Proposition 2.5 Let \mathcal{H}^e be a C^3 function on $\overline{\Omega}$ satisfying $\|\mathcal{H}^e\|_{C^0(\partial\Omega)} < h^*$. Then for any $0 < \alpha_1 < \min\{2, \sqrt{2\kappa}\}$ and any $0 < \beta_1 < 1$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |1 - \hat{f}_{0}(y_{1}, z_{2})| + \sum_{\substack{0 \le i \le 3, \ 0 \le j \le 2\\i^{2} + j^{2} \neq 0}} |\partial_{y_{1}^{i} z_{2}^{j}}^{i+j} \hat{f}_{0}(y_{1}, z_{2})| \le Ce^{-\alpha_{1} z_{2}}, \\ \sum_{\substack{0 \le i \le 3, \ 0 \le j \le 2}} |\partial_{y_{1}^{i} z_{2}^{j}}^{i+j} \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{0}(y_{1}, z_{2})| \le Ce^{-\beta_{1} z_{2}}, \end{aligned}$$

🖉 Springer

where the constants *C* depend only on \mathcal{H}^e , κ , α_1 and β_1 .

The proof will be given in appendix B.

2.2 The first order term

Next we derive the first order term $(\hat{f}_1(y_1, z_2), \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_1(y_1, z_2))$ of the expansions, which will be useful to determine how the geometry of the domain influences the distribution of the minimum points of $f^2 - |\mathbf{Q}|^2$.

We first consider the values of this term for $y_1 = 0$. Set, for $z_2 \ge 0$,

$$f_1(z_2) := \hat{f}_1(0, z_2), \qquad \mathbf{Q}_1(z_2) \equiv (\mathcal{Q}_1^1(z_2), \mathcal{Q}_1^2(z_2)) := \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_1(0, z_2).$$

For convenience, we write $\partial_{y_1} \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(0, z_2)$ as follows:

$$\partial_{y_1} \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(0, z_2) = (q(z_2), 0).$$
 (2.19)

Substituting (2.9) into system (1.1) under the *z*-coordinates, equating the coefficients of λ , and then considering the problem at $(0, z_2)$, we obtain a system for $(f_1(z_2), (Q_1^1(z_2), Q_1^2(z_2)))$ in the variable $z_2 \in \mathbb{R}_+$:

$$\begin{cases} -\frac{1}{\kappa^2} f_1'' + (3|f_0|^2 + |Q_0^1|^2 - 1) f_1 = -2f_0 Q_0^1 Q_1^1 - \frac{k_0}{\kappa^2} f_0' & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ -(Q_1^1)'' + |f_0|^2 Q_1^1 = -2f_0 Q_0^1 f_1 - k_0 \partial_2 Q_0^1 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ q' + |f_0|^2 Q_1^2 = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ f_1'(0) = 0, \quad (Q_1^1)'(0) = k_0 Q_0^1(0) & \text{on } z_2 = 0, \end{cases}$$
(2.20)

where $k_0 = k(X_0)$ is the value of the curvature of $\partial \Omega$ at the point X_0 , and κ is the Ginzburg-Landau parameter. The detailed derivation of (2.20) will be given in appendix C.

From the third equation of (2.20), we immediately obtain that

$$Q_1^2(z_2) = -q'(z_2)|f_0|^{-2}(z_2).$$
(2.21)

From Proposition 2.5 we see that

$$|Q_1^2(z_2)| \le C(\mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \alpha_1, \beta_1)e^{-\beta_1 z_2} \quad \text{for all } z_2 > 0,$$

where $0 < \beta_1 < 1$.

Applying Proposition B.2 in appendix B to (2.20), we get the following

Proposition 2.6 There exists a solution $(f_1(z_2), (Q_1^1(z_2), Q_1^2(z_2)))$ to system (2.20) such that, for any $0 < \alpha_2 < \min\{2, \sqrt{2}\kappa\}$ and any $0 < \beta_2 < 1$, we have

$$|f_1(z_2)| \le Ce^{-\alpha_2 z_2}, \quad |Q_1^1(z_2)| \le Ce^{-\beta_2 z_2} \quad \text{for all } z_2 > 0,$$

🖉 Springer

where the constants *C* depend only on Ω , \mathcal{H}^{e} , κ , α_{2} and β_{2} .

Proof Using the estimate in Proposition 2.5, we have

$$|f_0^{'}| \le Ce^{-\alpha_1 z_2}, \quad |\partial_2 Q_0^1| \le Ce^{-\beta_1 z_2} \quad \text{for all } z_2 > 0,$$

where $C = C(\kappa, \alpha_1, \beta_1, \mathcal{H}^e)$. Then by noting that

$$\begin{pmatrix} (3|f_0|^2 + |Q_0^1|^2 - 1) & 2f_0Q_0^1 \\ 2f_0Q_0^1 & |f_0|^2 \end{pmatrix} \to \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \text{ as } z_2 \to +\infty,$$

and from Proposition B.2 in appendix B, we have the solution $(f_1(z_2), (Q_1^1(z_2), Q_1^2(z_2)))$ to system (2.20), and $|f_1(z_2)| \leq C(\kappa, \mathcal{H}^e)$ for all $z_2 > 0$. Now applying Proposition B.2 in appendix B again, from the second equation in (2.20), for any $0 < \beta_2 < 1$, we have $|Q_1^1(z_2)| \leq C(\kappa, \beta_2, \mathcal{H}^e)e^{-\beta_2 z_2}$ for all $z_2 > 0$, where we have taken $\beta_1 = (\beta_2 + 1)/2$. At last, using the estimate on $Q_1^1(z_2)$, and by the first equation in (2.20) we can obtain the estimate for f_1 .

Similarly, for each $y_1 \neq 0$, we can also define $\hat{f}_1(y_1, z_2)$ and $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_1(y_1, z_2)$ (see the equations (5.19) in section 5), and we also have

Proposition 2.7 Let \mathcal{H}^e be a C^3 function on $\overline{\Omega}$ satisfying $\|\mathcal{H}^e\|_{C^0(\partial\Omega)} < h^*$. Then for any $0 < \alpha_2 < \min\{2, \sqrt{2\kappa}\}$ and any $0 < \beta_2 < 1$, we have

$$\sum_{\substack{0 \le i \le 3, \ 0 \le j \le 2}} |\partial_{y_1^i z_2^j}^{i+j} \hat{f}_1(y_1, z_2)| \le C e^{-\alpha_2 z_2},$$
$$\sum_{\substack{0 \le i \le 3, \ 0 \le j \le 2}} |\partial_{y_1^i z_2^j}^{i+j} \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_1(y_1, z_2)| \le C e^{-\beta_2 z_2}$$

for all $z_2 > 0$, where the constants C depend only on Ω , \mathcal{H}^e , κ , α_2 and β_2 .

The proof is similar to that of Proposition 2.5, we here omit it.

2.3 The second order term

Next we look for the second order term $(\hat{f}_2(y_1, z_2), \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_2(y_1, z_2))$ in the expansion at X_0 , which will be needed to derive the uniform estimation for the approximation solution.

We first derive the values of this term at $y_1 = 0$. Let, for $z_2 \ge 0$,

$$f_2(z_2) = \hat{f}_2(0, z_2), \quad \mathbf{Q}_2(z_2) = \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_2(0, z_2) = (\mathcal{Q}_2^1(z_2), \mathcal{Q}_2^2(z_2)).$$

Substituting (2.9) into (1.1) under the *z*-coordinates, equating the coefficients of λ^2 , and then considering this problem at $(0, z_2)$, we obtain the equations of $(f_2(z_2), (Q_2^1(z_2), Q_2^2(z_2)))$ for $z_2 \in \mathbb{R}_+$:

$$\begin{cases} -\frac{1}{\kappa^2} f_2'' + (3|f_0|^2 + |Q_0^1|^2 - 1)f_2 = -2f_0Q_0^1Q_2^1 - r_1 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ -(Q_2^1)'' + |f_0|^2Q_2^1 = -2f_0Q_0^1f_2 - r_2 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \end{cases}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \|f_0\| & \mathcal{Q}_2 + (\delta_{z_2}y_1 \mathcal{Q}_1)|_{y_1=0} - \kappa_0 \mathcal{Q} - \kappa_0 \mathcal{Q}_0 + \kappa_0 z_2 \mathcal{Q}_1 + 2f_0 f_1 \mathcal{Q}_1 = 0 & \text{if } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ f_2'(0) &= 0, \quad (\mathcal{Q}_2^1)'(0) = \partial_{y_1} \hat{\mathcal{Q}}_1^2 \Big|_{y_1=0} + k_0 \mathcal{Q}_1^1 & \text{on } z_2 = 0, \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.22)$$

where $k_0 = k(0)$ is the curvature of $\partial \Omega$ at the point $X_0, k'_0 = \frac{\partial k}{\partial s}(0), q = q(z_2)$ is the function defined in (2.19), and

$$r_{1}(z_{2}) = -\frac{1}{\kappa^{2}} (\partial_{y_{1}y_{1}} \hat{f}_{0} \Big|_{y_{1}=0} - k_{0}(f_{1})' - k^{2}(0)z_{2}(f_{0})') + f_{0}(2Q_{0}^{1}Q_{2}^{1} + |f_{1}|^{2} + |Q_{1}^{1}|^{2} + |Q_{1}^{2}|^{2}) + f_{1}(2f_{0}f_{1} + 2Q_{0}^{1}Q_{1}^{1}), r_{2}(z_{2}) = \partial_{z_{2}y_{1}} \hat{Q}_{1}^{2} \Big|_{y_{1}=0} + k_{0}(Q_{1}^{1})' + k_{0}Q_{0}^{1} + k_{0}^{2}z_{2}(Q_{0}^{1})' + |f_{1}|^{2}Q_{0}^{1} + 2f_{0}f_{1}Q_{1}^{1}.$$

The detailed calculations will be given in appendix D. It is easy to see that

$$Q_2^2(z_2) = -|f_0|^{-2} (\partial_{z_2 y_1} \hat{Q}_1^1 \Big|_{y_1=0} - k_0 q - k_0' Q_0^1 + k_0 z_2 q' + 2f_0 f_1 Q_1^2).$$
(2.23)

From Proposition 2.5 and Proposition 2.7, we have

$$|Q_2^2(z_2)| \le Ce^{-\beta_2 z_2}$$
 for all $z_2 > 0$,

where $0 < \beta_2 < 1$ and $C = C(\kappa, \Omega, \beta_2, \mathcal{H}^e)$.

Proposition 2.8 There exists a solution $(f_2(z_2), (Q_2^1(z_2), Q_2^2(z_2)))$ to system (2.22) such that, for any $0 < \alpha_3 < \min\{2, \sqrt{2}\kappa\}$ and any $0 < \beta_3 < 1$, there exist constants *C* such that

$$|f_2(z_2)| \le Ce^{-\alpha_3 z_2}, \quad |Q_2^1(z_2)| \le Ce^{-\beta_3 z_2} \quad \text{for all } z_2 > 0,$$

where $C = C(\mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \alpha_3, \beta_3)$.

Proof Using the estimate in Proposition 2.5 and in Proposition 2.7, it is easy to see that, for any $0 < \alpha_2 < \min\{2, \sqrt{2\kappa}\}$ and any $0 < \beta_2 < 1$, there exist constants C such that

$$|r_1(z_2)| \le Ce^{-\alpha_2 z_2}, \quad |r_2| \le Ce^{-\beta_2 z_2} \quad \text{for all } z_2 > 0,$$

where we have taken $\alpha_1 = (\alpha_2 + 1)/2$, $\beta_1 = (\beta_2 + 1)/2$, and we have used the same letter *C* to denote constants depending on κ , α_2 , Ω , β_2 and \mathcal{H}^e . Note that the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 3|f_0|^2 - |Q_0^1|^2 - 1 & 2f_0Q_0^1 \\ 2f_0Q_0^1 & |f_0|^2 \end{pmatrix} \to \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \text{ as } z_2 \to +\infty$$

Then by taking $\alpha_2 = (\alpha_3 + 1)/2$, $\beta_2 = (\beta_3 + 1)/2$, the conclusion of this proposition can be obtained by Proposition B.2 in appendix B.

For each $y_1 \neq 0$ we can also define $\hat{f}_2(y_1, z_2)$ and $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_2(y_1, z_2)$, and we have

Proposition 2.9 Let \mathcal{H}^e be a C^3 function on $\overline{\Omega}$ satisfying $\|\mathcal{H}^e\|_{C^0(\partial\Omega)} < h^*$. Then for any $0 < \alpha_3 < \min\{2, \sqrt{2\kappa}\}$ and any $0 < \beta_3 < 1$, we have

$$\sum_{\substack{0 \le i \le 3, \ 0 \le j \le 2}} |\partial_{y_1^i z_2^j}^{i+j} \hat{f}_2(y_1, z_2)| \le C e^{-\alpha_3 z_2},$$
$$\sum_{\substack{0 \le i \le 3, \ 0 \le j \le 2}} |\partial_{y_1^i z_2^j}^{i+j} \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_2(y_1, z_2)| \le C e^{-\beta_3 z_2}$$

for all $z_2 > 0$, where the constants C depend only on Ω , \mathcal{H}^e , κ , α_3 and β_3 .

The proof is similar to that of Proposition 2.5, and we omit it.

3 Uniform estimation for the approximation solution

In this section we shall construct an approximation solution to system (1.1), then we shall apply the method of matched asymptotic expansions (for the detail see [17]) to derive estimates of this solution with respect to the parameter λ , from which we can derive that the approximation solution we constructed is a global one.

To construct the approximation solution we need an inner asymptotic expansion valid inside the boundary layer, and an outer asymptotic expansion valid outside the boundary layer.

The outer expansion is (1, 0). In fact, we write the outer expansion in the form

$$U_f(x,\lambda) = 1 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda^k h_k^f(x), \quad \lambda \to 0$$
$$\mathbf{U}_{\mathbf{Q}}(x,\lambda) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda^k \mathbf{h}_k^{\mathbf{Q}}(x), \quad \lambda \to 0.$$

The right sides of these equalities should be understood as formal expansions in the powers of λ . Substituting these expressions of U_f and $\mathbf{U}_{\mathbf{Q}}$ into system (1.1) and equating the coefficients of the powers λ^k for each $k \ge 1$, we find that

$$h_k^f(x) = 0, \quad \mathbf{h}_k^{\mathbf{Q}}(x) = 0, \quad x \in \Omega, \quad k \ge 1.$$

The inner expansion of the form (2.9) can be construct as in section 2. In fact, for each $y_1 \neq 0$, we can find the leading order term $(\hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2), \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(y_1, z_2))$, the first order term $(\hat{f}_1(y_1, z_2), \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_1(y_1, z_2))$, and the second order terms $(\hat{f}_2(y_1, z_2), \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_2(y_1, z_2))$ by the processes similar to that for the solutions of (2.11), of system (2.20) and of system (2.22). For more details see (5.18) and (5.19) below.

To construct the global approximation solution $(f_{ap}, \mathbf{Q}_{ap}(x))$, we fix a neighborhood \mathcal{N}_0 of the boundary $\partial \Omega$ such that, for each point $X_0 \in \partial \Omega$, there is a ball $B_{\epsilon}(X_0)$ and a $C^{2,\alpha}$ diffeomorphism that straightens the portion of $\partial \Omega$ that lies in $\mathcal{N}_0 \bigcap B_{\epsilon}(X_0)$. Set

$$d_0 := \operatorname{dist} \left(\partial \Omega, \Omega \setminus \mathcal{N}_0 \right), \quad \sigma_n := \left\{ x \in \Omega : \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial \Omega) \le d_0/n \right\}.$$
(3.1)

Then we define a smooth function $\chi(x)$ by

$$\chi(x) = \begin{cases} 1, & x \in \sigma_4; \\ \text{smooth,} & x \in \sigma_2 \setminus \sigma_4; \\ 0, & x \in \Omega \setminus \sigma_2. \end{cases}$$

Note that $\chi(x)$ is independent of λ .

Then we define the approximation solution by

$$f_{ap}(x) = \chi(x) \left(\hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2) + \lambda \hat{f}_1(y_1, z_2) + \lambda^2 \hat{f}_2(y_1, z_2) \right) + 1 - \chi(x),$$

$$\mathbf{Q}_{ap}(x) = \chi(x) \left(\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(y_1, z_2) + \lambda \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_1(y_1, z_2) + \lambda^2 \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_2(y_1, z_2) \right),$$
(3.2)

where $z_2 = y_2/\lambda$, $x = \psi(y_1, y_2)$ and ψ is defined by (2.1). Since $\chi(x) = 0$ outside of a neighborhood of X_0 , we can extend the approximation solution by zero outside of the support of χ , such that the approximation solution $(f_{ap}, \mathbf{Q}_{ap}(x))$ is defined everywhere in $\overline{\Omega}$.

Now we define an operator \mathscr{L}_{λ} as follows. For a scalar function f and a vector field \mathbf{Q} ,

$$\mathscr{L}_{\lambda}(f, \mathbf{Q}) := \left(-\frac{\lambda^2}{\kappa^2}\Delta f - (1 - f^2 - |\mathbf{Q}|^2)f, \quad \lambda^2 \operatorname{curl}^2 \mathbf{Q} + f^2 \mathbf{Q}\right).$$
(3.3)

Lemma 3.1 Let

$$\mathbf{b}(x,\lambda) = (b_1(x,\lambda), \mathbf{b}_2(x,\lambda)) := \mathscr{L}_{\lambda}(f_{ap}(x), \mathbf{Q}_{ap}(x)).$$
(3.4)

Then there exists a constant λ_0 *such that for any* $\lambda \in (0, \lambda_0)$ *we have*

$$\|b_1\|_{C^0(\bar{\Omega})} + \|\mathbf{b}_2\|_{C^0(\bar{\Omega})} + \|\lambda\nabla\mathbf{b}_2\|_{C^0(\bar{\Omega})} + \|\lambda^2\nabla\operatorname{div}\mathbf{b}_2\|_{C^0(\bar{\Omega})} \le C\left(\Omega, \kappa, \mathcal{H}^e\right)\lambda^3.$$
(3.5)

🖄 Springer

The proof of Lemma 3.1 will be given in appendix D.

Now we introduce the remainder terms R_f and $\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}$ by letting

$$R_f = f - f_{ap}, \qquad \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}} = \mathbf{Q} - \mathbf{Q}_{ap}. \tag{3.6}$$

Then (R_f, \mathbf{R}_Q) satisfies the equations

$$\begin{cases} -\frac{\lambda^{2}}{\kappa^{2}}\Delta R_{f} = (1 - |f|^{2} - ff_{ap} - |f_{ap}|^{2} - |\mathbf{Q}|^{2})R_{f} \\ + f_{ap}(\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{Q}_{ap}) \cdot \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}} + b_{1} & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \lambda^{2} \text{curl}^{2}\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}} + |f|^{2}\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}} + (f + f_{ap})R_{f}\mathbf{Q}_{ap} = \mathbf{b}_{2} & \text{in } \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(3.7)

and boundary conditions

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial R_f}{\partial \mathbf{n}} = 0, & \lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}} = \mathcal{B}_3, \\ \mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}} = |f_{ap}|^{-2} \left[\lambda |f|^{-2} (|f|^2 - |f_{ap}|^2) \nabla_{\tan} \mathcal{H}^e + \mathcal{B}_4 \right] & \text{on } \partial \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(3.8)

where b_1 and \mathbf{b}_2 are defined by (3.4), \mathcal{B}_3 and \mathcal{B}_4 are given by (E.2) and (E.4) in Appendix E respectively. The derivation of (3.8) is lengthy and will be given in Appendix E.

In the following, we derive the H^1 , H^2 and C^0 estimates of (R_f, \mathbf{R}_Q) in terms of $b_1, \mathbf{b}_2, \mathcal{B}_3$ and \mathcal{B}_4 . We need the following space

$$\mathcal{H}(\Omega, \operatorname{curl}) = \{ \mathbf{u} \in L^2(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^2) : \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{u} \in L^2(\Omega) \}.$$

Lemma 3.2 (H^1 estimate) Let (f, \mathbf{Q}) be the solution of (1.1) satisfying (1.8), and let $(R_f, \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}})$ be defined by (3.6) with $R_f \in H^1(\Omega)$ and $\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}} \in \mathcal{H}(\Omega, curl)$. Then there exists a constant $\lambda_0 > 0$ such that, for any $0 < \lambda < \lambda_0$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|R_{f}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\lambda \nabla R_{f}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\lambda \nabla \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq C \left(\|b_{1}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\mathbf{b}_{2}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\lambda \operatorname{div} \mathbf{b}_{2}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\mathcal{B}_{3}\|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)} + \|\mathcal{B}_{4}\|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)} \right), \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.9)$$

where the constant *C* depends only on Ω , \mathcal{H}^{e} , κ and δ , but not on λ .

Proof Step 1. Note that (R_f, \mathbf{R}_Q) can be viewed as a weak solution of (3.7) in the sense of

$$\int_{\Omega} \left\{ \frac{\lambda^2}{\kappa^2} \nabla R_f \cdot \nabla B + \left((|f|^2 + ff_{ap} + |f_{ap}|^2 + |\mathbf{Q}|^2 - 1) R_f - f_{ap} (\mathbf{Q} + \mathbf{Q}_{ap}) \cdot \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}} \right) B \right\} dx = \int_{\Omega} b_1 B dx,$$
(3.10)

🖉 Springer

and

$$\int_{\Omega} \lambda^{2} \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}} \cdot \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{D} + \left(|f|^{2} \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}} + (f + f_{ap}) R_{f} \mathbf{Q}_{ap} \right) \cdot \mathbf{D} dx$$

$$= \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{b}_{2} \cdot \mathbf{D} dx + \int_{\partial \Omega} \lambda^{2} \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}} \cdot (\mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{D}) dS$$
(3.11)

for all $B \in H^1(\Omega)$ and $\mathbf{D} \in \mathcal{H}(\Omega, \text{curl})$. Taking $B = R_f$ and $\mathbf{D} = \mathbf{R}_Q$ in (3.10) and (3.11) respectively, and then adding the two equalities together we get

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{\kappa^2} |\nabla R_f|^2 + \lambda^2 |\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}|^2 + (|f|^2 + ff_{ap} + |f_{ap}|^2 + |\mathbf{Q}|^2 - 1) |R_f|^2 + |f|^2 |\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}|^2 + R_f (f\mathbf{Q}_{ap} - f_{ap}\mathbf{Q}) \cdot \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}) dx$$

$$= \int_{\Omega} (b_1 R_f + \mathbf{b}_2 \cdot \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}) dx + \int_{\partial\Omega} (\lambda \mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}) \mathcal{B}_3 dS.$$
(3.12)

Using (3.6) we can derive

$$R_f(f\mathbf{Q}_{ap} - f_{ap}\mathbf{Q}) \cdot \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}} = |R_f|^2 \mathbf{Q}_{ap} \cdot \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}} - f_{ap}R_f |\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}|^2,$$

and

$$|f|^{2}|\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}|^{2} - f_{ap}R_{f}|\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}|^{2} = \left(|f|^{2} - f_{ap}f + |f_{ap}|^{2}\right)|\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}|^{2}.$$

Then

$$|f|^{2}|\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}|^{2} + R_{f}(f\mathbf{Q}_{ap} - f_{ap}\mathbf{Q}) \cdot \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}$$

= $|R_{f}|^{2}\mathbf{Q}_{ap} \cdot \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}} + \left[(f - \frac{1}{2}f_{ap})^{2} + \frac{3}{4}|f_{ap}|^{2}\right]|\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}|^{2}.$

Step 2. We claim that, for any given $\epsilon > 0$, there exists $\lambda_1 > 0$ such that for any $\lambda \in (0, \lambda_1)$ we have

$$|R_f|^2 |\mathbf{Q}_{\mathrm{a}p}(x)| < \epsilon \quad \text{for all } x \in \Omega.$$

Indeed, from Proposition 2.5, Proposition 2.7 and Proposition 2.9, there exists $0 < \beta_3 < 1$ such that

$$|\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0| + |\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_1| + |\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_2| \le C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \beta_3)e^{-\beta_3 z_2},$$

which shows that

$$|\mathbf{Q}_{\mathrm{a}p}(x)| \leq M_0 e^{-\beta_3 \frac{\mathrm{dist}(x,\partial\Omega)}{\lambda}}$$

D Springer

for some M_0 depending on Ω , \mathcal{H}^e and β_3 . Now we choose R_0 sufficiently large such that

$$M_0 e^{-\beta_3 R_0} < \epsilon.$$

This implies that

$$|R_f|^2 |\mathbf{Q}_{ap}(x)| \le |f - f_{ap}|^2 |\mathbf{Q}_{ap}(x)| \le |\mathbf{Q}_{ap}(x)| < \epsilon \quad \text{if } \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial \Omega) > \lambda R_0.$$

On the other hand, from lemma 2.1 and the uniqueness of the solution to (2.11) satisfying (2.12), we conclude that,

$$\|\tilde{f}_{\lambda} - \hat{f}_{0}(\lambda z_{1}, z_{2})\|_{C^{0}(\tilde{\Omega}_{z} \cap B^{+}_{R_{0}}(0))} \to 0,$$

as $\lambda \to 0$. Here we keep the notation used in section 2. Therefore, there exists $\lambda_1 > 0$ such that for any $\lambda \in (0, \lambda_1)$ and any $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$ we have

$$|f - f_{ap}|^2 = |R_f(x)|^2 < \frac{\epsilon}{M_0} \quad \text{if } x \in \Omega \cap B_{\lambda R_0}(x_0),$$

where we have used the boundedness of \hat{f}_1 and \hat{f}_2 . Then

$$|R_f|^2 |\mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{a}p}(x)| < \frac{\epsilon}{M_0} M_0 < \epsilon \quad \text{if } \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial \Omega) \le \lambda R_0.$$

Now the claim is proved.

Step 3. By the trace theorem on $\mathcal{H}(\Omega, \text{curl})$, we have

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{\partial\Omega} (\lambda \mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}) \mathcal{B}_{3} dS \right| &\leq \lambda \|\mathcal{B}_{3}\|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)} \|\mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{H^{-1/2}(\partial\Omega)} \\ &\leq \lambda \|\mathcal{B}_{3}\|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)} (\|\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^{2}(\partial\Omega)} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^{2}(\partial\Omega)}). \end{split}$$

Note that, there exists $\lambda_2 > 0$ such that for any $\lambda \in (0, \lambda_2)$ we have

$$|f|^2 > \frac{1}{3} + \frac{\delta^2}{2}, \qquad |f_{ap}|^2 > \frac{1}{3} + \frac{\delta^2}{2}.$$

Then taking ϵ in the claim sufficiently small, and using the Cauchy's inequality, we obtain from (3.12) that

$$\|R_{f}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\lambda \nabla R_{f}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}$$

$$\leq C \left(\|b_{1}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\mathbf{b}_{2}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\mathcal{B}_{3}\|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)}\right),$$
(3.13)

where $C = C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \delta)$.

Denote by

$$\hat{f}_{ap} = \hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2) + \lambda \hat{f}_1(y_1, z_2) + \lambda^2 \hat{f}_2(y_1, z_2).$$

From Proposition 2.5, Proposition 2.7 and Proposition 2.9, it follows that

$$|\hat{f}_{ap}| + |\nabla_{y_1}\hat{f}_{ap}| + |\lambda\nabla_{y_2}\hat{f}_{ap}| \le C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa).$$
(3.14)

Then by (3.2) we have

$$|\lambda \nabla f_{ap}(x)| \leq C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa) \text{ for all } x \in \Omega.$$

From the second equation of (3.7), we have

$$\operatorname{div}\left(|f|^{2}\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}+(f+f_{\mathrm{a}p})R_{f}\mathbf{Q}_{\mathrm{a}p}-\mathbf{b}_{2}\right)=0.$$
(3.15)

From this and (3.13), and using the fact $\lambda \nabla f = \lambda \nabla \mathbf{R}_f + \lambda \nabla f_{ap}$, we find

$$\|\lambda \operatorname{div} \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \leq C \left(\|b_{1}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\mathbf{b}_{2}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\lambda \operatorname{div} \mathbf{b}_{2}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\mathcal{B}_{3}\|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)} \right),$$

where $C = C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \delta)$.

We now consider the estimate for $\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}$. From (E.6) in appendix E, we have

$$\begin{split} \|\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)} \\ &\leq \|f_{\mathbf{a}p}^{-2}\|_{C^{1}(\partial\Omega)} \left(\|\mathcal{B}_{4}\|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)} + C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^{e})\|\lambda|f|^{-2}(|f|^{2} - |f_{\mathbf{a}p}|^{2})\|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)} \right) \\ &\leq C \left(\|\mathcal{B}_{4}\|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)} + \|R_{f}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\lambda\nabla R_{f}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \right), \end{split}$$

where $C = C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \delta)$. In the last inequality we have used the trace theorem on $H^1(\Omega)$, and the inequalities:

$$\begin{split} \|f_{\mathbf{a}p}\|_{C^{1}(\partial\Omega)} &\leq C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^{e}, \kappa, \delta) \quad \text{since (3.14),} \\ \frac{1}{3} &< |f|^{2} \leq 1, \qquad \frac{1}{3} < |f_{\mathbf{a}p}|^{2} \leq 1, \quad |\lambda \nabla f_{\mathbf{a}p}| \leq C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^{e}, \kappa, \delta). \end{split}$$

We apply the following div-curl-gradient inequality (see [11, P.212, Corollary 1])

$$\|\nabla \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \leq C(\Omega) \left(\|\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\operatorname{div} \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)} \right).$$

$$(3.16)$$

Then using (3.13) and the estimate on div $\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}$ and $\nu \cdot \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}$ obtained above, we get (3.9).

Therefore, by applying the estimate of **b** in Ω (see Lemma 3.1), the estimate of \mathcal{B}_3 (see (E.3)) and the estimate of \mathcal{B}_4 on $\partial \Omega$ (see (E.5)) in appendix E, for small λ we have

$$\|R_f\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|\lambda \nabla R_f\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|\lambda \nabla \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \le C\lambda^3, \quad (3.17)$$

where $C = C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \delta)$.

Next, we establish the H^2 estimate for $(R_f, \mathbf{R_0})$.

Lemma 3.3 Let (f, \mathbf{Q}) be the solution of (1.1) satisfying (1.8), and let $(R_f, \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}})$ be the solution of (3.7) with $R_f \in H^1(\Omega)$ and $\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}} \in \mathcal{H}(\Omega, curl)$. Then there exists a constant $\lambda_0 > 0$ such that, for any $0 < \lambda < \lambda_0$ we have

$$\|\lambda^2 \nabla^2 R_f\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|\lambda^2 \nabla^2 \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \le C\lambda^3, \qquad (3.18)$$

where the constant C depends only on Ω , \mathcal{H}^{e} , κ and δ , but not on λ .

Proof Step 1. By the usual difference quotient method ⁵, from the first equation of (3.7) and the boundary condition for R_f in (3.8) we immediately obtain that

$$\|\lambda^2 \nabla^2 R_f\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \le C \left(\|R_f\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|b_1\|_{L^2(\Omega)}\right),$$

where the constant C depends on Ω . From (3.5) and (3.17), we have

$$\|\lambda^2 \nabla^2 R_f\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \le C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \delta)\lambda^3.$$
(3.19)

Step 2. Let $H = \lambda \text{curl} \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}$. From the second equation of (3.7), we can deduce that *H* satisfies

$$\begin{cases} -\lambda^2 \Delta H + f^2 H = F & \text{in } \Omega, \\ H = \mathcal{B}_3 & \text{on } \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$

where

$$\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}} = (R_{\mathbf{Q}}^{1}, R_{\mathbf{Q}}^{2})$$

$$F = \lambda \operatorname{curl}(\mathbf{b}_{2} - (R_{f} + 2f_{ap})R_{f}\mathbf{Q}_{ap}) - \lambda(\partial_{1}(f^{2})R_{\mathbf{Q}}^{2} - \partial_{2}(f^{2})R_{\mathbf{Q}}^{1}).$$

Then by the Cauchy's inequality, and using $f \ge 1/3$ we have

$$\|\lambda \nabla H\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|H\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \le C(\Omega) \left(\|F\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\mathcal{B}_{3}\|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)}\right),$$

⁵ We refer to [14, Theorem 8.8] for the interior H^2 estimates, [14, Theorem 8.12] for the boundary H^2 estimates.

where we have used the inequality

$$\begin{split} \lambda^{2} \left| \int_{\partial\Omega} \frac{\partial H}{\partial \mathbf{n}} H dS \right| &\leq \lambda^{2} \|H\|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)} \left\| \frac{\partial H}{\partial \mathbf{n}} \right\|_{H^{-1/2}(\partial\Omega)} \\ &\leq C(\Omega) \|\mathcal{B}_{3}\|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)} \left(\left\| \lambda^{2} \nabla H \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \left\| \lambda^{2} \Delta H \right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \right). \end{split}$$

From the expressions of f_{ap} and \mathbf{Q}_{ap} (see (3.2)), then by Proposition 2.5, Proposition 2.7 and Proposition 2.9 we have

$$|f_{ap}(x)| + |\mathbf{Q}_{ap}(x)| + |\lambda \nabla f_{ap}(x)| + |\lambda \nabla \mathbf{Q}_{ap}(x)| \le C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \delta) \quad \text{for all } x \in \Omega.$$
(3.20)

This gives that

 $\|F\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \leq C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^{e}, \kappa, \delta) \left(\|\lambda \nabla \mathbf{b}_{2}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|R_{f}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\lambda \nabla R_{f}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \right).$

Therefore, we have

$$\begin{split} \|\lambda \nabla H\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|H\|_{L^2(\Omega)} &\leq C \left(\|\lambda \nabla \mathbf{b}_2\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|R_f\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|\lambda \nabla R_f\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \right. \\ & \left. + \|\mathcal{B}_3\|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)} \right), \end{split}$$

where $C = C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \delta)$. From (3.5), (3.7) and the estimate on \mathcal{B}_3 (see (E.3)), we can conclude that

$$\|\nabla(\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \leq C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^{e}, \kappa, \delta)\lambda.$$
(3.21)

By (3.15), we have

div
$$\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}} = \left[\operatorname{div}(\mathbf{b}_2 - (f + f_{\mathbf{a}p})R_f \mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{a}p}) - 2f \nabla f \cdot \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}} \right] f^{-2}$$

Then using Hölder's inequality and $f = R_f + f_{ap}$, we have

$$\begin{split} \|\lambda^{2}\nabla\operatorname{div}\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq C\left(\|R_{f}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}+\|\lambda\nabla R_{f}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}+\|\lambda\nabla R_{f}\|_{L^{4}(\Omega)}^{2}+\|\lambda^{2}\nabla^{2}R_{f}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}\right. \\ &+\|\lambda\operatorname{div}\mathbf{b}_{2}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}+\|\lambda^{2}\nabla\operatorname{div}\mathbf{b}_{2}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}\right)+6\lambda^{2}\|\nabla R_{f}\|_{L^{4}(\Omega)}\|\nabla\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^{4}(\Omega)}, \end{split}$$

where we have used the estimates in (3.5), (3.20) and $1/3 < f \leq 1$, $C = C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \delta)$. Note that

$$\|\nabla R_f\|_{L^4(\Omega)} \le C(\Omega) \left(\|\nabla^2 R_f\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|\nabla R_f\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \right) \le C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \delta)\lambda$$
(3.22)

Deringer

by the Sobolev imbedding theorem. Then by (3.5) and (3.17), it follows that

$$\|\nabla(\operatorname{div} \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}})\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \leq C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^{e}, \kappa, \delta)\lambda(1 + \|\nabla \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^{4}(\Omega)}).$$
(3.23)

We now give the estimate of $v \cdot \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}$. From (3.8), it follows that

$$\begin{split} \lambda \| v \cdot \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}} \|_{H^{3/2}(\partial \Omega)} &\leq C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^{e}, \kappa, \delta) \left(\| \mathcal{B}_{4} \|_{H^{3/2}(\partial \Omega)} + \| \lambda^{2} |f|^{-2} (|f|^{2} - |f_{ap}|^{2}) \|_{H^{3/2}(\partial \Omega)} \right) \\ &\leq C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^{e}, \kappa, \delta) \left(\| \mathcal{B}_{4} \|_{H^{3/2}(\partial \Omega)} + \| \lambda^{2} |f|^{-2} (|f|^{2} - |f_{ap}|^{2}) \|_{H^{2}(\Omega)} \right), \end{split}$$

where we have used the boundedness of $||f_{ap}||_{C^2(\partial\Omega)}$ and $||\nabla_{\tan}\mathcal{H}^e||_{C^2(\partial\Omega)}$. Using (3.22) and (3.20), we have

$$\|\lambda^2 |f|^{-2} (|f|^2 - |f_{ap}|^2)\|_{H^2(\Omega)} \le C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \delta)\lambda^3.$$

Then by the estimate on \mathcal{B}_4 (see (E.5)), we now obtain that

$$\|\boldsymbol{\nu} \cdot \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{H^{3/2}(\partial\Omega)} \le C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^{e}, \kappa, \delta)\lambda^{2}.$$
(3.24)

By applying the div-curl-gradient inequality (see [3, section 2])

$$\|\mathbf{u}\|_{H^{2}(\Omega)} \leq C(\Omega) \left(\|\mathbf{u}\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)} + \|\operatorname{div}\mathbf{u}\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)} + \|\operatorname{curl}\mathbf{u}\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)} + \|\nu \cdot \mathbf{u}\|_{H^{3/2}(\partial\Omega)} \right),$$

we at last obtain that

$$\|\nabla^2 \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \le C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \delta)\lambda(1 + \|\nabla \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^4(\Omega)}),$$

where we have used (3.21), (3.23), (3.17) and (3.24). By the Sobolev imbedding theorem, then choosing λ sufficiently small, we have

$$\|\nabla^2 \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \le C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \delta)\lambda(1 + \|\nabla \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^2(\Omega)}) \le C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \delta)\lambda.$$

We end our proof.

We use the notations introduced in section 2. Let $X_0 \in \partial \Omega$ be fixed and \mathcal{U} be a neighborhood of X_0 . We assume that ψ defined by (2.1) is a diffeomorphism from $B_R^+(0)$ onto $\mathcal{U} \cap \Omega$. Here $B_R^+(0)$ denotes an open half ball with the center at the origin and the radius R. Let \tilde{R}_f and $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{Q}}$ be the representations of R_f and $\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}$ under the *z*-coordinate system respectively. Then we have the estimate

$$\|R_f\|_{H^2(B_1^+(0))} + \|\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{H^2(B_1^+(0))} \le C\lambda^2,$$

where the constant *C* depends on \mathcal{H}^e , Ω , κ and δ , but not on λ .

Applying the Sobolev imbedding theorem ([1, Lemma 5.17]), we can derive the C^0 estimate for \tilde{R}_f and $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{O}}$ on a half ball $\overline{B_1^+}$.

Theorem 3.4 Let (f, \mathbf{Q}) be the solution of system (1.1) satisfying (1.8), and let $(\tilde{R}_f, \tilde{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{Q}})$ be the solution of system (3.7) under the z-coordinate system. Then there exists a constant $\lambda_0 > 0$ such that, for any $0 < \lambda < \lambda_0$ we have

$$\|\tilde{R}_f\|_{C^0(\overline{B_1^+})} + \|\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{C^0(\overline{B_1^+})} \le C\lambda^2,$$

where the constant *C* depends only on Ω , \mathcal{H}^e , κ and δ , but not on λ .

Proof of (1.9) *and* (1.10) The inequalities (1.9) and (1.10) follow from Theorem 3.4 immediately. \Box

4 Decay estimate for Meissner solutions

In this section we prove Theorem 1.1. We shall follow the notations in section 3. We also introduce the new variable $t = \frac{x}{\lambda}$, and set

$$\Omega_{\lambda} = \left\{ t \in \Omega_{\lambda} : t = \frac{x}{\lambda}, \quad x \in \Omega \right\}.$$

Let (f, \mathbf{Q}) be the solution of (1.1), and let $(f_{ap}, \mathbf{Q}_{ap})$ be the approximation solution constructed in section 3 in the *x*-coordinates. Let \check{f} , \check{K}_f , \check{f}_{ap} , $\check{\mathbf{Q}}$, $\check{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{Q}}$, $\check{\mathbf{Q}}_{ap}$, $\check{\mathcal{B}}_3$ and $\check{\mathbf{b}}$ be the representations of f, R_f , f_{ap} , \mathbf{Q} , $\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}$, \mathbf{Q}_{ap} , \mathcal{B}_3 and \mathbf{b} in the *t*-coordinate system respectively. Then $(\check{R}_f, \check{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{Q}})$ satisfies

$$\begin{bmatrix}
\frac{1}{\kappa^{2}}\Delta\check{R}_{f} = (|\check{f}|^{2} + \check{f}\check{f}_{ap} + |\check{f}_{ap}|^{2} + |\check{\mathbf{Q}}|^{2} - 1)\check{R}_{f} - \check{f}_{ap}(\check{\mathbf{Q}} + \check{\mathbf{Q}}_{ap}) \cdot \check{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{Q}} - \check{b}_{1} & \text{in } \Omega_{\lambda}, \\
\text{curl}^{2}\check{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{Q}} + |\check{f}|^{2}\check{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{Q}} + (\check{f} + \check{f}_{ap})\check{R}_{f}\check{\mathbf{Q}}_{ap} = \check{\mathbf{b}}_{2} & \text{in } \Omega_{\lambda}, \\
\frac{\partial\check{R}_{f}}{\partial\mathbf{n}} = 0, \quad \text{curl}\check{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{Q}} = \check{\mathcal{B}}_{3} & \text{on } \partial\Omega_{\lambda}.
\end{aligned}$$
(4.1)

Lemma 4.1 (Schauder estimate) Let (f, \mathbf{Q}) be the solution of (1.1) satisfying (1.8). Then there exists a constant *C* depending on Ω , $\|\mathcal{H}^e\|_{C^3(\partial\Omega)}$, κ and δ , but independent of λ , such that

$$\left\|\check{f}\right\|_{C^{3}(\Omega_{\lambda})}+\left\|\check{\mathbf{Q}}\right\|_{C^{3}(\Omega_{\lambda})}\leq C.$$
(4.2)

Proof The proof is similar to that of Lemma 9.2 in [26], and we give only the outline of the proof here. For any number m > 0, let $B_m(x_0)$ denote a ball with radius m and center $x_0 \in \Omega_{\lambda}$, and

$$\mathcal{O}_m := B_m(x_0) \cap \Omega_\lambda.$$

Step 1. The scaled function \check{f} satisfies the following equation in Ω_{λ} :

$$-\frac{1}{\kappa^2}\Delta \check{f} = (1-|\check{f}|^2 - |\check{\mathbf{Q}}|^2)\check{f} \quad \text{in } \Omega_{\lambda}, \qquad \frac{\partial \check{f}}{\partial \mathbf{n}} = 0, \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega_{\lambda}.$$
(4.3)

🖉 Springer

From (1.8) we see that

$$\frac{1}{3} \leq \check{f}(t) \leq 1, \quad |\check{\mathbf{Q}}(t)|^2 \leq \frac{2}{3}, \quad t \in \Omega_{\lambda}.$$

By the L^p estimate of elliptic equations we see that $\check{f} \in W^{2,p}(\mathcal{O}_1)$ for any $1 , and hence <math>\check{f} \in C^{1,\alpha}(\mathcal{O}_1)$ for any $0 < \alpha < 1$.

Step 2. $\check{\mathbf{Q}}$ satisfies the following equation on Ω_{λ} :

$$\begin{cases} \operatorname{curl}^{2} \check{\mathbf{Q}} + |\check{f}|^{2} \check{\mathbf{Q}} = 0 & \operatorname{in} \Omega_{\lambda}, \\ \operatorname{curl} \check{\mathbf{Q}} = \check{\mathcal{H}}^{e}, \quad \nu \cdot \check{\mathbf{Q}} = -\check{f}^{-2} \nabla_{\operatorname{tan}} \check{\mathcal{H}}^{e} & \operatorname{on} \partial \Omega_{\lambda}. \end{cases}$$
(4.4)

From (4.4) we can derive the integral estimate of curl $\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}$. From the first equality we see that

div
$$\check{\mathbf{Q}} = 2\check{f}^{-1}\nabla\check{f}\cdot\check{\mathbf{Q}}\in L^2(\mathcal{O}_1).$$
 (4.5)

Then we use the cut-off argument and use the div-curl-gradient inequality for vector fields vanishing on $\partial \mathcal{O}_{1/2}$ to get an estimate on the norm $\|\check{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{H^1(\mathcal{O}_{1/2})}$. It follows that

div
$$\check{\mathbf{Q}} = 2\check{f}^{-1}\nabla\check{f}\cdot\check{\mathbf{Q}} \in H^1(\mathcal{O}_{1/2}).$$

We further use the difference quotient method to derive an estimate for $\|\check{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{H^2(\mathcal{O}_{1/3})}$. By this and the Sobolev imbedding theorem we find that $\check{\mathbf{Q}} \in W^{1,p}(\mathcal{O}_{1/3})$ for any 1 , hence

$$\check{\mathbf{Q}} \in C^{\alpha}(\overline{\mathcal{O}}_{1/3}, \mathbb{R}^2) \quad \text{for any } 0 < \alpha < 1.$$
(4.6)

From this and (4.5) we see that

$$\operatorname{div} \mathbf{\tilde{Q}} \in C^{\alpha}(\overline{\mathcal{O}}_{1/3}) \quad \text{for any } 0 < \alpha < 1.$$
(4.7)

Step 3. Now we denote

$$\check{\mathbf{Q}}(t) = (\check{Q}^1(t), \check{Q}^2(t)), \quad \check{H}(t) = \operatorname{curl}\check{\mathbf{Q}}(t).$$

 \check{H} is a solution of the following Dirichlet problem

$$\begin{cases} \Delta \check{H} + \partial_2 (f^2 \check{Q}^1) - \partial_1 (f^2 \check{Q}^2) = 0 & \text{in } \Omega_\lambda, \\ \check{H} = \check{\mathcal{H}}^e & \text{on } \partial \Omega_\lambda. \end{cases}$$
(4.8)

Applying the interior L^p estimates of elliptic equations and using the result obtained in step 2, we see that $\check{H} \in W^{2,p}(\mathcal{O}_{1/4})$ for any 1 . This and the Sobolev imbedding theorem imply that curl $\check{\mathbf{Q}} = \check{H} \in C^{1,\alpha}(\mathcal{O}_{1/4})$. From this, (4.6) and (4.7), and applying the div-curl-gradient inequality

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathbf{u}\|_{C^{k+1,\alpha}(\bar{D})} &\leq C(D,k,\alpha) \{ \|\mathbf{u}\|_{C^{k,\alpha}(\bar{D})} + \|\operatorname{div}\mathbf{u}\|_{C^{k,\alpha}(\bar{D})} + \|\operatorname{curl}\mathbf{u}\|_{C^{k,\alpha}(\bar{D})} \\ &+ \|\nu \cdot \mathbf{u}\|_{C^{k+1,\alpha}(\partial D)} \}, \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.9)$$

with k = 0 to $\zeta \check{\mathbf{Q}}$, where ζ is a suitable cut-off function, we obtain $\check{\mathbf{Q}} \in C^{1,\alpha}(\mathcal{O}_{1/5})$.

Step 4. Using equation (4.3) again we can show that $\check{f} \in C^{3,\alpha}(\mathcal{O}_{1/6})$. From this and (4.7) we get div $\check{\mathbf{Q}} \in C^{1,\alpha}(\mathcal{O}_{1/6})$. Applying Schauder estimates to (4.8) we get curl $\check{\mathbf{Q}} = \check{H} \in C^{2,\alpha}(\mathcal{O}_{1/7})$. Then using (4.9) with k = 1 we get $\check{\mathbf{Q}} \in C^{2,\alpha}(\mathcal{O}_{1/8})$. From this and (4.5) we see that div $\check{\mathbf{Q}} \in C^{2,\alpha}(\mathcal{O}_{1/8})$. So using (4.9) with k = 2 we find $\check{\mathbf{Q}} \in C^{3,\alpha}(\mathcal{O}_{1/9})$.

Combining (3.5) and Lemma 4.1 we have

$$\|\mathbf{\check{b}}\|_{C^2(\Omega_\lambda)} \le C\lambda^3,$$

where *C* is independent of λ . Then by the scaling argument and using Lemma 3.2 and Lemma 4.1, we find

$$\|\check{R}_f\|_{H^1(\Omega_{\lambda})} + \|\check{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{H^1(\Omega_{\lambda})} \le C\lambda^2,$$
(4.10)

where *C* depends on Ω , κ , δ and \mathcal{H}^{e} , but is independent of λ .

We now establish the interior C^{α} estimate for $(\check{R}_f, \check{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{O}})$. Denote

$$d(t) = \operatorname{dist}(t, \partial \Omega_{\lambda}), \qquad \omega_n := \{t \in \Omega_{\lambda} : d(t) \ge n\}.$$
(4.11)

Lemma 4.2 Let (f, \mathbf{Q}) be the solution of (1.1) satisfying (1.8). Then there exists a constant *C* depending on Ω , \mathcal{H}^e , κ and δ , but not on λ , such that

$$\|\check{R}_{f}\|_{C^{0}(\omega_{1})} + \|\check{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{C^{0}(\omega_{1})} \le C\lambda^{2},$$
(4.12)

where ω_1 is defined in (4.11) for n = 1.

Proof Using (4.10) and applying Sobolev imbedding theorem (see [1, Chapter 6]), we can show that, for any $1 and any ball <math>B_1(x_0) \subset \Omega_{\lambda}$ we have

$$\|\check{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^{p}(B_{1}(x_{0}))} + \|\check{R}_{f}\|_{L^{p}(B_{1}(x_{0}))} \leq C(p)\left(\|\check{R}_{f}\|_{H^{1}(\Omega_{\lambda})} + \|\check{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{H^{1}(\Omega_{\lambda})}\right) \leq C\lambda^{2}.$$

where the constant *C* in the right side depends on Ω , \mathcal{H}^e , κ , δ and *p*, but is independent of λ . Then we apply the interior $W^{1,p}$ elliptic estimates to (4.1) (see Theorem 2.2 in [8, Chapter 10]) and find that

$$\|\nabla \check{R}_{f}\|_{L^{p}(B_{\frac{1}{2}}(x_{0}))} + \|\nabla \check{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^{p}(B_{\frac{1}{2}}(x_{0}))} \le C(p) \left(\|\check{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{Q}}\|_{L^{p}(B_{1}(x_{0}))} + \|\check{R}_{f}\|_{L^{p}(B_{1}(x_{0}))}\right)$$

 $\leq C\lambda^2$.

Taking p > 2 in this inequality and applying the Sobolev imbedding theorem again, we obtain (4.12).

Proof of Theorem 1.1 The proof is based on the Agmon's estimate [2].

First, from the expressions of f_{ap} and \mathbf{Q}_{ap} given in (3.2), and using Lemma 4.2, we see that, for any positive constants $\beta_4 < 1$ and $\alpha_4 < \min\{2, \sqrt{2}\kappa\}$, there exists N_0 depending on α_4 and β_4 , such that for any x satisfying $d(x, \partial \Omega) > N_0 \lambda$ we have

$$f(x) = f_{ap}(x) + R_f(x) > \beta_4, \quad \kappa^2 (f^2 + f + |\mathbf{Q}|^2) > \alpha_4^2.$$
(4.13)

Step 1. We prove the exponential decay of **Q**.

Multiplying the second equation of (1.1) by $\eta_0^2 \mathbf{Q}$ with $\eta_0 \in H_0^1(\Omega)$, and integrating over Ω , we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\lambda^2 |\operatorname{curl}(\eta_0 \mathbf{Q})|^2 + |\eta_0 f \mathbf{Q}|^2 \right) dx = \lambda^2 \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \eta_0 \times \mathbf{Q}|^2 dx.$$
(4.14)

Take

$$d(x) = d(x, \partial \Omega), \quad \eta_0(x) = \zeta_0(x)e^{\beta_4 d(x)/\lambda}$$

where $0 < \beta_4 < 1$, and $\zeta_0 \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega, [0, 1])$ is a cutoff function satisfying

$$\zeta_0(x) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } d(x) > (N_0 + 1)\lambda, \\ 0, & \text{if } d(x) < N_0\lambda, \end{cases}$$

and $|\nabla \zeta_0(x)| \le 2/\lambda$ for all *x*. Plugging this η_0 into (4.14), and using (4.13) and the estimate $|\mathbf{Q}| \le 1$, we derive

$$\int_{\Omega} e^{2\beta_4 \,\mathrm{d}(x)/\lambda} |\mathbf{Q}|^2 dx \le C,\tag{4.15}$$

where the constant *C* depends on Ω , β_4 , κ , δ and \mathcal{H}^e , but not on λ .

Next, we let

$$\mathbf{A}(x) = e^{\beta_4 \, \mathrm{d}(x)/\lambda} \mathbf{Q}(x).$$

Then from (4.14), (4.2) and (4.15), we have

$$\int_{\Omega} |\lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{A}|^2 dx \le C, \tag{4.16}$$

where $C = C(\Omega, \beta_4, \kappa, \delta, \mathcal{H}^e)$. From (1.1), we have $\operatorname{div}(f^2 \mathbf{Q}) = 0$ in Ω . Then we obtain that

$$\lambda f \operatorname{div} \mathbf{A} + 2\lambda \nabla f \cdot \mathbf{A} - f \mathbf{c}_1(x) \cdot \mathbf{A} = 0 \quad \text{in } \Omega, \tag{4.17}$$

where

$$\mathbf{c}_1(x) = \beta_4 \nabla \mathbf{d}(x). \tag{4.18}$$

Using $|\lambda \nabla f| \leq C$ (see (4.2)) and (4.15), we have

$$\int_{\Omega} |\lambda \operatorname{div} \mathbf{A}|^2 dx \le C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \delta, \beta_4).$$
(4.19)

Note that $\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{A} = \mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{Q} = -\lambda f^{-2} \nabla_{\tan} \mathcal{H}^e$ on $\partial \Omega$. Then there exists a constant *C* depending on Ω , \mathcal{H}^e , κ and δ , such that

$$\|\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{A}\|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)} \leq \|\mathcal{H}^{e}\|_{C^{2}(\partial\Omega)} \|\lambda f^{-2}\|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)}$$
$$\leq C(\Omega) \|\mathcal{H}^{e}\|_{C^{2}(\partial\Omega)} \|\lambda f^{-2}\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)} \leq C.$$

where in this inequality we have used the trace theorem on $H^1(\Omega)$ and $\|\lambda \nabla f\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \le C$. Applying (4.15), (4.16), (4.19) and then by the div-curl-gradient inequality (3.16), we have

$$\int_{\Omega} |\lambda \nabla \mathbf{A}|^2 dx \le C, \tag{4.20}$$

where $C = C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \delta, \beta_4)$.

From (1.1), we can derive that **A** is a weak solution of the following system:

$$\lambda^2 \operatorname{curlcurl} \mathbf{A} - \lambda \operatorname{curl} E - \mathbf{F}(x) = 0 \text{ in } \Omega,$$
 (4.21)

where $\mathbf{A} = (A_1, A_2)$,

$$E(x) = \beta_4(\partial_1 d(x)A_2 - \partial_2 d(x)A_1), \quad \mathbf{c}_2(x) = \beta_4 \operatorname{curl} d(x) = \beta_4(\partial_2 d(x), -\partial_1 d(x)),$$

$$\operatorname{curl} E = (\partial_2 E, -\partial_1 E), \quad \mathbf{F}(x) = (\lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{A})\mathbf{c}_2(x) - E(x)\mathbf{c}_2(x) - f^2\mathbf{A}.$$

Denote by

$$\mathbf{G}(x) = f^{-1} \left(2\lambda \nabla f \cdot \mathbf{A} - f \mathbf{c}_1(x) \cdot \mathbf{A} \right),$$

and let

$$\check{\mathbf{A}}(t) = \mathbf{A}(\lambda t), \quad \check{\mathbf{F}}(t) = \mathbf{F}(\lambda t), \quad \check{E}(t) = E(\lambda t), \quad \check{G}(t) = G(\lambda t).$$

Deringer

From (4.21) and (4.17), for any $\Phi \in H_0^1(B_2(t_0))$ with $B_2(t_0) \subset \Omega_t$ being a disc of the center t_0 and radius 2, we have

$$\int_{B_2(t_0)} \nabla \check{\mathbf{A}} \cdot \nabla \Phi dt = \int_{B_2(t_0)} \operatorname{curl} \check{\mathbf{A}} \cdot \operatorname{curl} \Phi dt + \int_{B_2(t_0)} \operatorname{div} \check{\mathbf{A}} \cdot \operatorname{div} \Phi dt$$
$$= \int_{B_2(t_0)} \check{E} \operatorname{curl} \Phi dt + \int_{B_2(t_0)} \check{\mathbf{F}} \cdot \Phi dt + \int_{B_2(t_0)} \check{G} \operatorname{div} \Phi dt$$

Since div $\check{\mathbf{F}} = 0$ in $B_2(t_0)$, we can find $\check{H} \in L^p(B_2(t_0))$ (see Lemma 3 in [11, Chapter IX]) such that curl $\check{H} = \check{\mathbf{F}}$ and $||\check{H}||_{L^p(B_2(t_0))} \leq C(p)||\check{\mathbf{F}}||_{L^2(B_2(t_0))}$ for any $2 \leq p < \infty$. Now we can apply the interior $W^{1,p}$ elliptic estimates to $\check{\mathbf{A}}$ (see Theorem 2.2 in [8, Chapter 10]) and find that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla \dot{\mathbf{A}}\|_{L^{p}(B_{1}(t_{0}))} \\ &\leq C(p) \left(\|\check{E}\|_{L^{p}(B_{2}(t_{0}))} + \|\check{G}\|_{L^{p}(B_{2}(t_{0}))} + \|\check{H}\|_{L^{p}(B_{2}(t_{0}))} + \|\check{\mathbf{A}}\|_{H^{1}(B_{2}(t_{0}))} \right). \end{aligned}$$

Taking p = 3 in the last inequality and applying the Sobolev imbedding theorem, we obtain

$$\|\nabla \mathbf{\check{A}}\|_{L^{3}(B_{1}(t_{0}))} \leq C \|\mathbf{\check{A}}\|_{H^{1}(B_{2}(t_{0}))} \leq C\lambda^{-1},$$

where $C = C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \delta, \beta_4)$.

Since $W^{1,3}$ is continuously embedded into C^0 , and then using the arbitrariness of the ball $B_1(t_0) \subset \Omega_{\lambda}$, we have

$$\|\check{\mathbf{A}}\|_{C^0(\omega_2)} \le C\lambda^{-1},\tag{4.22}$$

where $C = C(\Omega, \beta_4, \kappa, \delta, \mathcal{H}^e)$, and ω_2 is defined by (4.11). Since $\partial \Omega \in C^3$, then there exists a positive constant μ depending on Ω such that the distance function $d(x) \in C^3(\Gamma_{\mu})$ (see [14, Lemma 14.16]), where

$$\Gamma_{\mu} = \{ x \in \Omega : d(x) < \mu \}.$$
(4.23)

Using the equations (4.17) and (4.21), then by the Schauder's estimate [14, Theorem 6.2] on $\Gamma_{\mu,\lambda}$ we have

$$\|\check{\mathbf{A}}\|_{C^{1}(\omega_{3}\cap\Gamma\frac{\mu}{2},\lambda)}\leq C\lambda^{-1},$$

where $C = C(\Omega, \beta_4, \kappa, \delta, \mathcal{H}^e)$, and $\Gamma_{\mu,\lambda} = \{t = x/\lambda \in \Omega_\lambda : x \in \Gamma_\mu\}$. Then

$$|\lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{Q}(x)| \leq C(\Omega, \beta_4, \kappa, \delta, \mathcal{H}^e) \lambda^{-1} e^{-\beta_4 \operatorname{d}(x)/\lambda} \text{ for } x \in \partial \Gamma_{\frac{\mu}{2}} \setminus \partial \Omega.$$
For any $0 < \beta < \beta_4$, there exists $\lambda_1 > 0$ such that, for any $\lambda \in (0, \lambda_1)$ we have

$$|\lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{Q}(x)| \le C_1 e^{-\beta \operatorname{d}(x)/\lambda} \quad \text{for } x \in \partial \Gamma_{\frac{\mu}{2}} \setminus \partial \Omega$$

$$(4.24)$$

and by (4.22)

$$|\mathbf{Q}(x)| \le C_2 e^{-\beta \, \mathrm{d}(x)/\lambda} \quad \text{for } x \in \Omega \setminus \Gamma_{\frac{\mu}{4}}, \tag{4.25}$$

where the constants C_1 and C_2 depending on Ω , β , κ , δ and \mathcal{H}^e can be taken the same number. Let

$$H = \lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{Q}, \quad B(x) = e^{\beta \operatorname{d}(x)/\lambda} H.$$

Then from the second equation of (1.1), we see that B(x) satisfies

$$\lambda^2 \operatorname{div}(f^{-2}\nabla B) - 2\lambda\beta f^{-2}\nabla d \cdot \nabla B + (f^{-2}\beta^2 - \lambda\beta f^{-2}\Delta d - 1)B = 0 \quad \text{for } x \in \Gamma_{\frac{\mu}{2}}$$

There exists positive constants ε (depending on Ω , β , κ , δ , \mathcal{H}^e) and λ_2 (depending on ε , Ω , β , κ , δ , \mathcal{H}^e) such that for any $\lambda \in (0, \lambda_2)$ we have

$$f^{-2}\beta^2 - \lambda\beta f^{-2}\Delta d - 1 < -\varepsilon \quad \text{for } x \in \Gamma_{\frac{\mu}{2}} \setminus \Gamma_{\lambda N_0},$$

where we have used the first inequality in (4.13). By the maximum principle [14, Theorem 3.7], we have

$$\|B\|_{C^0(\Gamma\frac{\mu}{2}\backslash\Gamma_{\lambda N_0})} \le \|B\|_{C^0(\partial(\Gamma\frac{\mu}{2}\backslash\Gamma_{\lambda N_0}))} \le \max(e^{\beta N_0}, C_1),$$

where C_1 is given in (4.24). By the Schauder's estimate [14, Theorem 6.2] again, we have

$$\|\lambda \nabla B\|_{C^0(\Gamma\frac{\mu}{4}\setminus\Gamma_{\lambda(N_0+1)})} \leq C(\Omega,\mathcal{H}^e)\|B\|_{C^0(\Gamma\frac{\mu}{4}\setminus\Gamma_{\lambda N_0})}.$$

Then we have

$$|\lambda^2 \operatorname{curl}^2 \mathbf{Q}(x)| \le 2|\lambda \nabla \mathbf{H}(x)| \le C e^{-\beta \operatorname{d}(x)/\lambda} \text{ for } x \in \Gamma_{\frac{\mu}{4}} \setminus \Gamma_{\lambda(N_0+1)},$$

where $C = C(\Omega, \beta, \kappa, \delta, \mathcal{H}^e)$. Using the second equation in (1.1), we have

$$|\mathbf{Q}(x)| = |\lambda^2 f^{-2} \operatorname{curlcurl} \mathbf{Q}(x)| \le C e^{-\beta \operatorname{d}(x)/\lambda} \text{ for } x \in \Gamma_{\frac{\mu}{4}},$$

where we have used $|\mathbf{Q}(x)| \le 1$ for $x \in \Gamma_{\lambda(N_0+1)}$, $C = C(\Omega, \beta, \kappa, \delta, \mathcal{H}^e)$. Combining this inequality with the estimate in (4.25), we obtain the exponential decay estimate for **Q**.

Step 2. We prove the exponential decay of f.

Deringer

Let g = 1 - f. Multiplying the first equation of (1.1) by $\eta_1^2 g$ with $\eta_1 \in H_0^1(\Omega)$, and integrating over Ω , we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{\kappa^2} |\nabla(\eta_1 g)|^2 + (2 - 3g + |g|^2 + |\mathbf{Q}|^2)(\eta_1 g)^2 \right) dx$$

=
$$\int_{\Omega} |\eta_1|^2 |\mathbf{Q}|^2 g dx + \frac{\lambda^2}{\kappa^2} \int_{\Omega} |g \nabla \eta_1|^2 dx.$$
 (4.26)

Take

$$\eta_1(x) = \zeta_1(x) e^{\alpha_4 \operatorname{d}(x)/\lambda},$$

where $0 < \alpha_4 < \min\{\sqrt{2\kappa}, 2\beta\}$, and $\zeta_1 \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega, [0, 1])$ is a cutoff function satisfying

$$\zeta_1(x) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } d(x) > (N_0 + 1)\lambda, \\ 0, & \text{if } d(x) < N_0\lambda, \end{cases}$$

and $|\nabla \zeta_1(x)| \le 2/\lambda$ for all x. Plugging this η_1 into (4.26), using (4.13) and the fact |g| < 1, we get

$$\int_{\Omega} e^{2\alpha_4 \operatorname{d}(x)/\lambda} |g|^2 dx \leq C,$$

where $C = C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \delta, \alpha_4, \beta)$, but *C* does not depend on λ .

Now we set

$$h(x) = e^{\alpha_4 \operatorname{d}(x)/\lambda} g(x).$$

Using (4.26) again, we have

$$\|h\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|\lambda \nabla h\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \le C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \delta, \alpha_4, \beta).$$

Then h is a weak solution of

$$\frac{\lambda^2}{\kappa^2}\Delta h - \frac{\lambda}{\kappa^2}\operatorname{div}(h\mathbf{v}) = r(x) \text{ in } \Omega,$$

where

$$\mathbf{v}(x) = \alpha_4 \nabla \mathbf{d}(x),$$

$$r(x) = \frac{\mathbf{v}}{\kappa^2} \cdot (\lambda \nabla h - h\mathbf{v}) + (2 - 3g + |g|^2 + |\mathbf{Q}|^2)h - |\mathbf{Q}|^2 e^{\alpha_4 \, \mathbf{d}(x)/\lambda}.$$

Deringer

Let

$$\check{h}(t) = h(\lambda t), \quad \check{\mathbf{d}}(t) = \check{\mathbf{d}}(\lambda t), \quad \check{r}(t) = \check{r}(\lambda t)$$

Then for any $\varphi \in H_0^1(B_2)$ with $B_2(t_0) \subset \Omega_t$ being a ball with the center t_0 and radius 2, we have

$$\int_{B_2(t_0)} \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \nabla \check{h} \cdot \nabla \varphi dt = \int_{B_2(t_0)} \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \check{h} \check{\mathbf{d}} \cdot \nabla \varphi dt - \int_{B_2(t_0)} \check{r} \cdot \varphi dt$$

We look for $\phi \in H_0^1(B_2(t_0)) \bigcap H^2(\Omega)$ such that

$$\int_{B_2(t_0)} \check{r} \cdot \varphi dt = \int_{B_2(t_0)} \nabla \phi \cdot \nabla \varphi dt \quad \text{for any } \varphi \in H_0^1(B_2)$$

and ϕ satisfies $\|\nabla \phi\|_{L^p(B_2(t_0))} \leq C(p)\|\check{r}\|_{L^2(B_2(t_0))}$ with $2 . Now we can apply the interior <math>W^{1,p}$ elliptic estimates to \check{h} (see Theorem 2.2 in [8, Chapter 10]) and find that

$$\|\nabla \check{h}\|_{L^{p}(B_{1}(t_{0}))} \leq C(p,\kappa) \left(\|\check{h}\|_{L^{p}(B_{2}(t_{0}))} + \|\nabla \phi\|_{L^{p}(B_{2}(t_{0}))} + \|\check{h}\|_{H^{1}(B_{2}(t_{0}))} \right).$$

Taking p = 3 in the last inequality and applying the Sobolev imbedding theorem, we obtain

$$\|\nabla \check{h}\|_{L^{3}(B_{1}(t_{0}))} \leq C(\|\check{h}\|_{H^{1}(B_{2}(t_{0}))} + 1) \leq C\lambda^{-1}.$$

where $C = C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \delta, \alpha_4, \beta)$. By the Sobolev imbedding theorem again, we have $\check{h} \in C^0(\omega_2)$, where ω_2 is defined by (4.11). Then

$$|g(x)| \le C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \delta, \alpha_4, \beta) \lambda^{-1} e^{-\alpha_4 \operatorname{d}(x)/\lambda} \quad \text{for } x \in \bar{\Omega}.$$

For any $0 < \alpha < \alpha_4$, there exists $\lambda_3 > 0$ such that, for any $\lambda \in (0, \lambda_3)$ we have

$$|g(x)| \le C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \delta, \alpha, \beta) e^{-\alpha \operatorname{d}(x)/\lambda} \quad \text{for } x \in \Omega \setminus \Gamma_{\frac{\mu}{2}}, \tag{4.27}$$

where $\Gamma_{\frac{\mu}{2}}$ is defined in (4.23). Let

$$u(x) = g(x)e^{\alpha \operatorname{d}(x)/\lambda}$$

Then u(x) satisfies

$$\frac{\lambda^2}{\kappa^2}\Delta u - \frac{2\alpha\lambda}{\kappa^2}\nabla \mathbf{d}\cdot\nabla u = s(x) \text{ in } \Omega,$$

🖄 Springer

where

$$s(x) = \left(-\frac{\alpha^2}{\kappa^2} + \frac{\lambda\alpha}{\kappa^2}\Delta d + 2 - 3g + |g|^2 + |\mathbf{Q}|^2\right)u - |\mathbf{Q}|^2e^{\alpha d(x)/\lambda}.$$

Since $0 < \alpha < \min\{\sqrt{2\kappa}, 2\}$, there exist $\varepsilon_1 > 0$ (depending on Ω , $\mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \alpha, \delta$), $\lambda_4 > 0$ (depending on $\varepsilon_1, \Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \alpha, \delta$) and N_1 (depending on $\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa, \alpha, \delta$) such that, for any $\lambda \in (0, \lambda_4)$ and any $x \in \Gamma_{\frac{\mu}{2}} \setminus \Gamma_{\lambda N_1}$ we have

$$-\frac{\alpha^2}{\kappa^2} + \frac{\lambda\alpha}{\kappa^2} \Delta \mathbf{d} + 2 - 3g + |g|^2 + |\mathbf{Q}|^2 > \varepsilon_1 > 0.$$

Using the maximum principle [14, Corollary 3.2], we then can deduce that

$$\|u\|_{C^{0}(\Gamma_{\frac{\mu}{2}}\setminus\Gamma_{\lambda N_{1}})} \leq \|u\|_{C^{0}(\partial(\Gamma_{\frac{\mu}{2}}\setminus\Gamma_{\lambda N_{1}}))} + \varepsilon_{1}^{-1} \sup_{x\in\Gamma_{\frac{\mu}{2}}\setminus\Gamma_{\lambda N_{1}}} |\mathbf{Q}|^{2} e^{\alpha \operatorname{d}(x)/\lambda} \leq C,$$

where $C = C(\Omega, \beta, \alpha, \kappa, \delta, \mathcal{H}^e)$. Combining this inequality with the estimate in (4.27), and then using the boundedness of $|g(x)| \le 1$ for $x \in \Gamma_{\lambda N_1}$, we obtain the exponential decay estimate for 1 - f.

5 Proof of Theorem 1.2

This section is devoted to the proof of Theorem 1.2. We shall first establish two results for some ordinary differential systems. The first result is Theorem 5.1, which will be used to show how the minimum points of $|f|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}|^2$ depend on the applied field \mathcal{H}^e , and the second is Theorem 5.2 which is needed to prove how the minimum points of $|f|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}|^2$ depend on the curvature of $\partial \Omega$.

We first establish the mixed monotonicity on h_0 , of the solution of (2.14) satisfying (2.12). Existence of such solution has been proved in Proposition 2.2. For simplicity of notation, we take positive constants $h_1 > h_2$, and denote the solution (f_0, Q_0^1) of (2.14) with $h_0 = h_i$ by (f_i, g_i) , i = 1, 2. So (f_i, g_i) is the solution of the following problem:

$$\begin{cases} -\frac{1}{\kappa^2} (f_i)'' = (1 - |f_i|^2 - |g_i|^2) f_i & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ -(g_i)'' + |f_i|^2 g_i = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ (f_i)'(0) = 0, \quad f_i(\infty) = 1, \\ (g_i)'(0) = -h_i, \quad g_i(\infty) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

Theorem 5.1 Let (f_i, g_i) be the solution of (5.1) satisfying

$$\inf_{\mathbb{R}_+} (|f_i|^2 - |g_i|^2) \ge \frac{1}{3} + \delta^2$$

D Springer

for i = 1, 2. If $h_1 > h_2 > 0$, then

$$f_1(z_2) < f_2(z_2), \quad g_1(z_2) > g_2(z_2) \quad for \ all \ z_2 \ge 0.$$

Proof We prove the monotonicity property by an iterative method. As the process is very technical, we describe the main idea of the proof first.

We first let $f_i^{(0)} = 1$, and solve the second equation of (5.1) with $f_i = f_i^{(0)}$, together with the boundary conditions given on the last line of (5.1), and get $g_i^{(0)}$.

Next we solve the first equation of (5.1) with $g_i = g_i^{(0)}$, together with the boundary conditions given on the third line, and obtain the solution $f_i^{(1)}$.

Then we solve the second equation of (5.1) again but with $f_i = f_i^{(1)}$, together with the boundary conditions on the last line, and obtain the solution $g_i^{(1)}$.

Then we solve the first equation of (5.1) again but with $g_i = g_i^{(1)}$, together with the boundary conditions on the third line, and obtain the solution $f_i^{(2)}$.

We iterate this process and obtain two sequences

$$\{(f_i^{(k)}, g_i^{(k)})\}_{k=1}^{\infty}, i = 1, 2.$$

We claim that these two sequences have the following mixed monotonicity property:

(i) For each i = 1, 2,

$$1 \ge f_i^{(k)} > f_i^{(k+1)} > \frac{\sqrt{3}}{3}, \qquad 0 < g_i^{(k)} < g_i^{(k+1)} < \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}, \quad \text{for all } k = 1, 2, \cdots.$$

(ii)

$$f_1^{(k)} < f_2^{(k)}, \quad g_1^{(k)} > g_2^{(k)}, \text{ for all } k = 1, 2, \cdots.$$

The monotonicity properties (i) and (ii) will be proved later, see step 2 and step 3 in the detailed proof.

From the monotonicity property (i), and by the elliptic estimates, the sequence $(f_i^{(k)}, g_i^{(k)})$ converges in $C_{loc}^{2,\alpha}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ to a solution (f_i, g_i) of (5.1).

From the monotonicity property (ii), we can show that $f_1(z_2) \leq f_2(z_2)$ and $g_1(z_2) \geq g_2(z_2)$ for all $z_2 \geq 0$. Then by the maximum principle we can show that the strict inequalities hold for $z_2 > 0$.

Now we give the detailed proof of the theorem.

Step 1. Set $f^{(0)} = 1$. Let $g_1^{(0)}$ and $g_2^{(0)}$ be the solutions of the following equations

$$\begin{cases} -(g_1^{(0)})'' + |f^{(0)}|^2 g_1^{(0)} = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ (g_1^{(0)})'(0) = -h_1, \quad (g_1^{(0)})(\infty) = 0, \end{cases}$$

Deringer

and

$$\begin{cases} -(g_2^{(0)})'' + |f^{(0)}|^2 g_2^{(0)} = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ (g_2^{(0)})'(0) = -h_2, \quad (g_2^{(0)})(\infty) = 0, \end{cases}$$

respectively. It is easy to see that

$$g_1^{(0)}(z_2) = h_1 e^{-z_2} > g_2^{(0)}(z_2) = h_2 e^{-z_2}$$
 for all $z_2 \ge 0$.

Step 2. Let $g_{h_1} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$ and $g_{h_2} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$ be two given smooth functions and assume that $\frac{\sqrt{6}}{3} > g_{h_1}(z_2) > g_{h_2}(z_2) > 0$ for all $z_2 \ge 0$. Let $p_1(z_2)$ and $p_2(z_2)$ be the solutions of the following two problems

$$\begin{cases} -\frac{1}{\kappa^2} p_1'' = (1 - |p_1|^2 - |g_{h_1}|^2) p_1 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ p_1(\infty) = 1, \quad p_1'(0) = 0, \end{cases}$$

and

$$\begin{cases} -\frac{1}{\kappa^2} p_2'' = (1 - |p_2|^2 - |g_{h_2}|^2) p_2 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ p_2(\infty) = 1, \quad p_2'(0) = 0, \end{cases}$$

respectively. The existence and the uniqueness of the solution p_1 follows from the minimization problem of the functional

$$\min_{f \in \mathscr{W}} \int_0^\infty \left\{ \frac{1}{\kappa^2} |f'(z_2)|^2 + |f(z_2)|^2 |g_{h_1}(z_2)|^2 + \frac{1}{2} (1 - |f(z_2)|^2)^2 \right\} dz_2,$$

where

$$\mathscr{W} = \left\{ u : u', \quad 1 - u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+), \quad u \in L^\infty(\mathbb{R}_+) \right\}.$$

It is easy to see that $p_1 \ge 0$. By the standard elliptic estimates, the solution p_1 is smooth, and hence $p_1 > 0$. Similarly, we have $p_2 > 0$.

Claim 1 $p_1(z_2) \le p_2(z_2)$ for all $z_2 \ge 0$.

Suppose otherwise Claim 1 were false. Then there exist $z_2^0 \in [0, \infty)$ and $z_2^1 \in (z_2^0, \infty]$ such that

$$p_1(z_2^0) \ge p_2(z_2^0), \quad p_1(z_2^1) = p_2(z_2^1), \quad p_1(z_2) > p_2(z_2) \text{ for all } z_2 \in (z_2^0, z_2^1).$$

(5.2)

This gives that

$$p'_2(z_2^0) \le p'_1(z_2^0), \quad p'_2(z_2^1) \ge p'_1(z_2^1).$$
 (5.3)

D Springer

Indeed, if $z_2^0 = 0$, then $p'_2(z_2^0) = p'_1(z_2^0) = 0$; if $0 < z_2^0 < \infty$, then $p_2(z_2^0) = p_1(z_2^0)$, and $p'_2(z_2^0) \le p'_1(z_2^0)$ because of the last inequality in (5.2). So the first inequality in (5.3) is true. If $z_2^1 = \infty$, then $p'_2(z_2^1) = p'_1(z_2^1) = 0$; if $0 < z_2^1 < \infty$, then $p_2(z_2^1) = p_1(z_2^1)$, and $p'_2(z_2^1) \ge p'_1(z_2^1)$ because of the last inequality in (5.2). Therefore the second inequality in (5.3) is true.

From the equations for p_1 and p_2 we have

$$-\frac{1}{\kappa^2}(p_1p_2'-p_2p_1')'=p_1p_2\left(|p_1|^2-|p_2|^2-|g_{h_2}|^2+|g_{h_1}|^2\right).$$

Integrating the above equality from z_2^0 to z_2^1 , we then find that the left side of the resulted equality is

$$\frac{1}{\kappa^2}(p_1p_2'-p_2p_1')(z_2^0)-\frac{1}{\kappa^2}(p_1p_2'-p_2p_1')(z_2^1)\leq 0.$$

However the right side of the resulted equality is

$$\int_{z_2^0}^{z_2^1} p_1 p_2 \left(|p_1|^2 - |p_2|^2 - |g_{h_2}|^2 + |g_{h_1}|^2 \right) dz_2 > 0,$$

so we get a contradiction. Therefore Claim 1 is true.

Claim 2 $p_1(z_2) < p_2(z_2)$ for all $z_2 \ge 0$.

To prove this, let $w(z_2) = p_1(z_2) - p_2(z_2)$. From the equations of p_1 and p_2 we have

$$-\frac{1}{\kappa^2}w'' = w(1 - |p_1|^2 - |p_2|^2 - p_1p_2 - |g_{h_2}|^2) + (|g_{h_2}|^2 - |g_{h_1}|^2)p_1.$$
(5.4)

Suppose there exists $z_2^3 \in [0, \infty)$ such that $w(z_2^3) = 0$. Then we have

$$w'(z_2^3) = 0;$$
 $w''(z_2^3) \le 0$ if $z_2^3 > 0,$ $\lim_{z \to 0^+} w''(z) \le 0$ if $z_2^3 = 0.$ (5.5)

In fact, $w(z_2)$ is non-positive for any $z_2 \ge 0$, and $w(z_2^3) = 0$, so z_2^3 is a maximum point of w. If $z_2^3 > 0$, then we have obviously $w'(z_2^3) = 0$ and $w''(z_2^3) \le 0$. If $z_2^3 = 0$, then $w'(0) = p'_1(0) - p'_2(0) = 0$, which together with the fact that z_2^3 is a maximum point implies the last inequality in (5.5).

Note that

$$(|g_{h_2}|^2(z_2) - |g_{h_1}|^2(z_2))p_1(z_2) < 0$$
 for all $z_2 > 0$.

Then by (5.4) and by noting that $w(z_2^3) = 0$, we have that

$$w''(z_2^3) > 0$$
 if $z_2^3 > 0$, $\lim_{z \to 0^+} w''(z) > 0$ if $z_2^3 = 0$.

🖄 Springer

This is a contradiction to (5.5). Therefore Claim 2 is true.

Step 3. Let $f_{h_1}(z_2)$ and $f_{h_2}(z_2)$ be given functions and assume that $0 < f_{h_1}(z_2) \le f_{h_2}(z_2) < 1$ for all $z_2 \ge 0$. Let q_1 and q_2 be the solutions of the following problems

$$\begin{cases} -q_1'' + f_{h_1}^2 q_1 = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ q_1'(0) = -h_1, \quad q_1(\infty) = 0, \end{cases}$$

and

$$\begin{cases} -q_2'' + f_{h_2}^2 q_2 = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ q_2'(0) = -h_2, \quad q_2(\infty) = 0, \end{cases}$$

respectively. We show that

$$q_1(z_2) > q_2(z_2)$$
 for all $z_2 \ge 0.$ (5.6)

To prove (5.6), we introduce a function q_3 which is a solution of the following equation:

$$\begin{cases} -q_3'' + f_{h_2}^2 q_3 = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ q_3'(0) = -h_1, \quad q_3(\infty) = 0. \end{cases}$$

By the maximum principle, it is easy to see that, for any $z_2 > 0$,

$$q'_i(z_2) < 0, \quad q_i(z_2) > 0 \quad \text{for } i = 1, 2, 3.$$

Claim 3 $q_1(z_2) \ge q_3(z_2)$ for all $z_2 \ge 0$, and $q_1(z_2) > q_3(z_2)$ for all $z_2 \ge 0$ if $0 < f_{h_1}(z_2) < f_{h_2}(z_2) < 1$.

Suppose Claim 3 were false. Then there exists $z_2^4 \in [0, \infty)$ and $z_2^5 \in (z_2^4, \infty]$ such that

$$q_1(z_2) < q_3(z_2) \quad \text{for } z_2 \in (z_2^4, z_2^5)$$
 (5.7)

and

$$q_{1}(z_{2}^{4}) \leq q_{3}(z_{2}^{4}), \quad q_{1}'(z_{2}^{4}) \leq q_{3}'(z_{2}^{4}) < 0,$$

$$q_{1}(z_{2}^{5}) = q_{3}(z_{2}^{5}), \quad q_{3}'(z_{2}^{5}) \leq q_{1}'(z_{2}^{5}) < 0.$$
(5.8)

From the equations for q_1 and q_3 we find

$$(q_1q'_3 - q_3q'_1)' = q_1q_3\left(|f_{h_2}|^2 - |f_{h_1}|^2\right).$$
(5.9)

Integrating (5.9) from z_2^4 to z_2^5 we get

$$0 \leq \int_{z_2^4}^{z_2^5} q_1 q_3 \left(|f_{h_2}|^2 - |f_{h_1}|^2 \right) dz_2$$

= $(q_1 q_3' - q_3 q_1')(z_2^5) - (q_1 q_3' - q_3 q_1')(z_2^4) \leq 0.$ (5.10)

Then, since $f_{h_2}(z_2) \ge f_{h_1}(z_2) > 0$ for all $z_2 \ge 0$, $g_1(z_2)$ and $g_3(z_2)$ are positive functions, we must have

$$f_{h_2}(z_2) = f_{h_1}(z_2)$$
 for all $z_2 \in (z_2^4, z_2^5)$.

Moreover, we have $q_1(z_2^4) = q_3(z_2^4)$ and $q'_1(z_2^4) = q'_3(z_2^4)$ by (5.10), which gives that $q_1(z_2) = q_3(z_2)$ for $z_2 \in (z_2^4, z_2^5)$ by the uniqueness of the solutions for the initial value problem. This is a contradiction to (5.7). By a similar proof, using (5.10) again we have $q_1(z_2) > q_3(z_2)$ for all $z_2 \ge 0$ if $0 < f_{h_1}(z_2) < f_{h_2}(z_2) < 1$. Therefore Claim 3 is true.

Claim 4 $q_3(z_2) > q_2(z_2)$ for all $z_2 \ge 0$.

Suppose Claim 4 were false. Then there exists $z_2^6 \in [0, \infty)$ and $z_2^7 \in (z_2^6, \infty]$ such that

$$q_3(z_2^6) \le q_2(z_2^6), \quad q'_3(z_2^6) \le q'_2(z_2^6) < 0, q_3(z_2^7) = q_2(z_2^7), \quad q'_2(z_2^7) \le q'_3(z_2^7) < 0.$$

From the equations for q_2 and q_3 we have

$$(q_2q'_3 - q_3q'_2)' = 0$$
 for all $z_2 > 0$.

Integrating this equality from z_2^6 to z_2^7 we get

$$(q_2q'_3 - q_3q'_2)(z_2^7) = (q_2q'_3 - q_3q'_2)(z_2^6).$$
(5.11)

For the left side term in (5.11) we have

$$q_2(z_2^7)q_3'(z_2^7) - q_3(z_2^7)q_2'(z_2^7) = q_2(z_2^7)(q_3'(z_2^7) - q_2'(z_2^7)) \ge 0.$$

If $z_2^6 = 0$, then the right side term in (5.11) is

$$q_2(0)q'_3(0) - q_3(0)q'_2(0) = -q_2(0)h_1 + q_3(0)h_2 \le q_2(0)(h_2 - h_1) < 0,$$

which is a contradiction.

If $z_2^6 > 0$, then from (5.11) we have

$$0 \le q_2(z_2^6)q'_3(z_2^6) - q_3(z_2^6)q'_2(z_2^6) = [q_2(z_2^6) - q_3(z_2^6)]q'_3(z_2^6) + q_3(z_2^6)[q'_3(z_2^6) - q'_3(z_2^6)].$$

Each term in the right side of the above equality is non-positive. So we must have $q_2(z_2^6) = q_3(z_2^6)$ and $q'_2(z_2^6) = q'_3(z_2^6)$. Then we apply the existence and uniqueness theorem for the initial value problems of ordinary differential equations on the interval $[0, z_2^6]$, and find that $q_2(z_2) = q_3(z_2)$ for all $z_2 \in [0, z_2^6]$. In particular

$$-h_2 = q_2'(0) = q_3'(0) = -h_1,$$

which is a contradiction to the assumption that $h_1 > h_2$. Now Claim 4 is proved.

Combining Claims 3 and 4 we conclude that

$$q_1(z_2) \ge q_3(z_2) > q_2(z_2)$$
 for all $z_2 > 0$.

Now (5.6) has been proved.

Step 4. Let i = 1, 2 and $k \ge 0$. Assume $f_i^{(k)}$ and $f_i^{(k+1)}$ are two given functions satisfying

$$0 < f_i^{(k+1)}(z_2) < f_i^{(k)}(z_2) < 1 \text{ for all } z_2 \ge 0,$$

and h_i is a given constant. Let $g_i^{(k)}$ and $g_i^{(k+1)}$ be the solutions of the following two problems

$$\begin{cases} -(g_i^{(k)})'' + |f_i^{(k)}|^2 g_i^{(k)} = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ (g_i^{(k)})'(0) = -h_i, \quad g_i^{(k)}(\infty) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(5.12)

and

$$\begin{cases} -(g_i^{(k+1)})'' + |f_i^{(k+1)}|^2 g_i^{(k+1)} = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ (g_i^{(k+1)})'(0) = -h_i, \quad g_i^{(k+1)}(\infty) = 0, \end{cases}$$

respectively. From Claim 3 in step 3 we see that

$$g_i^{(k)}(z_2) < g_i^{(k+1)}(z_2)$$
 for all $z_2 \ge 0$.

Let i = 1, 2 and $k \ge 0$. Assume $g_i^{(k)}$ and $g_i^{(k+1)}$ are two given functions satisfying

$$0 < g_i^{(k)}(z_2) < g_i^{(k+1)}(z_2)$$
 for all $z_2 \ge 0$.

Let $f_i^{(k+1)}$ and $f_i^{(k+2)}$ be the solution of the following problems

$$\begin{cases} -\frac{1}{\kappa^2} (f_i^{(k+1)})'' = (1 - |f_i^{(k+1)}|^2 - |g_i^{(k)}|^2) f_i^{(k+1)} & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ (f_i^{(k+1)})'(0) = 0, \quad (f_i^{(k+1)})(\infty) = 1, \end{cases}$$
(5.13)

Deringer

and

$$\begin{cases} -\frac{1}{\kappa^2} (f_i^{(k+2)})'' = (1 - |f_i^{(k+1)}|^2 - |g_i^{(k+1)}|^2) f_i^{(k+2)} & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ (f_i^{(k+2)})'(0) = 0, \quad (f_i^{(k+2)})(\infty) = 1, \end{cases}$$

respectively. From step 2 we see that

$$0 < f_i^{(k+2)}(z_2) < f_i^{(k+1)}(z_2) \le 1$$
 for all $z_2 \ge 0$.

Step 5. Let i = 1, 2. Given constants h_1 and h_2 , let (f_i, g_i) be the unique solution of (5.1) satisfying

$$0 < f_i(z_2) < 1$$
, $g_i(z_2) > 0$ for all $z_2 \ge 0$.

We construct two sequences $\{f_i^{(k)}\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$ and $\{g_i^{(k)}\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$ as follows. First, we let $f_i^{(0)}(z_2) = 1$ for i = 1, 2. Then we obtain the sequences by induction as follows: if we know $f_i^{(k)}(z_2)$, then we solve the equation of (5.12) to obtain $g_i^{(k)}(z_2)$; if we know $g_i^{(k)}(z_2)$, then we solve the equation of (5.13) to obtain $f_i^{(k+1)}(z_2)$.

From Claim 3 in step 3, we have $g_i^{(0)}(z_2) < g_i(z_2)$ for all $z_2 \ge 0$, since $f_i(z_2) < f_i^{(0)}(z_2)$. Next using $g_i^{(0)}(z_2) < g_i(z_2)$, we have $f_i(z_2) < f_i^{(1)}(z_2)$ for all $z_2 \ge 0$ by Claim 2 in step 2. Then using $f_i(z_2) < f_i^{(1)}(z_2)$, we have $g_i^{(1)}(z_2) < g_i(z_2)$ for all $z_2 \ge 0$. By induction and from step 4, we finally obtain a sequence $(f_i^{(k)}, g_i^{(k)})$ satisfying, for all $z_2 \ge 0$,

$$1 = f_i^{(0)}(z_2) > f_i^{(1)}(z_2) > f_i^{(2)}(z_2) > \dots > f_i^{(k)}(z_2) > f_i^{(k+1)}(z_2) > \dots > f_i(z_2)$$

and

$$0 < g_i^{(0)}(z_2) < g_i^{(1)}(z_2) < g_i^{(2)}(z_2) < \dots < g_i^{(k)}(z_2) < g_i^{(k+1)}(z_2) < \dots < g_i(z_2).$$

Then, noting that $(f_i^{(k)}(z_2), g_i^{(k)}(z_2))$ satisfies the equations for f_i^k and g_i^k , using which we can derive the following estimate

$$\|f_i^{(k)}\|_{C^3(\mathbb{R}_+)} + \|g_i^{(k)}\|_{C^3(\mathbb{R}_+)} \le C_i,$$

where the norm $||f||_{C^3(\mathbb{R}_+)}$ is defined by

$$||f||_{C^{3}(\mathbb{R}_{+})} = \sum_{j=0}^{3} \sup_{z_{2} \in \mathbb{R}_{+}} |f^{(j)}(z_{2})|,$$

and the constant C_i depends only on f_i and g_i , and hence depends only on h_i for each *i*. So we can apply the Arzela's theorem and using the uniqueness of the solution to

(5.1), to derive

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} f_i^{(k)}(z_2) = f_i(z_2), \quad \lim_{k \to \infty} g_i^{(k)}(z_2) = g_i(z_2) \quad \text{for each } z_2 \ge 0, i = 1, 2.$$

From step 2 and step 3, we have

$$f_1^{(k)}(z_2) < f_2^{(k)}(z_2), \quad g_1^{(k)}(z_2) > g_2^{(k)}(z_2), \quad \text{for } z_2 \ge 0, \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots.$$

Therefore, $f_1(z_2) \leq f_2(z_2)$ and $g_1(z_2) \geq g_2(z_2)$ for all $z_2 \geq 0$. From step 3, we actually have $g_1(z_2) > g_2(z_2)$ for all $z_2 \geq 0$. Then applying the result of step 2, we finally obtain that $f_1(z_2) < f_2(z_2)$ and $g_1(z_2) > g_2(z_2)$ for all $z_2 \geq 0$.

Proof of Proposition 2.4 Step 1. We prove that (2.14) has a solution (f_0, Q_0^1) satisfying (2.12) when $h_0 = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{3}$. We construct sequences $\{f_i\}$ and $\{g_i\}$ which solve the following problems

$$\begin{cases} -(g_i)'' + (f_i)^2 g_i = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ (g_i)'(0) = -h_0, \quad g_i(\infty) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(5.14)

and

$$\begin{cases} -\frac{1}{\kappa^2}(f_{i+1})'' = (1 - |f_{i+1}|^2 - |g_i|^2)f_{i+1} & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ (f_{i+1})'(0) = 0, \quad (f_{i+1})(\infty) = 1. \end{cases}$$
(5.15)

In this step we always let $h_0 = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{3}$.

Let $f_0 = \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}$. Solving the equation (5.14) for i = 0, we get that $g_0 = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{3}e^{-\sqrt{6}z_2/3}$. Then we look for f_1 which solves (5.15) for i = 0 and $g_0 = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{3}e^{-\sqrt{6}z_2/3}$. In fact, f_1 can be obtained by minimization:

$$\min_{\substack{\nabla f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+), \\ 1-f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+), 0 \le f \le 1}} \int_0^\infty \left\{ \frac{1}{\kappa^2} |f'(z_2)|^2 + |f(z_2)|^2 |g_0(z_2)|^2 + \frac{1}{2} (1 - |f(z_2)|^2)^2 \right\} dz_2.$$

Using the fact that: $t^2 |g_0|^2 + \frac{1}{2}(1-t^2)^2$ is monotonically decreasing with respect to t if $g_0^2 \le \frac{1}{3}$ and $0 < t \le \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}$. Then we have

$$|f(z_2)|^2 |g_0(z_2)|^2 + \frac{1}{2} (1 - |f(z_2)|^2)^2 \ge \left(\frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}\right)^2 |g_0(z_2)|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \left(\frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}\right)^2\right)^2$$

if $f(z_2) \leq \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}$. Therefore, the solution f_1 satisfies $f_1(z_2) \geq \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}$ for all $z_2 \geq 0$. Actually, by the maximum principle, we have $f_1(z_2) > \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}$ for all $z_2 \geq 0$. Repeating this process we can solve equation (5.14) and equation (5.15) in turn to find the sequences $\{f_i\}$ and $\{g_i\}$. In particular, from step 3 in Theorem 5.1 (see Claim 3) we have $g_0(z_2) > g_1(z_2)$ for all $z_2 \ge 0$, since $f_0(z_2) < f_1(z_2)$; then from step 2 in Theorem 5.1 we have $f_1(z_2) < f_2(z_2)$ for all $z_2 \ge 0$. Repeating using step 2 and step 3 in Theorem 5.1, we obtain that, for all $z_2 \ge 0$,

$$\frac{\sqrt{6}}{3} = f_0(z_2) < f_1(z_2) < f_2(z_2) < f_3(z_2) < \dots < 1,$$

$$\frac{\sqrt{3}}{3} \ge g_0(z_2) > g_1(z_2) > g_2(z_2) > g_3(z_2) > \dots > 0.$$
 (5.16)

From the proof of step 5 in Theorem 5.1, the limit

$$(\lim_{i \to \infty} f_i(z_2), \lim_{i \to \infty} g_i(z_2)) := (f^{\sqrt{2}/3}(z_2), g^{\sqrt{2}/3}(z_2))$$

is the solution of (2.14) satisfying (2.12) when $h_0 = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{3}$.

Step 2. We prove that (2.14) has a solution $(f_0, Q_0^{\vec{1}})$ satisfying (2.12) when $0 < h_0 < \frac{\sqrt{2}}{3}$. Let $(f^{\sqrt{2}/3}(z_2), g^{\sqrt{2}/3}(z_2))$ be the solution obtained in step 1 when $h_0 = \sqrt{2}/3$. For any given $0 < h_1 < \sqrt{2}/3$, similar to the construction of the sequences (f_i, g_i) in (5.16), we first let $f_0^{h_1}(z_2) = f^{\sqrt{2}/3}(z_2)$, and solve the equation (5.14) with $h_0 = h_1$ and $f_0(z_2) = f_0^{h_1}(z_2)$, then we can obtain the solution $g_0^{h_1}(z_2) < g^{\sqrt{2}/3}(z_2)$ for all $z_2 \ge 0$ by step 3 in Theorem 5.1; next we solve the equation (5.15) with $g_0(z_2) = g_0^h(z_2)$ to obtain the solution $f_1^{h_1}(z_2)$, and $f_1^{h_1}(z_2) > f_0^{h_1}(z_2)$ for all $z_2 \ge 0$ by step 2 in Theorem 5.1. Repeating solving (5.14) and (5.15), we obtain a sequence $(f_i^{h_1}, g_i^{h_1})$ satisfying

$$f^{\sqrt{2}/3}(z_2) = f_0^{h_1}(z_2) < f_1^{h_1}(z_2) < f_2^{h_1}(z_2) < f_3^{h_1}(z_2) < \dots < 1,$$

$$g^{\sqrt{2}/3}(z_2) > g_0^{h_1}(z_2) > g_1(z_2)^{h_1}(z_2) > g_2^{h_1}(z_2) > g_3^{h_1}(z_2) > \dots > 0$$

for all $z_2 \ge 0$. Using the proof of step 5 in Theorem 5.1 again, the limit

$$(\lim_{i \to \infty} f_i^{h_1}(z_2), \lim_{i \to \infty} g_i^{h_1}(z_2))$$

is the solution of (2.14) satisfying (2.12) when $h_0 = h_1 < \frac{\sqrt{2}}{3}$.

Step 3. We prove that (2.14) has no solutions satisfying (2.12) when $h_0 = \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}$. Solving the equation (5.14) when $h_0 = \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}$ and $f_0(z_2) = 1$, we obtain that $g_0(z_2) = \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}e^{-z_2}$. If there exists a solution ($f^*(z_2), g^*(z_2)$) to equation (2.14) satisfying (2.12) when $h_0 = \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}$, then from step 2 and step 3 in Theorem 5.1, it follows that $0 < \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}e^{-z_2}$. $f^*(z_2) \le 1$, $g^*(z_2) \ge g_0(z_2) > 0$. Therefore,

$$\min_{z_2 \in \mathbb{R}_+} \left((f^*(z_2))^2 - (g^*(z_2))^2 \right) \le \min_{z_2 \in \mathbb{R}_+} \left(1 - g_0^2(z_2) \right) = \frac{1}{3}.$$

This is a contradiction with (2.12). This shows that there does not exist solutions of (2.14) satisfying (2.12) when $h_0 = \frac{\sqrt{6}}{3}$. We now have the bound of h^* .

Next we establish the mixed monotonicity of the solution of (2.20) on the parameter k_0 in the equations. For this purpose, we take two real constants $k_1 < k_2$, and compare the solutions $(f_{1,i}, Q_{1,i}^1)$, i = 1, 2, of (2.20) with k_0 equal to k_i . For the convenience of our discussion we write the equations for $(f_{1,i}, Q_{1,i}^1)$ as follows:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{1}{\kappa^2} (-f_{1,i}'' + k_i f_0') = (1 - 3|f_0|^2 - |Q_0^1|^2) f_{1,i} - 2f_0 Q_0^1 Q_{1,i}^1 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ (-(Q_{1,i}^1)'' + k_i (Q_0^1)') + |f_0|^2 Q_{1,i}^1 + 2f_0 Q_0^1 f_{1,i} = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ f_{1,i}'(0) = 0, \quad (Q_{1,i}^1)'(0) = k_i Q_0^1(0) & \text{on } z_2 = 0. \end{cases}$$

In (5.17) the functions f_0 and Q_0^1 are the solutions to equations (2.14).

Theorem 5.2 Let i = 1, 2, and let $(f_{1,i}, Q_{1,i}^1) \in H^1(\mathbb{R}_+) \times H^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$ be the solution of (5.17). If $k_1 < k_2$, then we have

$$f_{1,1}(z_2) > f_{1,2}(z_2), \quad Q_{1,1}^1(z_2) \le Q_{1,2}^1(z_2) \text{ for all } z_2 \ge 0.$$

Proof Note that (5.17) is a linear equation of $(f_{1,i}, Q_{1,i}^1)$, and when f_0 and Q_0^1 are fixed, the equation is linear in k_i . Hence in order to prove the conclusion, it suffices to prove that if $k_1 > 0$, then

$$f_{1,1}(z_2) < 0$$
, $Q_{1,1}^1(z_2) > 0$ for all $z_2 \ge 0$.

Note that the solution $(f_{1,1}, Q_{1,1}^1)$ is the unique minimizer of the following minimization problem

$$\min_{(f_{1,1},Q_{1,1}^1)\in H^1(\mathbb{R}_+)\times H^1(\mathbb{R}_+)} \int_{\mathbb{R}_+} J[f_{1,1},Q_{1,1}^1]dz_2$$

where

$$J[f_{1,1}, Q_{1,1}^{1}] = \frac{1}{\kappa^{2}} |f_{1,1}^{'}|^{2} + |(Q_{1,1}^{1})^{'}|^{2} + (3|f_{0}|^{2} + |Q_{0}^{1}|^{2} - 1)|f_{1,1}|^{2} + 4f_{0}Q_{0}^{1}f_{1,1}Q_{1,1}^{1}$$
$$+ |f_{0}|^{2} |Q_{1,1}^{1}|^{2} + 2k_{1}(Q_{0}^{1})^{'}Q_{1,1}^{1} + \frac{2}{\kappa^{2}}k_{1}f_{0}^{'}f_{1,1}.$$

From Proposition 2.2, we have

 $0 < f_0(z_2) < 1, \quad f_0'(z_2) > 0, \quad Q_0^1(z_2) > 0, \quad (Q_0^1)'(z_2) < 0 \text{ for all } z_2 > 0.$

It follows that

$$J[-|f_{1,1}|, |Q_{1,1}^1|] \le J[f_{1,1}, Q_{1,1}^1].$$

This shows that the unique solution $(f_{1,1}, Q_{1,1}^1)$ of (5.17) satisfies

$$f_{1,1}(z_2) \le 0$$
, $Q_{1,1}^1(z_2) \ge 0$ for all $z_2 \ge 0$.

Suppose there exists a point $z_2^0 \ge 0$ such that $f_{1,1}(z_2^0) = 0$. Then z_2^0 is a maximum point of $f_{1,1}$. If $z_2^0 > 0$, then we obviously have $f_{1,1}''(z_2^0) \le 0$. However, this is a contradiction, because from this and by the first equation of (5.17) we have

$$0 < -\frac{1}{\kappa^2} (f_{1,1}^{''} - k_1 f_0^{'})(z_2^0) = \left[(1 - 3f_0^2 - (Q_0^1)^2) f_{1,1} - 2f_0 Q_0^1 Q_{1,1}^1 \right] (z_2^0) \le 0.$$

If $z_2^0 = 0$, since $f'_{1,1}(0) = 0$ and

$$2f_0 Q_0^1 Q_{1,1}^1 + \frac{1}{\kappa^2} (k_1 f_0') > 0 \quad \text{if } z_2 > 0,$$

then there exists $\sigma > 0$ such that for $z_2 \in (0, \sigma)$ we have

$$\frac{1}{\kappa^2}(f_{1,1}^{''}) = (3|f_0|^2 + |Q_0^1|^2 - 1)f_{1,1} + 2f_0Q_0^1Q_{1,1}^1 + \frac{1}{\kappa^2}(k_1f_0^{'}) \ge 0 \ (\neq 0).$$

Therefore, $f_{1,1}(z_2) \ge 0 \ (\neq 0)$ for $z_2 \in (0, \sigma)$. This is a contradiction with $f_{1,1}(z_2) \le 0$. Thus we have $f_{1,1}(z_2) < 0$ for any $z_2 \ge 0$ We finish the proof of this theorem. \Box

Proof of Theorem 1.2 From Theorem 1.1 we know that $1 - f_{\lambda}$ and \mathbf{Q}_{λ} decay exponentially in the normal direction away from the boundary $\partial \Omega$. Therefore, in order to prove Theorem 1.2 we only need to analyze the asymptotic expansion of $(f_{\lambda}, \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda})$ near the boundary $\partial \Omega$.

Let \mathcal{N}_0 be a neighbourhood of a point on $\partial\Omega$ in the *x*-coordinates, and let $(\hat{f}, \hat{\mathbf{Q}})$ be the representations of $(f_{\lambda}, \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda})$ under the *y*-coordinates (see section 2). Then, in the coordinates (y_1, z_2) with $z_2 = y_2/\lambda$, \hat{f}_{λ} and $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{\lambda}$ have the following representations:

$$\hat{f}_{\lambda}(y) = \hat{f}_{0}(y_{1}, z_{2}) + \lambda \hat{f}_{1}(y_{1}, z_{2}) + R_{f}(y_{1}, z_{2}, \lambda),$$
$$\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{\lambda}(y) = \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{0}(y_{1}, z_{2}) + \lambda \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{1}(y_{1}, z_{2}) + \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}(y_{1}, z_{2}, \lambda).$$

The leading order terms $\hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2)$ and $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(y_1, z_2) = (\hat{Q}_0^1(y_1, z_2), 0)$ satisfy, for each fixed y_1 , the following problem in the variable z_2 :

$$\begin{cases} -\frac{1}{\kappa^2} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z_2^2} \hat{f}_0 = (1 - |\hat{f}_0|^2 - |\hat{Q}_0^1|^2) \hat{f}_0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ -\frac{\partial^2}{\partial z_2^2} \hat{Q}_0^1 + |\hat{f}_0|^2 \hat{Q}_0^1 = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ \partial_{z_2} \hat{f}_0(y_1, 0) = 0, \quad \partial_{z_2} \hat{Q}_0^1(y_1, 0) = -\hat{\mathcal{H}}^e(y_1), \\ \hat{f}_0(y_1, \infty) = 1, \quad \hat{Q}_0^1(y_1, \infty) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(5.18)

where $\hat{\mathcal{H}}^{e}(y_1)$ is the value of \mathcal{H}^{e} at the point $x = \psi(y_1, 0) \in \partial \Omega$ and $\psi(\cdot, \cdot)$ is defined by (2.1).

The first order terms $\hat{f}_1(y_1, z_2)$ and $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_1(y_1, z_2) = (\hat{Q}_1^1(y_1, z_2), \hat{Q}_1^2(y_1, z_2))$ satisfy, for any fixed y_1 , the following problem in the variable z_2 :

$$\begin{cases} \frac{1}{\kappa^2} (-\frac{\partial^2}{\partial z_2^2} \hat{f}_1 + k(y_1) \partial_{z_2} \hat{f}_0) = (1 - 3|\hat{f}_0|^2 - |\hat{Q}_0^1|^2) \hat{f}_1 - 2\hat{f}_0 \hat{Q}_0^1 \hat{Q}_1^1 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ (-\frac{\partial^2}{\partial z_2^2} \hat{Q}_1^1 + k(y_1) \partial_{z_2} \hat{Q}_0^1) + |\hat{f}_0|^2 \hat{Q}_1^1 + 2\hat{f}_0 \hat{Q}_0^1 \hat{f}_1 = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ \partial_{z_2} \hat{f}_1(y_1, 0) = 0, \quad \partial_{z_2} \hat{Q}_1^1(y_1, 0) = 0, \\ \hat{f}_1(y_1, \infty) = 1, \quad \hat{Q}_1^1(y_1, \infty) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(5.19)

where $k(y_1)$ is the curvature of $\partial \Omega$ at the point $x = \psi(y_1, 0)$.

The error terms R_f and $\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}$ defined in (3.6) satisfy the following inequality

$$|R_f(y_1, z_2, \lambda)| + |\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}(y_1, z_2, \lambda)| \le C\lambda^2, \quad \text{for any } x = \psi(y_1, \lambda z_2) \in \mathcal{N}_0,$$

where the constant *C* depends only on Ω , \mathcal{H}^e , κ and δ , but not on λ and x, see Theorem 3.4.

Using the fact that $\hat{Q}_0^2(y_1, z_2) \equiv 0$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\hat{f}_{\lambda}(y_{1}, z_{2})|^{2} &- |\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{\lambda}(y_{1}, z_{2})|^{2} \\ &= (|\hat{f}_{0}(y_{1}, z_{2})|^{2} - |\hat{Q}_{0}^{1}(y_{1}, z_{2})|^{2}) \\ &+ \lambda(2\hat{f}_{0}(y_{1}, z_{2})\hat{f}_{1}(y_{1}, z_{2}) - 2\hat{Q}_{0}^{1}(y_{1}, z_{2})\hat{Q}_{1}^{1}(y_{1}, z_{2})) + O(\lambda^{2}). \end{aligned}$$
(5.20)

We first check the leading order term $|\hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2)|^2 - |\hat{Q}_0^1(y_1, z_2)|^2$ in the right side of (5.20). From Proposition 2.2 we know that, for any fixed y_1 we have

$$\hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2) > 0, \quad \hat{Q}_0^1(y_1, z_2) > 0,$$

 $\partial_{z_2} \hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2) > 0, \quad (\partial_{z_2} \hat{Q}_0^1)(y_1, z_2) < 0 \text{ for all } z_2 > 0.$

🖉 Springer

Hence $|\hat{f}_0(y_1, z_0)|^2 - |\hat{Q}_0^1(y_1, z_2)|^2$ has a strict minimum at some point $(y_1, 0)$, which implies that $|f_{\lambda}(x)|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}(x)|^2$ has a strict minimum on the domain boundary $\partial \Omega$.

Next we examine the location of the minimum points of $|f_{\lambda}(x)|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}(x)|^2$ on boundary $\partial \Omega$. It follows from Theorem 5.1 that the function $\hat{f}_0(y_1, 0)$ is strictly decreasing with respect to the value of $\hat{\mathcal{H}}^e(y_1)$, and $\hat{\mathcal{Q}}_0^1(y_1, 0)$ is strictly increasing with respect to the value of $\hat{\mathcal{H}}^e(y_1)$. Therefore, the minimum points of $|\hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2)|^2 - |\hat{\mathcal{Q}}_0^1(y_1, z_2)|^2$ are located at the maximum points of $\hat{\mathcal{H}}^e(y_1)$. Since the function $2\hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2)\hat{f}_1(y_1, z_2) - 2\hat{\mathcal{Q}}_0^1(y_1, z_2)\hat{\mathcal{Q}}_1^1(y_1, z_2)$ is uniformly bounded, from (5.20) we see that the minimum points of $|\hat{f}_{\lambda}(y)|^2 - |\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{\lambda}(y)|^2$ approach the set $\partial \Omega(\mathcal{H}^e)$ defined by (1.11) for small λ .

Note that the set $\partial \Omega(\mathcal{H}^e)$ may be large. To get more precise information about the location in $\partial \Omega(\mathcal{H}^e)$ of the minimum points of $|f_{\lambda}(x)|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}(x)|^2$, we need to check the values of the first order term

$$W(y_1) \equiv 2\hat{f}_0(y_1, 0)\hat{f}_1(y_1, 0) - 2\hat{Q}_0^1(y_1, 0)\hat{Q}_1^1(y_1, 0)$$

among all $y_1 \in C$, where

$$\mathcal{C} = \{ y_1 : x = \psi(y_1, 0) \in \partial \Omega(\mathcal{H}^e) \}.$$

Note that both functions $\hat{f}_1(y_1, 0)$ and $\hat{Q}_1^1(y_1, 0)$ depend on the curvature $k(y_1)$ of $\partial\Omega$, see (5.19). From Theorem 5.2, we see that $\hat{f}_1(y_1, 0)$ is strictly decreasing with respect to $k(y_1)$, and $\hat{Q}_1^1(y_1, 0)$ is increasing with respect to $k(y_1)$. Therefore, $W(y_1)$ is strictly decreasing with respect to $k(y_1)$, and hence the minimum points of $W(y_1)$ are located at the maximum points of $k(y_1)$ on C.

Note that

$$\psi(\mathcal{C}) = S(\mathcal{H}^e),$$

where $S(\mathcal{H}^e)$ is the set defined in (1.12). Then the minimum points of $|f_{\lambda}(x)|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}(x)|^2$ must sub-converge to the set $S(\mathcal{H}^e)$ as $\lambda \to 0$ (see Definition 3 in section 1). Now Theorem 1.2 is proved.

6 Further remarks

6.1 Chapman's conjecture on vortex nucleation

Consider an applied magnetic field $\mathcal{H}^e = \sigma \mathcal{H}$, where \mathcal{H} is a continuous and positivevalued function on $\overline{\Omega}$ and $\sigma > 0$. Let $(f^{\sigma}, \mathbf{Q}^{\sigma})$ be a Meissner solution of (1.1). Theorem 1.2 suggests that, if the penetration depth λ is sufficiently small, then, as the applied magnetic field increases to a critical value $\sigma_0 = H_S(\mathcal{H})$, the minimum value $d_{f^{\sigma},\mathbf{Q}^{\sigma}}$ will approach the value 1/3 from above, and the minimum points of $|f^{\sigma}|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}^{\sigma}|^2$ will sub-converge to the maximum points of \mathcal{H} over the set $\partial \Omega(\mathcal{H})$. In particular, if $\mathcal{H}^e = h$ is a positive constant and increases to H_S , the minimum points of $|f^{\sigma}|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}^{\sigma}|^2$ will sub-converge to the maximum points of the curvature of domain boundary. Therefore it is natural to generalize Chapman's conjecture in [7] to the case where the Ginzburg-Landau parameter is finite and the applied field is non-constant.

We first note that, under the assumption that the minimum of $|f^{\sigma}|$ is continuous with respect to the parameter σ , and by the definition of $\sigma_0 = H_{sh}(\mathcal{H})$, f^{σ_0} has zero points which are called the *vortices*, while for all $0 < \sigma < \sigma_0$, f^{σ} has no zero points, Then we say that the first vortices nucleate when $\sigma = \sigma_0$, and we look for the location of these vortices.

Conjecture 6.1 As σ increases to $H_{sh}(\mathcal{H})$, the first vortices will nucleate at points in the set $S(\mathcal{H})$ which is defined in (1.12) with \mathcal{H}^e replaced by \mathcal{H} .

6.2 Meissner states of three dimensional superconductors

The Meissner states of a three dimensional superconductor can be described by the three-dimensional version of equation (1.4) and approximately by the three-dimensional version of (1.1), and the limiting system obtained by letting κ tend to infinity is the three-dimensional version of (1.5).

The stable solutions \mathbf{Q} of (1.5) in three dimensions have been studied by several authors, see [3, 22, 33] and the references therein. Monneau [22] proved that the maximum points of $|\mathbf{Q}(x)|$ occur on the boundary. Bates and Pan [3] proved that, as λ tends zero, the maximum points of $|\mathbf{Q}(x)|$ sub-converge to the maximum points of the module of the tangential component of the applied magnetic field. In the special case when the applied magnetic field is given by $\mathcal{H}^e = \sigma \mathbf{h}$ where \mathbf{h} is a constant unit vector, the maximum points of $|\mathbf{Q}(x)|$ sub-converge to the subset of the boundary $\partial \Omega$ where \mathbf{h} is tangential to $\partial \Omega$. Xiang [33] further obtained the geometric characterization of the limiting position of the maximum points of |Q(x)|. The Meissner states of anisotropic superconductors have been studied by Pan.

For the three-dimensional version of the system (1.4), existence, regularity and uniqueness of the stable solutions and the asymptotic behavior as κ tends to infinity have been studied in [26].

6.3 Comparison of Meissner effects and surface superconductivity

It would be interesting to compare the boundary layer behaviors of the solutions (f, \mathbf{Q}) of (1.1) which describe the Meissner effect of a superconductor in a weak magnetic field, with the boundary layer behaviors of the solutions (Ψ, \mathbf{A}) of the Ginzburg-Landau system (1.3) which describe the surface superconductivity of a type II superconductor subjected to an applied magnetic field lying in between the second critical field H_{C_2} and the third critical field H_{C_3} . In particular, for the cylindrical superconductors in an applied magnetic field $\mathcal{H}^e = \sigma$ we have the following conclusions:

— For the solutions (Ψ , **A**) of (1.3), as κ tends to infinity while λ is fixed, if \mathcal{H}^e is strong and lies below but very close to the critical field H_{C_3} , the maximum points of $|\Psi(x)|$ sub-converge to the maximum points of the curvature of the domain boundary. $|\Psi|$ exponentially decays in the normal direction away from the boundary, and it also exponentially decays on $\partial\Omega$ along the tangential direction away from the maximum points of the curvature of $\partial\Omega$. See for instance [10, 12, 13, 16, 23] and the references therein, from which we will see that the analysis of the concentration behavior of Ψ is more challenging due to the non-uniqueness of the solutions of (1.3).

— For the solutions $(f_{\lambda}, \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda})$ of (1.1), as λ tends to zero while κ is fixed, if \mathcal{H}^{e} is weak and below the critical field H_{S} , the minimum points of $f_{\lambda}^{2}(x) - |\mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}(x)|^{2}$ sub-converge to the maximum points of the curvature of the domain boundary. Moreover, $(1 - f_{\lambda}(x), \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}(x))$ exponentially decays in the normal direction away from the boundary, see Theorems 1.1 and 1.2 in this paper. However, for any applied magnetic field $\mathcal{H}^{e}(x)$, $(1 - f_{\lambda}(x), \mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}(x))$ does not decay on $\partial\Omega$ along the tangential direction away from the set $S(\mathcal{H}^{e})$. In fact, in the coordinates (y_{1}, z_{2}) with $z_{2} = y_{2}/\lambda$, the Meissner solution $(\hat{f}_{\lambda}, \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{\lambda})$ has the following expansions:

$$\hat{f}_{\lambda}(y) = \hat{f}_{0}(y_{1}, z_{2}) + \lambda \hat{f}_{1}(y_{1}, z_{2}) + O(\lambda^{2}),$$

$$\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{\lambda}(y) = \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{0}(y_{1}, z_{2}) + \lambda \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{1}(y_{1}, z_{2}) + O(\lambda^{2}).$$

For each fixed $y_1 \neq 0$, the leading order terms $\hat{f}_0(y_1, \cdot)$ and $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(y_1, \cdot) = (\hat{Q}_0^1(y_1, \cdot), 0)$ is a solution of equation (5.18) and satisfies the condition (2.12), hence is uniquely determined by $\hat{\mathcal{H}}^e(y_1)$, and the profile of the solution $(\hat{f}_0(y_1, \cdot), \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(y_1, \cdot))$ is similar to that of $(\hat{f}_0(0, \cdot), \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(0, \cdot))$. Thus the solution $(\hat{f}_\lambda, \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_\lambda)$ does not decay along the tangential direction.

— For the solutions \mathbf{Q} of (1.5), as λ tends to zero (while $\kappa = \infty$), if $\mathcal{H}^e = \sigma$ is weak and below the critical field H_S , the maximum points of $|\mathbf{Q}(x)|$ sub-converge to the minimum points of the curvature of the domain boundary, see [3, 27, 33]. Moreover, $\mathbf{Q}_{\lambda}(x)$ exponentially decays in the normal direction away from the boundary, but does not decay on $\partial\Omega$ along the tangential direction away from the minimum points of the curvature.

6.4 Meissner states in various setting

Remark 6.2 Let us emphasize that the stability of a Meissner solution stated in Definition 1 is with respect to the Meissner equation (1.1). (f, \mathbf{Q}) is a stable Meissner solution of (1.1) does not mean that it is also stable with respect to the full Ginzburg-Landau system on Ω .

Proof Recall that, if we restrict ourself in Ω , the Ginzburg-Landau functional on Ω has the following form

$$\mathcal{E}[\Psi, \mathbf{A}] = \int_{\Omega} \left\{ \left| \left(\frac{\lambda}{\kappa} \nabla - i\mathbf{A} \right) \Psi \right|^2 + \frac{1}{2} (1 - |\Psi|^2)^2 + |\lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{A} - \mathcal{H}^e|^2 \right\} dx.$$

The Euler-Lagrange equation of this functional is the Ginzburg-Landau system on Ω .

Let (f, \mathbf{Q}) be a solution of (1.1). For any smooth pair (g, \mathbf{B}) we have

$$\mathcal{E}''\langle [f, \mathbf{Q}], [g, \mathbf{B}] \rangle = \int_{\Omega} \left(\operatorname{Re} \left[\left(\frac{\lambda}{\kappa} \nabla f - i \mathbf{Q} f \right) (i \mathbf{B} \bar{g}) \right] + \left| \frac{\lambda}{\kappa} \nabla g - i \mathbf{B} f - i \mathbf{Q} g \right|^2 + \frac{1}{2} (g \bar{f} + f \bar{g})^2 - (1 - |f|^2) |g|^2 + \lambda^2 |\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{B}|^2 \right) dx.$$

Take g = 2if and $\mathbf{B} = \lambda \kappa^{-1} f^{-1} \nabla f$. Then we have

$$\operatorname{Re}\left[\left(\frac{\lambda}{\kappa}\nabla f - i\mathbf{Q}f\right)(i\mathbf{B}\bar{g})\right] = 2\frac{\lambda^2}{\kappa^2}|\nabla f|^2,$$

$$\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{B} = \frac{\lambda}{\kappa}\operatorname{curl}(f^{-1}\nabla f) = \frac{\lambda}{\kappa}[\partial_1(f^{-1}\partial_2 f) - \partial_2(f^{-1}\partial_1 f)] = 0,$$

$$\left|\frac{\lambda}{\kappa}\nabla g - i\mathbf{B}f - i\mathbf{Q}g\right|^2 = \frac{\lambda^2}{\kappa^2}|\nabla f|^2 + 4|\mathbf{Q}|^2|f|^2,$$

$$\left(g\bar{f} + f\bar{g}\right)^2 = 0.$$

Therefore, we have

$$\mathcal{E}^{''}\langle [f,\mathbf{Q}], [2if,\frac{\lambda}{\kappa}f^{-1}\nabla f]\rangle = \int_{\Omega} \left(3\frac{\lambda^2}{\kappa^2}|\nabla f|^2 + 4(|\mathbf{Q}|^2 + |f|^2 - 1)|f|^2\right)dx.$$

Using system (1.1), we obtain that

$$\int_{\Omega} (|\mathbf{Q}|^2 + f^2 - 1) f^2 dx = -\int_{\Omega} \frac{\lambda^2}{\kappa^2} |\nabla f|^2 dx,$$

which implies that

$$\mathcal{E}^{''}\langle [f,\mathbf{Q}], [2if,\frac{\lambda}{\kappa}f^{-1}\nabla f]\rangle = -\frac{\lambda^2}{\kappa^2}\int_{\Omega}|\nabla f|^2 dx < 0.$$

This shows that (f, \mathbf{Q}) is an unstable solution with respect to the full Ginzburg-Landau system in Ω .

It has been proved in [28–30] that $H_{C_1} \sim C \frac{\log \kappa}{\kappa}$, and if the applied magnetic field is below H_{C_1} , then the global minimizers of the Ginzburg-Landau functional on Ω have no vortices hence they are Meissner solutions, and they are stable with respect to the full Ginzburg-Landau system in Ω . On the other hand, the study in [5–7] imply that $H_S \sim C$ for large κ . Proposition 2.4 and Remark 6.2 above show that, if the applied magnetic field \mathcal{H}^e is such that system (1.1) has a solution satisfying (1.8) for any small λ and

$$H_0 \leq \mathcal{H}^e < h^*,$$

where H_0 is any positive number, hence $H_{C_1} \ll \mathcal{H}^e < H_S$, the Meissner solutions (f, \mathbf{Q}) are stable with respect to the equation (1.1), but not with respect to the Ginzburg-Landau system in Ω .

It is interesting that for the applied magnetic field \mathcal{H}^e much larger than H_{C_1} , more precisely $H_{C_1} < \mathcal{H}^e < C\kappa^{\alpha-1}$ with $0 < \alpha < \frac{1}{4}$, stable Meissner solutions of (1.3) can still be obtained for large Ginzburg-Landau parameter $\kappa \gg 1$ with λ fixed, see [29, Theorem 1] and [31, Theorem 11.1]. In this paper we consider the situation with fixed κ and with small λ , and the solutions we found exhibit boundary layer. It will be interesting to know if the Meissner solutions obtained in [29, 31] have boundary layer behavior when the applied magnetic field $\mathcal{H}^e \gg H_{C_1}$, $\kappa \gg 1$ and λ is small.

An interesting problem related to the critical fields H_S and H_{sh} for Meissner states is the supercooling field H_{sc} for vortex solutions, and the hysteretic behavior of the superconductors, which have been investigated by F.H. Lin and Q. Du in [19].

We would like to mention that the Meissner states of type I superconductors have also been investigated, and surprising phenomena have been explored in [9].

Acknowledgements The authors thank the referee for many valuable suggestions and comments that helped to improve the paper. This work was partially supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China grant no. 11771335 and 12071142, and by the research grants no. UDF01001805 and GXWD20201231105722002.

Data Availability All data included in this study are available upon request by contact with the corresponding author.

Declarations

Conflict of interest The authors declared that they have no conflicts of interest to this work.

Appendix A: Uniqueness of the solution to system (2.11)

Lemma A.1 If (2.11) has a solution $(f_0, \mathbf{Q}_0) \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^2_+, \mathbb{R}^3)$ satisfying (2.12), then it is unique.

Proof The uniqueness has been proved in Proposition 2.2, where we used the fact that the functional \mathcal{E} is strictly convex. Here we give a direct proof. The idea of the proof goes back to Lemma 4.2 in [26] where the case of the bounded domains was treated.

Let (f_1, \mathbf{Q}_1) and (f_2, \mathbf{Q}_2) be two solutions, both satisfying

$$|f_0|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_0|^2 > \frac{1}{3} + \delta^2.$$

Let $h \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^2)$ and $\mathbf{B} \in H^1(\text{curl}, \mathbb{R}^2)$, both with compact support. We have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2_+} \left\{ \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \nabla (f_1 - f_2) \cdot \nabla h - \left[(1 - |f_1|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_1|^2) f_1 - (1 - |f_2|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_2|^2) f_2 \right] h + (|f_1|^2 \mathbf{Q}_1 - |f_2|^2 \mathbf{Q}_2) \cdot \mathbf{B} + \operatorname{curl}(\mathbf{Q}_1 - \mathbf{Q}_2) \cdot \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{B} \right\} dz = 0.$$

Take $h = \eta^2 (f_1 - f_2)$ and $\mathbf{B} = \eta^2 (\mathbf{Q}_1 - \mathbf{Q}_2)$, where η is a smooth function with compact support in \mathbb{R}^2 . Then we have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}_{+}} \left\{ \frac{1}{\kappa^{2}} |\nabla(\eta(f_{1} - f_{2}))|^{2} + |\operatorname{curl}(\eta(\mathbf{Q}_{1} - \mathbf{Q}_{2}))|^{2} dx \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}_{+}} \int_{0}^{1} \{ |f_{t}(\mathbf{Q}_{1} - \mathbf{Q}_{2}) + 2(f_{1} - f_{2})\mathbf{Q}_{t}|^{2} + (3f_{t}^{2} - 3|\mathbf{Q}_{t}|^{2} - 1)|f_{1} - f_{2}|^{2} \} \eta^{2} dt dz \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}_{+}} \{ \frac{1}{\kappa^{2}} |(f_{1} - f_{2})\nabla\eta|^{2} + |(\mathbf{Q}_{1} - \mathbf{Q}_{2}) \times \nabla\eta|^{2} dx, \end{split}$$
(A.1)

where $f_t = f_1 + t(f_1 - f_2)$ and $\mathbf{Q}_t = \mathbf{Q}_1 + t(\mathbf{Q}_1 - \mathbf{Q}_2)$. Note that

$$|f_t(\mathbf{Q}_1 - \mathbf{Q}_2) + 2(f_1 - f_2)\mathbf{Q}_t|^2 + (3f_t^2 - 3|\mathbf{Q}_t|^2 - 1)|f_1 - f_2|^2 \ge \frac{\delta^2}{9}|\mathbf{Q}_1 - \mathbf{Q}_2|^2,$$

$$3f_t^2 - 3|\mathbf{Q}_t|^2 - 1 \ge \delta^2.$$

Then

$$|f_t(\mathbf{Q}_1 - \mathbf{Q}_2) + 2(f_1 - f_2)\mathbf{Q}_t|^2 + (3f_t^2 - 3|\mathbf{Q}_t|^2 - 1)|f_1 - f_2|^2$$

$$\geq \frac{\delta^2}{18}|\mathbf{Q}_1 - \mathbf{Q}_2|^2 + \frac{\delta^2}{2}|f_1 - f_2|^2.$$

Taking $\eta = e^{-\sigma r}\xi(r)$, where $\xi(r)$ is a smooth cut-off function such that $\xi(r) = 1$ for r < R, $\xi(r) = 0$ for r > R + 1, and $\xi'(r) \le 2$. Then we have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{B_{R}^{+}} \left(\frac{\delta^{2}}{18} |\mathbf{Q}_{1} - \mathbf{Q}_{2}|^{2} + \frac{\delta^{2}}{2} |f_{1} - f_{2}|^{2} \right) e^{-2\sigma r} dz \\ &\leq \frac{\sigma^{2}}{\kappa^{2}} \int_{B_{R+1}^{+}} |f_{1} - f_{2}|^{2} e^{-2\sigma r} dz + \sigma^{2} \int_{B_{R+1}^{+}} |\mathbf{Q}_{1} - \mathbf{Q}_{2}|^{2} e^{-2\sigma r} dz \\ &+ 4e^{-2\sigma R} \int_{B_{R+1}^{+} \setminus B_{R}^{+}} |\mathbf{Q}_{1} - \mathbf{Q}_{2}|^{2} dz + \frac{4}{\kappa^{2}} e^{-2\sigma R} \int_{B_{R+1}^{+} \setminus B_{R}^{+}} |f_{1} - f_{2}|^{2} dz. \end{split}$$

Letting $R \to \infty$ first and then letting $\sigma \to 0$ in the above inequality, we obtain that $f_1 = f_2$ and $\mathbf{Q}_1 = \mathbf{Q}_2$.

Appendix B: Exponential decay for some ODEs

Consider the following system

$$\begin{cases} u'' = a_{11}(z_2)u + a_{12}(z_2)v + b_1(z_2) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ v'' = a_{21}(z_2)u + a_{22}(z_2)v + b_2(z_2) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ u'(0) = u_0, \quad v'(0) = v_0, \\ u(\infty) = 0, \quad v(\infty) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(B.1)

Definition B.1 We say that the coefficient matrix $A(z_2) = (a_{ij}(z_2))_{2 \times 2}$ is elliptic if there exist positive constants λ and M such that

$$\lambda |\xi|^2 \le \sum_{i,j=1}^2 a_{ij}(z_2)\xi_i\xi_j \le M |\xi|^2.$$
(B.2)

for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and almost every $z_2 \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

Proposition B.2 Assume that the matrix $A(z_2) = (a_{ij}(z_2))_{2\times 2}$ is elliptic, and suppose there exist positive constants α_5 , β_5 , M_1 and M_2 such that

$$|b_1(z_2)| \le M_1 e^{-\alpha_5 z_2}, \quad |b_2(z_2)| \le M_2 e^{-\beta_5 z_2}, \quad z_2 \ge 0.$$
 (B.3)

Then system (B.1) has a unique solution $(u, v) \in C^2(\mathbb{R}_+) \cap H^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$. Moreover, for any real number μ satisfying $0 < \mu < \min\{\sqrt{\lambda}, \alpha_5, \beta_5\}$ we have

$$|u(z_2)| \le Ce^{-\mu z_2}, \quad |v(z_2)| \le Ce^{-\mu z_2}, \quad z_2 \ge 0,$$
 (B.4)

where the constant C depends on the constants in (B.2) and (B.3).

Proof Replacing u by $u - u_0 e^{-\lambda z_2}$ and v by $v - v_0 e^{-\lambda z_2}$, we see that there is no loss of generality in assuming $u_0 = v_0 = 0$. Let us fix a constant μ with $0 < \mu < \min\{\sqrt{\lambda}, \alpha_5, \beta_5\}$, and take a function $\eta \in C^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$ satisfying

$$\eta(z_2) = 1$$
 for $z_2 \in [0, 1]$, $e^{-\mu x} \eta(z_2) < 2$ and $|\eta'(z_2)| \le \mu \eta(z_2)$ for all $z_2 \ge 0$.
(B.5)

Define a space

$$\mathscr{Y} = \left\{ (u, v) : (\eta u) \in H^1(\mathbb{R}_+), (\eta v) \in H^1(\mathbb{R}_+), u'(0) = 0, v'(0) = 0 \right\}.$$

Equipped with the norm

$$\|(u,v)\|_{\mathscr{Y}} = \left(\|\eta u\|_{H^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}^{2} + \|\eta v\|_{H^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}^{2}\right)^{1/2}$$

and the inner product

$$\langle (u_1, v_1), (u_2, v_2) \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}_+} \{ \eta^2 (u_1 u_2 + v_1 v_2) + (\eta u_1)' (\eta u_2)' + (\eta v_1)' (\eta v_2)' \} dz_2,$$

 \mathcal{Y} is a Hilbert space.

Define a bilinear form $\mathcal{B}[(\cdot, \cdot), (\cdot, \cdot)]$ on \mathscr{Y} by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{B}[(u, v), (u^*, v^*)] \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^+} \left\{ (\eta u)'(\eta u^*)' + (\eta v)'(\eta v^*)' - \frac{\eta'^2}{\eta^2}(\eta u)(\eta u^*) - \frac{\eta'^2}{\eta^2}(\eta v)(\eta v^*) \right. \\ &- \frac{\eta'}{\eta} [(\eta u^*)'(\eta u) - (\eta u^*)(\eta u)'] - \frac{\eta'}{\eta} [(\eta v^*)'(\eta v) - (\eta v^*)(\eta v)'] \\ &+ (a_{11}(z_2)\eta u + a_{12}(z_2)\eta v)(\eta u^*) + (a_{21}(z_2)\eta u + a_{22}(z_2)\eta v)(\eta v^*) \right\} dz_2. \end{aligned}$$

Using the condition (B.2) on the coefficient matrix A and the assumption (B.5) on the function η , and by the Cauchy's inequality, there exists a constant K depending only on the constants in (B.2) and μ , such that for all (u, v) and (u^*, v^*) in \mathscr{Y} we have

$$\mathcal{B}[(u, v), (u^*, v^*)] \le K ||(u, v)||_{\mathscr{Y}} ||(u^*, v^*)||_{\mathscr{Y}},$$
$$\mathcal{B}[(u, v), (u, v)] \ge \min\{1, \lambda - \mu^2\} ||(u, v)||_{\mathscr{Y}}^2.$$

Therefore, \mathcal{B} is bounded and coercive on \mathscr{Y} . Then the existence and uniqueness of the solution to (B.1) in \mathscr{Y} follows from the Lax-Milgram lemma.

Set $\check{u} = \eta u$ and $\check{v} = \eta v$. Then (\check{u}, \check{v}) satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \check{u}'' = \frac{2\eta'}{\eta}\check{u}' + \frac{\eta''}{\eta}\check{u} - \frac{2\eta'^2}{\eta^2}\check{u} + a_{11}(z_2)\check{u} + a_{12}(z_2)\check{v} + \eta b_1(z_2) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ \check{v}'' = \frac{2\eta'}{\eta}\check{v}' + \frac{\eta''}{\eta}\check{v} - \frac{2\eta'^2}{\eta^2}\check{v} + a_{21}(z_2)\check{u} + a_{22}(z_2)\check{v} + \eta b_2(z_2) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ \check{u}'(0) = 0, \quad \check{v}'(0) = 0, \\ \check{u}(\infty) = 0, \quad \check{v}(\infty) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(B.6)

Also, we have

$$\min\{1, \lambda - \mu^2\} \left(\|\check{u}\|_{H^1(\mathbb{R}_+)}^2 + \|\check{v}\|_{H^1(\mathbb{R}_+)}^2 \right) \le \mathcal{B}[(u, v), (u, v)]$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^+} \left(\eta b_1(z_2)\check{u} + \eta b_2(z_2)\check{v} \right) dz_2.$$

Then by the Cauchy's inequality we get

$$\|\check{u}\|_{H^1(\mathbb{R}_+)} + \|\check{v}\|_{H^1(\mathbb{R}_+)} \le C.$$

Since $H^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$ is continuously embedded into $C^0(\mathbb{R}_+)$, then we have

$$\|\check{u}\|_{C^0(\mathbb{R}_+)} + \|\check{v}\|_{C^0(\mathbb{R}_+)} \le C.$$

This proves (B.4).

Proof of Proposition 2.5 From Proposition 2.2, we obtain the decay estimate for $|\hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2)|$ and $|\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(y_1, z_2)|$ at $y_1 = 0$. Next we derive the estimates for $\partial_{y_1} \hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2)$ and $\partial_{y_1} \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(y_1, z_2)$ at $y_1 = 0$. Recall that

$$p(z_2) := \partial_{y_1} \hat{f}_0(0, z_2), \quad (q(z_2), 0) := \partial_{y_1} \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(0, z_2).$$

Then from the equation (5.18) in section 5, we see that $(p(z_2), q(z_2))$ satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \frac{1}{\kappa^2} p''(z_2) = (3|f_0|^2 + |Q_0^1|^2 - 1)p + 2Q_0^1 f_0 q & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ q''(z_2) = 2f_0 Q_0^1 p + f_0^2 q & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ p'(0) = 0, \quad q'(0) = -\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{y_1}^e(0), \\ p(\infty) = 0, \quad q(\infty) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(B.7)

Let $\lambda(z_2)$ be the minimum eigenvalue of the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 3|f_0|^2 + |Q_0^1|^2 - 1 & 2f_0Q_0^1 \\ 2f_0Q_0^1 & |f_0|^2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then $\lambda(z_2) \to 1$ as $z_2 \to \infty$. Now we can apply Proposition B.2 to conclude that, for any real number β_1 satisfying $0 < \beta_1 < 1$ we have

$$|p(z_2)| + |q(z_2)| \le C(\kappa, \beta_1, \Omega, \mathcal{H}^e)e^{-\beta_1 z_2}.$$

Applying Proposition B.2 again for the first equation in (B.7) and noting that $|Q_0^1| \le Ce^{-\beta_1 z_2}$, for any real number α_1 satisfying $0 < \alpha_1 < \min\{2, \sqrt{2}\kappa\}$, we have

$$|p(z_2)| \le C(\kappa, \alpha_1, \beta_1, \Omega, \mathcal{H}^e) e^{-\alpha_1 z_2}.$$

We derive the higher derivative estimates of $\hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2)$ and $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(y_1, z_2)$ at $y_1 = 0$. From the equation (3.5), we see that

$$u(z_2) := \partial_{y_1^i}^i \hat{f}_0(0, z_2), \quad v(z_2) := \partial_{y_1^i}^i \hat{Q}_0^1(0, z_2) \quad \text{for } i = 2, 3$$

🖄 Springer

satisfy

$$\begin{aligned} &\frac{1}{\kappa^2} u''(z_2) = (3|f_0|^2 + |Q_0^1|^2 - 1)u + 2Q_0^1 f_0 v + F_i(z_2) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ &v''(z_2) = 2f_0 Q_0^1 u + f_0^2 v + G_i(z_2) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_+, \\ &u'(0) = 0, \quad v'(0) = -\hat{\mathcal{H}}^e_{y_1^i}(0), \end{aligned}$$
(B.8)
$$&u(\infty) = 0, \quad v(\infty) = 0, \end{aligned}$$

where

$$|F_i(z_2)| \le C(\kappa, \alpha_1, \beta_1, \Omega, \mathcal{H}^e) e^{-\min\{3\alpha_1, 2\beta_1\}z_2}$$

$$|G_i(z_2)| \le C(\kappa, \alpha_1, \beta_1, \Omega, \mathcal{H}^e) e^{-(\alpha_1 + \beta_1)z_2}$$

for i = 2, 3. As the proof of the estimates of $p(z_2)$ and $q(z_2)$, by applying Proposition B.2 we can obtain the decay estimates of $\partial_{y_1^i}^i \hat{f}_0(0, z_2)$ and $\partial_{y_1^i}^i \hat{Q}_0^1(0, z_2)$ for i = 2, 3.

Applying the above argument to the equations of $\partial_{y_1^i}^i \hat{f}_0(0, z_2)$ and $\partial_{y_1^i}^i \hat{Q}_0^1(0, z_2)$ respectively, we immediately obtain the decay estimates of $|\partial_{y_1^i z_2^2}^{i+2} \hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2)|$ and $|\partial_{y_1^i z_2^2}^{i+2} \hat{Q}_0(y_1, z_2)|$ for $i = 0, \dots, 3$.

Integrating from z_2 to ∞ on both sides of the equations of $\partial_{y_1^i}^i \hat{f}_0(0, z_2)$ and $\partial_{y_1^i}^i \hat{Q}_0^1(0, z_2)$ respectively, we can obtain the decay estimates of $|\partial_{y_1^i z_2}^{i+1} \hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2)|$ and $|\partial_{y_1^i z_2}^{i+1} \hat{Q}_0(y_1, z_2)|$ for i = 0, ..., 3.

Now we have proved Proposition 2.5 for $y_1 = 0$. Replacing $\hat{\mathcal{H}}^e(0)$ by $\hat{\mathcal{H}}^e(y_1)$ in (B.7) and in (B.8), then noting that $\hat{\mathcal{H}}^e \in C^3(\partial\Omega)$, we see that Proposition 2.5 also holds for $y_1 \neq 0$. Now we have completed the proof.

Appendix C: Derivation of system (2.20)

To derive equation (2.20) we need the local coordinate expansions introduced in [24, section 3]. Here we keep the notations in section 2. We use $\Re_i(|y_1^3|)$, $i = 1, 2, \cdots$, to denote a function of y_1 and z_2 which is of order $(|y_1^3|)$ uniformly for z_2 , and use $\Re_i(\lambda^k)$, k > 0, $i = 1, 2, \cdots$, to denote a function of y_1 and z_2 which is of order (λ^k) .

For the function g defined in (2.2) we have, for $\lambda > 0$ small,

$$g(z) = 1 - \lambda k(0)z_2 - \lambda^2 k'(0)z_1 z_2 + O(\lambda^3),$$

$$\frac{1}{g(z)} = 1 + \lambda k(0)z_2 + \lambda^2 \left(k^2(0)z_2^2 + k'(0)z_1 z_2\right) + O(\lambda^3),$$
(C.1)

where $k'(0) = \frac{dk}{ds}(0) = \frac{dk}{dy_1}(0)$. For any fixed $z_2 \ge 0$, we have the formal asymptotic expansions for $\hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2)$ and $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(y_1, z_2)$ with respect to the variable y_1 at the point

 $(0, z_2)$:

$$\hat{f}_{0}(y_{1}, z_{2}) = f_{0} + y_{1}\partial_{y_{1}}\hat{f}_{0}(0, z_{2}) + \frac{1}{2}y_{1}^{2}\partial_{y_{1}^{2}}\hat{f}_{0}(0, z_{2}) + \Re_{1}(|y_{1}^{3}|),$$

$$\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{0}(y_{1}, z_{2}) = \mathbf{Q}_{0} + y_{1}\partial_{y_{1}}\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{0}(0, z_{2}) + \frac{1}{2}y_{1}^{2}\partial_{y_{1}^{2}}\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_{0}(0, z_{2}) + \Re_{2}(|y_{1}^{3}|),$$
(C.2)

where

$$(f_0, \mathbf{Q}_0) = (\hat{f}_0(0, z_2), \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(0, z_2)) = (\hat{f}_0(0, z_2), (\hat{\mathcal{Q}}_0^1(0, z_2), \hat{\mathcal{Q}}_0^2(0, z_2)))$$

is the solution of (2.14), $(\hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2), \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(y_1, z_2))$ is the solution of (5.18). Write

vinc

$$p(z_2) := \partial_{y_1} \hat{f}_0(0, z_2), \quad (q(z_2), 0) := \partial_{y_1} \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(0, z_2).$$
(C.3)

Then we take the expansions for \tilde{f} and $\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}$ in (2.6) with respect to λ , and have

$$\tilde{f} = f_0 + \lambda(pz_1 + f_1) + \Re_3(\lambda^2), \quad \tilde{\mathbf{Q}} = \mathbf{Q}_0 + \lambda((qz_1, 0) + \mathbf{Q}_1) + \Re_4(\lambda^2),$$
(C.4)

where $f_1 = \hat{f}_1(0, z_2)$ and $\mathbf{Q}_1 = \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_1(0, z_2) = (Q_1^1, Q_1^2)$ are to be determined. Firstly, we have

$$\lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{Q}(x) = \frac{1}{g} \left[\partial_{z_1} \tilde{Q}_2 - \partial_{z_2}(g \tilde{Q}_1) \right]$$

= $-(Q_0^1)' + \lambda(k(0)Q_0^1 - (Q_1^1)' - z_1q'(z_2)) + \Re_5(\lambda^2).$ (C.5)

Then,

$$\frac{1}{g} \left(\partial_{z_1} \left(\frac{1}{g} \partial_{z_1} \tilde{f} \right) + \partial_{z_2} \left(g \partial_{z_2} \tilde{f} \right) \right)$$

$$= (f_0)'' + \lambda \left((f_1)'' - k(0)(f_0)' + p''(z_2)z_1 \right) + \mathfrak{R}_6(\lambda^2)$$
(C.6)

and

$$(1 - |\tilde{f}|^2 - |\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}|^2)\tilde{f} = (1 - |f_0|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_0|^2)f_0 + \lambda ((1 - |f_0|^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_0|^2)(pz_1 + f_1) - 2f_0(f_0(pz_1 + f_1) + \mathbf{Q}_0 \cdot ((qz_1, 0) + \mathbf{Q}_1))) + \Re_7(\lambda^2),$$
(C.7)

where $p = p(z_2)$ and $q = q(z_2)$ are defined in (C.2). Using (C.5), for $\mathcal{M}_1(\lambda z)$ and $\mathcal{M}_2(\lambda z)$ defined by (2.3) we have

$$\mathcal{M}_{1}(\lambda z) = -(\mathcal{Q}_{0}^{1})'' - \lambda \left[(\mathcal{Q}_{1}^{1})'' + q''(z_{2})z_{1} - k(0)(\mathcal{Q}_{0}^{1})' \right] + \mathfrak{R}_{8}(\lambda^{2}),$$

$$\mathcal{M}_{2}(\lambda z) = \lambda q'(z_{2}) + \mathfrak{R}_{9}(\lambda^{2}).$$
 (C.8)

Also, we have

$$|\tilde{f}|^{2}\tilde{\mathbf{Q}} = |f_{0}|^{2}\mathbf{Q}_{0} + \lambda \left[2f_{0}(pz_{1}+f_{1})\mathbf{Q}_{0} + |f_{0}|^{2}((qz_{1},0)+\mathbf{Q}_{1})\right] + \Re_{10}(\lambda^{2}).$$
(C.9)

We now consider the equations at the point $(0, z_2)$. We have

$$\frac{1}{g}\left(\partial_{z_1}\left(\frac{1}{g}\partial_{z_1}\tilde{f}\right) + \partial_{z_2}\left(g\partial_{z_2}\tilde{f}\right)\right) = (f_0)'' + \lambda\left((f_1)'' - k(0)\partial_2 f_0\right) + \Re_{11}(\lambda^2)$$
(C.10)

and

$$(1 - |\tilde{f}|^2 - |\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}|^2)\tilde{f} = (1 - |f_0|^2 - |Q_0^1|^2)f_0 + \lambda ((1 - |f_0|^2 - |Q_0^1|^2)f_1 - 2f_0(f_0f_1 + Q_0^1Q_1^1)) + \Re_{12}(\lambda^2).$$
(C.11)

For $\mathcal{M}_1(\lambda z)$ we have

$$\mathcal{M}_1(\lambda z) = -(\mathcal{Q}_0^1)'' + \lambda \left[-(\mathcal{Q}_1^1)'' + k(0)(\mathcal{Q}_0^1)' \right] + \Re_{13}(\lambda^2).$$
(C.12)

Also, we have

$$|\tilde{f}|^{2}\tilde{\mathbf{Q}} = |f_{0}|^{2}\mathbf{Q}_{0} + \lambda \left[2f_{0}f_{1}\mathbf{Q}_{0} + |f_{0}|^{2}\mathbf{Q}_{1}\right] + \Re_{14}(\lambda^{2}).$$
(C.13)

Comparing with the coefficients of λ , we obtain the equations (2.20) for the first order terms.

Appendix D: Derivation of system (2.22) and proof of (3.5)

We follow the notations used in section 2 and in appendix C. Let $\Re_i(\lambda^2)$ be the terms appear in appendix C, and it has been proved in section 3 that these terms have the order $O(\lambda^2)$ uniformly for y_1 and z_2 . In this section we shall expand these terms in the form

$$\mathfrak{R}_i(\lambda^2) = \lambda^2 R_i + \mathfrak{R}_i(\lambda^3)$$
 for $i = 3, \cdots, 14$,

where R_i denotes a functions of y_1 and z_2 which is independent of λ , and $\Re_i(\lambda^3)$ denotes a function of y_1 and z_2 which is of the order $O(\lambda^3)$.

From the inner expansion (2.9) and the expansion (C.2), we have the expansions for the function \Re_3 and the vector field \Re_4 in (C.4):

$$\Re_3(\lambda^2) = \lambda^2 \left(\frac{1}{2} z_1^2 \partial_{y_1^2} \hat{f}_0(0, z_2) + z_1 \partial_{y_1} \hat{f}_1(0, z_2) + f_2 \right) + \Re_{16}(\lambda^3), \quad (D.1)$$

🖄 Springer

and

$$\mathfrak{R}_{4}(\lambda^{2}) = \lambda^{2} \Big(\frac{1}{2} z_{1}^{2} \partial_{y_{1}^{2}} \hat{Q}_{0}^{1}(0, z_{2}) + z_{1} \partial_{y_{1}} \hat{Q}_{1}^{1}(0, z_{2}) + Q_{2}^{1}(0, z_{2}), z_{1} \partial_{y_{1}} \hat{Q}_{1}^{2}(0, z_{2}) + Q_{2}^{2}(0, z_{2}) \Big) + \mathfrak{R}_{17}(\lambda^{3}),$$
(D.2)

where

$$(\hat{f}_0(0, z_2), \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(0, z_2)) = (f_0, (Q_0^1, 0))$$

is the solution of (2.14),

$$(\hat{f}_1(0, z_2), \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_1(0, z_2)) = (f_1, (Q_1^1, Q_1^2))$$

is the solution of (2.20), and

$$(\hat{f}_2(0, z_2), \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_2(0, z_2)) = (f_2, (Q_2^1, Q_2^2))$$

is to be determined now.

From (C.5), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{R}_{5}(\lambda^{2}) &= \lambda^{2} \Big(\partial_{y_{1}} \hat{Q}_{1}^{2} + k'(0) z_{1} Q_{0}^{1} + k'(0) z_{1} z_{2} (Q_{0}^{1})' + k(0) \left(z_{1} \partial_{y_{1}} \hat{Q}_{0}^{1} \Big|_{y_{1}=0} + Q_{1}^{1} \right) \\ &- (Q_{2}^{1})' + k(0) z_{2} \left[z_{1} \partial_{y_{1}z_{2}} \hat{Q}_{0}^{1} \Big|_{y_{1}=0} + (Q_{1}^{1})' \right] - \frac{1}{2} z_{1}^{2} \partial_{y_{1}^{2}z_{2}} \hat{Q}_{0}^{1} \Big|_{y_{1}=0} \\ &- z_{1} \partial_{y_{1}z_{2}} \hat{Q}_{1}^{1} \Big|_{y_{1}=0} + k(0) z_{2} \left[k(0) Q_{0}^{1} - (Q_{1}^{1})' - z_{1} \partial_{y_{1}z_{2}} \hat{Q}_{0}^{1} \Big|_{y_{1}=0} \right] \\ &- (Q_{0}^{1})' \left[k^{2}(0) z_{2}^{2} + k'(0) z_{1} z_{2} \right] \Big) + \mathfrak{R}_{18}(\lambda^{3}). \end{aligned}$$
(D.3)

Then we have the expansions for \mathfrak{R}_6 in (C.6) and for \mathfrak{R}_7 in (C.7):

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{R}_{6}(\lambda^{2}) = &\lambda^{2} \Big(\left. \partial_{y_{1}^{2}} \hat{f}_{0} \right|_{y_{1}=0} + \frac{1}{2} z_{1}^{2} \partial_{z_{2}^{2} y_{1}^{2}} \hat{f}_{0} \right|_{y_{1}=0} + z_{1} \partial_{z_{2}^{2} y_{1}} \hat{f}_{1} \right|_{y_{1}=0} - k(0) \left[p' z_{1} + (f_{1})' \right] \\ &+ (f_{2})'' - k(0) z_{2} \left[p'' z_{1} + (f_{1})'' \right] - (f_{0})' k'(0) z_{1} - (f_{0})'' k'(0) z_{1} z_{2} \\ &+ k(0) z_{2} \left[(f_{1})'' + p'' z_{1} - k(0) (f_{0})' - k(0) z_{2} (f_{0})'' \right] \\ &+ (f_{0})'' \left[k^{2}(0) z_{2}^{2} + k'(0) z_{1} z_{2} \right] \Big) + \mathfrak{R}_{19}(\lambda^{3}), \end{split}$$

D Springer

and

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{R}_{7}(\lambda^{2}) &= \lambda^{2} \Big(\left[\frac{1}{2} z_{1}^{2} \partial_{y_{1}^{2}} \hat{f}_{0} \Big|_{y_{1}=0} + z_{1} \partial_{y_{1}} \hat{f}_{1} \Big|_{y_{1}=0} + f_{2} \right] (1 - f_{0}^{2} - |\mathbf{Q}_{0}|^{2}) \\ &+ (pz_{1} + f_{1}) [-2f_{0}(pz_{1} + f_{1}) - 2Q_{0}^{1}(qz_{1} + Q_{1}^{1}) - 2Q_{0}^{2}Q_{1}^{2}] \\ &+ f_{0} \left[-(pz_{1} + f_{1})^{2} - 2f_{0} \left(\frac{1}{2} z_{1}^{2} \partial_{y_{1}^{2}} \hat{f}_{0} \Big|_{y_{1}=0} + z_{1} \partial_{y_{1}} \hat{f}_{1} \Big|_{y_{1}=0} + f_{2} \right) \\ &- (qz_{1} + Q_{1}^{1})^{2} - 2Q_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{1}{2} z_{1}^{2} \partial_{y_{1}^{2}} \hat{Q}_{0}^{1} \Big|_{y_{1}=0} + z_{1} \partial_{y_{1}} \hat{Q}_{1}^{1} \Big|_{y_{1}=0} + Q_{2}^{1} \right) \\ &- (Q_{1}^{2})^{2} - 2Q_{0}^{2}(z_{1} \partial_{y_{1}} \hat{Q}_{1}^{2} \Big|_{y_{1}=0} + Q_{2}^{2}) \Big] \Big) + \mathfrak{R}_{20}(\lambda^{3}). \end{split}$$

From (D.1), (D.2) and (C.8), we see that

$$\begin{aligned} \Re_{8}(\lambda^{2}) &= \lambda^{2} \Big(\left. \partial_{z_{2}y_{1}} \hat{Q}_{1}^{2} \right|_{y_{1}=0} - \frac{1}{2} z_{1}^{2} \partial_{z_{2}^{2}y_{1}^{2}} \hat{Q}_{2}^{1} \right|_{y_{1}=0} - z_{1} \partial_{z_{2}^{2}y_{1}} \hat{Q}_{1}^{1} \right|_{y_{1}=0} + k'(0) z_{1} z_{2} (Q_{0}^{1})'' \\ &- (Q_{2}^{1})'' + 2k(0) \left[q' z_{1} + (Q_{1}^{1})' \right] + k(0) z_{2} \left[q'' z_{1} + (Q_{1}^{1})'' \right] + k'(0) z_{1} (Q_{0}^{1})' \\ &- k(0) \left[q' z_{1} + (Q_{1}^{1})' - k(0) Q_{0}^{1} \right] - (Q_{0}^{1})'' \left[k^{2}(0) z_{2}^{2} + k'(0) z_{1} z_{2} \right] \\ &- k(0) z_{2} \left[q'' z_{1} + (Q_{1}^{1})'' - k(0) (Q_{0}^{1})' - k(0) z_{2} (Q_{0}^{1})'' \right] \Big) + \Re_{21}(\lambda^{3}) \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{R}_{9}(\lambda^{2}) = \lambda^{2} \Big(z_{1} \partial_{z_{2} y_{1}^{2}} \hat{Q}_{0}^{1} \big|_{y_{1}=0} + \partial_{z_{2} y_{1}} \hat{Q}_{1}^{1} \big|_{y_{1}=0} - k(0)q - k'(0)Q_{0}^{1} \\ + k(0)z_{2}q' \Big) + \mathfrak{R}_{22}(\lambda^{3}). \end{aligned} \tag{D.5}$$

From (D.1), (D.2) and (C.9), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \Re_{10}(\lambda^{2}) &= \lambda^{2} \Big(\left[(pz_{1} + f_{1})^{2} + 2f_{0} \left(\frac{1}{2} z_{1}^{2} \partial_{y_{1}^{2}} \hat{f}_{0} \Big|_{y_{1}=0} + z_{1} \partial_{y_{1}} \hat{f}_{1} \Big|_{y_{1}=0} + f_{2} \right) \right] \mathbf{Q}_{0} \\ &+ f_{0}^{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} z_{1}^{2} \partial_{y_{1}y_{1}} \hat{Q}_{0}^{1} \Big|_{y_{1}=0} + z_{1} \partial_{y_{1}} \hat{Q}_{1}^{1} \Big|_{y_{1}=0} + Q_{2}^{1}, z_{1} \partial_{y_{1}} \hat{Q}_{1}^{2} \Big|_{y_{1}=0} + Q_{2}^{2} \right) \\ &+ 2f_{0}(pz_{1} + f_{1}) \left[(qz_{1}, 0) + \mathbf{Q}_{1} \right] \Big) + \Re_{23}(\lambda^{3}). \end{aligned}$$
(D.6)

We now consider the equations at the point $(0, z_2)$. From the expression of $\mathfrak{R}_6(\lambda^3)$, it follows that,

$$\Re_{11}(\lambda^2) = \lambda^2 \left(\partial_{y_1^2} \hat{f}_0 \Big|_{y_1=0} + f_2'' - k(0)(f_1)' - k^2(0)z_2(f_0)' \right) + \Re_{24}(\lambda^3).$$
(D.7)

D Springer

From the expression of $\Re_7(\lambda^3)$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \Re_{12}(\lambda^2) &= \lambda^2 \Big(f_2(1 - 3f_0^2 - |\mathbf{Q}_0|^2) + f_0 \Big[-f_1^2 - (Q_1^1)^2 - (Q_1^2)^2 \Big] \\ &- 2f_0 Q_0^1 Q_2^1 + f_1 \Big[-2f_0 f_1 - 2Q_0^1 Q_1^1 \Big] \Big) + \Re_{25}(\lambda^3). \end{aligned}$$
(D.8)

From the expressions of $\Re_8(\lambda^3)$ and $\Re_9(\lambda^3)$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \Re_{13}(\lambda^2) &= \lambda^2 \Big(\partial_{z_2 y_1} \hat{Q}_1^2 \big|_{y_1 = 0} - (Q_2^1)'' + k(0)(Q_1^1)' + k(0)Q_0^1 \\ &+ k^2(0) z_2(Q_0^1)' \Big) + \Re_{26}(\lambda^3) \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\mathfrak{R}_{14}(\lambda^2) = \lambda^2 \left(\partial_{z_2 y_1} \hat{Q}_1^1 \Big|_{y_1=0} - k(0)q - k'(0)Q_0^1 + k(0)z_2 q' \right) + \mathfrak{R}_{27}(\lambda^3).$$

From $\Re_{10}(\lambda^3)$, it follows that

$$\Re_{15}(\lambda^2) = \lambda^2 ((f_1^2 + 2f_0f_2)\mathbf{Q}_0 + 2f_0f_1\mathbf{Q}_1 + f_0^2\mathbf{Q}_2) + \Re_{28}(\lambda^3).$$

Comparing with the coefficients of λ^2 , we obtain the equations (2.22) for the second order terms.

Proof of Lemma 3.1 Step 1. From (3.2), we can see that

$$\mathbf{b}(x, \lambda) = (0, \mathbf{0}) \text{ for all } x \in \Omega \setminus \sigma_2,$$

where σ_n is defined by (3.1). Then (3.5) holds for $x \in \Omega \setminus \sigma_2$.

Step 2. We show the estimate (3.5) when $x \in \sigma_4$. We consider this problem in a neighborhood \mathcal{U} of $X_0 \in \partial \Omega$. We follow the notation used in section 2 and in appendix C.

To obtain $\tilde{\mathbf{b}}$, we replace the expressions of \tilde{f} and $\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}$ by

$$\hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2) + \lambda \hat{f}_1(y_1, z_2) + \lambda^2 \hat{f}_2(y_1, z_2)$$
 and $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0(y_1, z_2) + \lambda \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_1(y_1, z_2) + \lambda^2 \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_2(y_1, z_2)$

under the z- coordinate system in (C.4) respectively.

We first estimate $\hat{b}_1(z_1, z_2, \lambda)$, where $\hat{b}_1(z_1, z_2, \lambda)$ is the representation of $b_1(x, \lambda)$ under the *z*-coordinate system. At the point $(0, z_2)$, from (D.7) and (D.8) we have

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{R}_{24}(\lambda^3) =& \lambda^3 \kappa^{-2} \Big(g_0^{-3} k'(0) z_2 \left[\partial_{y_1} \hat{f}_0 \Big|_{y_1=0} + \lambda \partial_{y_1} \hat{f}_1 \Big|_{y_1=0} + \lambda^2 \partial_{y_1} \hat{f}_2 \Big|_{y_1=0} \right] \\ &+ g_0^{-2} \left[(1+g_0) k(0) z_2 \partial_{y_1^2} \hat{f}_0 \Big|_{y_1=0} + \partial_{y_1^2} \hat{f}_1 \Big|_{y_1=0} + \lambda \partial_{y_1^2} \hat{f}_2 \Big|_{y_1=0} \right] \\ &- g_0^{-1} \left[k(0) (f_0)' - \lambda k^3 (0) z_2^2 (f_1)' - \lambda k^2 (0) z_2 (f_2)' \right] \\ &- k^3 (0) z_2^2 (f_0)' - k^2 (0) z_2 (f_1)' - k (0) (f_2)' \Big) \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{R}_{25}(\lambda^3) &= -\lambda^3 \Big((f_1 + \lambda f_2) \Big[2 \mathcal{Q}_0^1 \mathcal{Q}_2^1 + 2 f_0 f_2 + f_1^2 + (\mathcal{Q}_1^1)^2 + (\mathcal{Q}_1^2)^2 \Big] \\ &+ 2 f_2 (f_0 f_1 + \mathcal{Q}_0^1 \mathcal{Q}_1^1) + (f_0 + \lambda f_1 + \lambda^2 f_2) \Big[2 \mathcal{Q}_1^1 \mathcal{Q}_2^1 + 2 f_1 f_2 \\ &+ 2 \mathcal{Q}_1^2 \mathcal{Q}_2^2 + \lambda \left(f_2^2 + (\mathcal{Q}_1^1)^2 + (\mathcal{Q}_1^2)^2 \right) \Big] \Big), \end{split}$$

where $k_0 = k(0)$ is the curvature of $\partial \Omega$ at the point $X_0, k'_0 = \frac{dk}{ds}(0) = \frac{dk}{dy_1}(0)$,

$$g_0 = g(0, \lambda z_2) = 1 - \lambda k(0) z_2.$$

We see that $\Re_{24}(\lambda^3)$ and $\Re_{25}(\lambda^3)$ are the polynomials of \hat{f}_0 , \hat{f}_1 , \hat{f}_2 , $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0$, $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_1$, $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_2$ and their derivatives up to the order 2 at $(0, z_2)$. From Proposition 2.5, Proposition 2.7 and Proposition 2.9, it follows that

$$|\Re_{24}(\lambda^3)| + |\Re_{25}(\lambda^3)| \le C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa)\lambda^3.$$

For any $x \in \sigma_4$, let ψ be defined by (2.1), $x = \psi(y_1, y_2)$, $z_1 = y_1/\lambda$, $z_2 = y_2/\lambda$. Then $\tilde{b}_1(0, z_2, \lambda) = \Re_{24}(\lambda^3) + \Re_{25}(\lambda^3)$. Note that $\hat{f}_0, \hat{f}_1, \hat{f}_2, \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0, \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_1, \hat{\mathbf{Q}}_2$ and their derivatives up to the order 2 are continuously differentiable with respect to the parameter y_1 (by applying the continuous differentiability of solutions with respect to parameters in the theory of ODEs). Therefore, for each $z_1 \neq 0$, we also have

$$|\tilde{b}_1(z_1, z_2, \lambda)| \leq C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa)\lambda^3.$$

We now estimate $\tilde{\mathbf{b}}_2 = (\tilde{b}_2^1, \tilde{b}_2^2)$. At the point (y_1, z_2) with $y_1 = \lambda z_2$, from (D.4) we have

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathfrak{R}}_{21}(\lambda^3) = &\lambda^3 \Big[s_3 + \lambda k(y_1) z_2(s_2 + \lambda s_3) + \lambda^2 k^2(y_1) z_2^2(s_1 + \lambda s_2 + \lambda^2 s_3) \\ &+ \lambda^3 k^3(y_1) z_2^3 g^{-1}(-\partial_{z_2^2} \hat{\mathcal{Q}}_0^1 + \lambda s_1 + \lambda^2 s_2 + \lambda^3 s_3) \Big] \\ &+ \lambda^3 \Big[k(y_1) s_5 + 2\lambda^2 k^2(y_1) z_2(s_4 + \lambda s_5) \\ &+ \lambda^3 k^3(y_1) z_2^2 g^{-2}(2g+1)(-\partial_{z_2} \hat{\mathcal{Q}}_0^1 + \lambda s_4 + \lambda^2 s_5) \Big], \end{split}$$

where

$$s_{1} = k(y_{1})\hat{Q}_{0}^{1} + k(y_{1})z_{2}\partial_{z_{2}^{2}}\hat{Q}_{0}^{1} + k(y_{1})\partial_{z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{0}^{1} - \partial_{z_{2}^{2}}\hat{Q}_{1}^{1},$$

$$s_{2} = \partial_{y_{1}z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{1}^{2} + k(y_{1})\hat{Q}_{1}^{1} + k(y_{1})z_{2}\partial_{z_{2}^{2}}\hat{Q}_{1}^{1} - \partial_{z_{2}^{2}}\hat{Q}_{2}^{1} + k(y_{1})\partial_{z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{1}^{1},$$

$$s_{3} = \partial_{y_{1}z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{2}^{2} + k(y_{1})\hat{Q}_{2}^{1} + k(y_{1})z_{2}\partial_{z_{2}^{2}}\hat{Q}_{2}^{1} + k(y_{1})\partial_{z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{2}^{1}$$

Deringer

and

$$s_{4} = k(y_{1})z_{2}\partial_{z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{0}^{1} + k(y_{1})\hat{Q}_{0}^{1} - \partial_{z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{1}^{1},$$

$$s_{5} = \partial_{y_{1}}\hat{Q}_{1}^{2} + k(y_{1})\hat{Q}_{1}^{1} + k(y_{1})z_{2}\partial_{z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{1}^{1} - \partial_{z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{2}^{1}\lambda\Big(\partial_{y_{1}}\hat{Q}_{2}^{2} + k(y_{1})\hat{Q}_{2}^{1} + k(y_{1})z_{2}\partial_{z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{2}^{1}\Big).$$

From (D.5) we have

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathfrak{R}}_{22}(\lambda^3) &= -\lambda^3 \Big[s_7 + 2k(y_1)z_2(s_6 + \lambda s_7) + k^2(y_1)z_2^2g^{-2}(2g+1)(-\partial_{y_1z_2}\hat{Q}_0^1 + \lambda s_6 + \lambda^2 s_7) \Big] \\ &- \lambda^3 \Big[k'(y_1)z_2s_8 + k(y_1)k'(y_1)z_2^2g^{-3}(1+g+g^2)(-\partial_{z_2}\hat{Q}_0^1 + \lambda s_8) \Big], \end{split}$$

where g is defined by (2.2),

$$s_{6} = k(y_{1})\partial_{y_{1}}\hat{Q}_{0}^{1} + k'(y_{1})\hat{Q}_{0}^{1} + \partial_{y_{1}z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{0}^{1} - \partial_{y_{1}z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{1}^{1} + k'(y_{1})z_{2}\partial_{z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{0}^{1},$$

$$s_{7} = \partial_{y_{1}^{2}}\hat{Q}_{1}^{2} + \lambda\partial_{y_{1}^{2}}\hat{Q}_{2}^{2} + k(y_{1})\partial_{y_{1}}\hat{Q}_{1}^{1} + \lambda k(y_{1})\partial_{y_{1}}\hat{Q}_{2}^{1} + k'(y_{1})\hat{Q}_{1}^{1} + \lambda k'(y_{1})\hat{Q}_{2}^{1} + k(y_{1})z_{2}\partial_{y_{1}z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{1}^{1} - \partial_{y_{1}z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{2}^{1} + \lambda k(y_{1})z_{2}\partial_{y_{1}z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{2}^{1} + k'(y_{1})z_{2}(\partial_{z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{1}^{1} + \lambda\partial_{z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{2}^{1}),$$

and

$$s_{8} = k(y_{1})z_{2}\partial_{z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{0}^{1} + k(y_{1})\hat{Q}_{0}^{1} - \partial_{z_{2}}Q_{1}^{1} + \lambda \Big(\partial_{y_{1}}\hat{Q}_{1}^{2} + k(y_{1})\hat{Q}_{1}^{1} + k(y_{1})z_{2}\partial_{z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{1}^{1} - \partial_{z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{2}^{1}\Big) + \lambda^{2} \Big(\partial_{y_{1}}\hat{Q}_{2}^{2} + k(y_{1})\hat{Q}_{2}^{1} + k(y_{1})z_{2}\partial_{z_{2}}\hat{Q}_{2}^{1}\Big).$$

From (D.6) we have

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathfrak{R}}_{23}^{1}(\lambda^{3}) &= \lambda^{3} \Big[(\hat{\mathcal{Q}}_{0}^{1} + \lambda \hat{\mathcal{Q}}_{1}^{1} + \lambda^{2} \hat{\mathcal{Q}}_{2}^{1}) (2\hat{f}_{1} \hat{f}_{2} + \lambda \hat{f}_{2}^{2}) + (\hat{\mathcal{Q}}_{1}^{1} + \lambda \hat{\mathcal{Q}}_{2}^{1}) (\hat{f}_{1}^{2} + 2\hat{f}_{0} \hat{f}_{2}) + 2\hat{f}_{0} \hat{f}_{1} \hat{\mathcal{Q}}_{2}^{1} \Big], \\ \tilde{\mathfrak{R}}_{23}^{2}(\lambda^{3}) &= \lambda^{3} \Big[(\lambda \hat{\mathcal{Q}}_{1}^{2} + \lambda^{2} \hat{\mathcal{Q}}_{2}^{2}) (2\hat{f}_{1} \hat{f}_{2} + \lambda \hat{f}_{2}^{2}) + (\hat{\mathcal{Q}}_{1}^{2} + \lambda \hat{\mathcal{Q}}_{2}^{2}) (\hat{f}_{1}^{2} + 2\hat{f}_{0} \hat{f}_{2}) + 2\hat{f}_{0} \hat{f}_{1} \hat{\mathcal{Q}}_{2}^{2} \Big]. \end{split}$$

Then

$$\tilde{b}_2^1 = -\tilde{\mathfrak{R}}_{21} - \tilde{\mathfrak{R}}_{23}^1, \quad \tilde{b}_2^2 = -\tilde{\mathfrak{R}}_{22} - \tilde{\mathfrak{R}}_{23}^2.$$

We see that \tilde{b}_2^1 and \tilde{b}_2^2 are the polynomials of \hat{f}_0 , \hat{f}_1 , \hat{f}_2 , $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_0$, $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_1$, $\hat{\mathbf{Q}}_2$ and their derivatives up to the order 2. Using Proposition 2.5, Proposition 2.7 and Proposition 2.9 again, we have

$$\|\tilde{\mathbf{b}}_2\|_{C^0(\psi^{-1}(\sigma_4))} + \|\operatorname{div}_{z}\tilde{\mathbf{b}}_2\|_{C^1(\psi^{-1}(\sigma_4))} \le C(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e, \kappa)\lambda^3.$$

where σ_4 is defined in (3.1), ψ is defined by (2.1). Thus, we have (3.5) for $x \in \sigma_4$ by the scaling argument.

Step 3. From Proposition 2.5, Proposition 2.7 and Proposition 2.9, we see that, each component of $\tilde{\mathbf{b}}(z, \lambda)$ is a linear combinations of exponentially decaying terms with respect to z_2 . Therefore, for $x \in \sigma_2 \setminus \sigma_4$ we also have (3.5) for small λ .

We now finish the proof of (3.5).

Appendix E: Derivation of the boundary condition (3.8)

To derive the boundary condition of R_f , we use the boundary condition of \hat{f}_0 in (5.18), that of \hat{f}_1 in (5.19), and that of \hat{f}_2 (see (2.22) when $y_1 = 0$), and find

$$\frac{\partial R_f}{\partial \mathbf{n}} = \frac{\partial f}{\partial \mathbf{n}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial z_2} \left(\hat{f}_0(y_1, z_2) + \lambda \hat{f}_1(y_1, z_2) + \lambda^2 \hat{f}_2(y_1, z_2) \right) \Big|_{z_2=0} = 0.$$

To derive the boundary condition for $\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}$, we first consider the value of $\lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}$ at $X_0 \in \partial \Omega$. We keep the notation used in section 2. We use equality (C.5) in appendix C with $\mathbf{Q}(x)$ replaced by $\mathbf{Q}_{ap}(x)$, and use equality (D.3) in appendix D. Then we have

$$\lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{Q}_{ap}(X_0) = \left(-\partial_2 Q_0^1 + \lambda (k_0 Q_0^1 - \partial_2 Q_1^1) + \lambda^2 (\partial_{y_1} \hat{Q}_1^2 \big|_{y_1=0} + k_0 Q_1^1 - \partial_2 Q_2^1) + \lambda^3 (k_0 Q_2^1 + \partial_1 Q_2^2) \right) \Big|_{z_2=0},$$

where k_0 is the curvature of $\partial \Omega$ at X_0 . Then we use the boundary condition of Q_0^1 in (2.14), the boundary condition of (Q_1^1, Q_1^2) in (2.20), and that of (Q_2^1, Q_2^2) in (2.22) to get

$$\lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{Q}_{ap}(X_0) = \mathcal{H}^e(X_0) + \lambda^3 (k_0 Q_2^1 + \partial_1 Q_2^2) \Big|_{z_2 = 0}$$

Similarly, for any $x \in \partial \Omega$, we also have

$$\lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{Q}_{\mathrm{a}p}(x) = \mathcal{H}^{e}(x) - \mathcal{B}_{3}(x) \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega, \tag{E.1}$$

where

$$\mathcal{B}_{3}(x) = -\lambda^{3} \Big(k(x) \hat{Q}_{2}^{1}(y_{1}, z_{2}) + \partial_{1} \hat{Q}_{2}^{2}(y_{1}, z_{2}) \Big) \Big|_{z_{2}=0},$$
(E.2)

k(x) is the curvature of $\partial\Omega$ at $x, z_2 = y_2/\lambda, x = \psi(y_1, y_2)$ and ψ is defined by (2.1). From Proposition 2.9, we have

$$\|\mathcal{B}_3\|_{C^2(\partial\Omega)} \le C\left(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e\right)\lambda^3. \tag{E.3}$$

Combining (E.1) with the boundary condition $\lambda \text{curl} \mathbf{Q} = \mathcal{H}^e$ on $\partial \Omega$, we immediately obtain that

$$\lambda \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{O}} = \mathcal{B}_3 \quad \text{on } \partial \Omega$$

Now we compute the value of $\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}}$ on $\partial \Omega$. We first calculate the value of $f_{ap}^2 \mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{Q}_{ap}(x)$ at $X_0 \in \partial \Omega$. From (2.21) and (2.23), we have

$$|f_0|^2 Q_1^2 |_{z_2=0} = \partial_{y_1 z_2} \hat{Q}_0^1 |_{y_1=0, z_2=0} = \hat{\mathcal{H}}_{y_1}^e(0),$$

and

$$(|f_0|^2 Q_2^2 + 2f_0 f_1 Q_1^2)|_{z_2=0} = -(\partial_{z_2 y_1} \hat{Q}_1^1 - \partial_{y_1} (k \hat{Q}_0^1))|_{y_1=0, z_2=0}$$

= $-\partial_{y_1} (\partial_{z_2} \hat{Q}_1^1 - (k \hat{Q}_0^1))|_{y_1=0, z_2=0} = 0.$

Then

$$|f_{ap}|^{2} \mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{Q}_{ap}(X_{0}) = -(f_{0} + \lambda f_{1} + \lambda^{2} f_{2})^{2} (\lambda Q_{1}^{2} + \lambda^{2} Q_{2}^{2})$$

= $-\lambda \hat{\mathcal{H}}_{y_{1}}^{e}(0) + \lambda^{3} \tilde{\mathfrak{R}}_{2}(y_{1}, z_{2})\Big|_{y_{1}=0, z_{2}=0},$

where

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathfrak{R}}_{2}(y_{1},z_{2}) = & (f_{1}^{2}+2f_{0}f_{2})Q_{1}^{2}+2f_{0}f_{1}Q_{2}^{2}+\lambda \Big(2f_{1}f_{2}Q_{1}^{2}+(f_{1}^{2}+2f_{0}f_{2})Q_{2}^{2}\Big) \\ & +\lambda^{2}\Big(f_{2}^{2}Q_{1}^{2}+2f_{1}f_{2}Q_{2}^{2}\Big)+\lambda^{3}f_{2}^{2}Q_{2}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Similarly, for any $x \in \partial \Omega$, we also have

$$f_{ap}^{2}\mathbf{n}\cdot\mathbf{Q}_{ap}(x)=-\lambda\nabla_{tan}(\mathcal{H}^{e})(x)-\mathcal{B}_{4}(x),$$

where

$$\mathcal{B}_4(x) = \lambda^3 \tilde{\mathfrak{R}}_2(y_1, z_2) \Big|_{z_2=0},\tag{E.4}$$

 $z_2 = y_2/\lambda$, $x = \psi(y_1, y_2)$, and ψ is defined by (2.1). From Proposition 2.5, Proposition 2.7 and Proposition 2.9, we have

$$\|\mathcal{B}_4\|_{C^2(\partial\Omega)} \le C\left(\Omega, \mathcal{H}^e\right)\lambda^3. \tag{E.5}$$

From the second and the third equations in (1.1), it follows that

$$f^{2}\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{Q} = -\lambda^{2}\mathbf{n} \cdot \operatorname{curl}^{2}\mathbf{Q} = -\lambda \nabla_{\operatorname{tan}}(\lambda \operatorname{curl}\mathbf{Q}) = -\lambda \nabla_{\operatorname{tan}}(\mathcal{H}^{e}).$$

This gives that

$$\nu \cdot \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{Q}} = f_{ap}^{-2} \left[\mathcal{B}_4 + \lambda |f|^{-2} (|f|^2 - |f_{ap}|^2) \nabla_{\mathrm{tan}}(\mathcal{H}^e) \right] := \mathcal{B}_5.$$
(E.6)

Summarizing, we obtain the boundary conditions (3.8) for system (3.7).

Deringer

References

- 1. Adams, R.A.: Sobolev spaces. Academic Press, New York (1975)
- Agmon, S.: Lectures on exponential decay of solutions of second order elliptic equations. Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton (1982)
- Bates, P., Pan, X.B.: Nucleation of instability in Meissner state of 3-dimensional superconductors. Comm. Math. Phys. 276, 571–610 (2007). (Erratum, 283 (2008), 861)
- Berestycki, H., Bonnet, A., Chapman, S.J.: A semi-elliptic system arising in the theory of type-II superconductivity. Comm. Appl. Nonlinear Anal. 1, 1–21 (1994)
- 5. Bonnet, A., Chapman, S.J., Monneau, R.: Convergence of Meissner minimizers of the Ginzburg-Landau energy of superconductivity as *κ* → ∞. SIAM J. Math. Anal. **31**, 1374–1395 (2000)
- Chapman, S.J.: Superheating fields of type II superconductors. SIAM J. Appl. Math. 55, 1233–1258 (1995)
- Chapman, S.J.: Nucleation of vortices in type II superconductors in increasing magnetic fields. Appl. Math. Lett. 10(2), 29–31 (1997)
- Chen, Y., Wu, L.: Elliptic partial differential equations of second order and elliptic systems. Science Press, Beijing (1997)
- Conti, S., Otto, F., Serfaty, S.: Branched microstructures in the Ginzburg-Landau model of type-I superconductors. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 48(4), 2994–3034 (2016)
- Correggi, M., Rougerie, N.: Boundary behavior of the Ginzburg-Landau order parameter in the surface superconductivity regime. Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal. 219(1), 553–606 (2016)
- Dautray, R., Lions, J.-L.: Mathematical analysis and numerical methods for science and technology, vol. 3. Springer-Verlag, New York (1990)
- Fournais, S., Helffer, B.: Spectral methods in surface superconductivity, Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and Their Applications. Birkhaüser, Boston-Basel-Berlin (2009)
- Fournais, S., Kachmar, A.: Nucleation of bulk superconductivity close to critical magnetic field. Adv. Math. 226, 1213–1258 (2011)
- Gilbarg, D., Trudinger, N.: Elliptic partial differential equations of second order, 2nd edn. Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1983)
- 15. Ginzburg, V., Landau, L.: On the theory of superconductivity. Soviet Phys. JETP 20, 1064–1082 (1950)
- Helffer, B., Pan, X.B.: Upper critical field and location of surface nucleation of superconductivity. Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré, Analyse Non Linéaire 20, 145–181 (2003)
- Il'in, A.M.: Matching of Asymptotic Expansions of Solutions of Boundary Value Problems, Translations of Math. Monographs. Amer. Math. Soc, Providence, Rhode Island (1992)
- 18. Kramer, L.: Vortex nucleation in type II superconductors. Phys. Lett. A 24(15), 571–572 (1967)
- Lin, F.H., Du, Q.: Ginzburg-Landau vortices: dynamics, pinning, and hysteresis. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 28, 1265–1293 (1997)
- Lu, K.N., Pan, X.B.: Estimates of the upper critical field for the Ginzburg-Landau equations of superconductivity. Physica D 127, 73–104 (1999)
- 21. Matricon, J., Saint-James, D.: Superheating fields in superconductors. Phys. Lett. A 24, 241 (1967)
- Monneau, R.: Quasilinear elliptic systems arising in a three-dimensional type-II superconductor for infinite κ. Nonlinear Anal. 52, 917–930 (2003)
- Pan, X.B.: Surface superconductivity in applied magnetic fields above H_{C2}. Comm. Math. Phys. 228, 327–370 (2002)
- Pan, X.B.: Surface superconductivity in 3-dimensions. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 356(10), 3899–3937 (2004)
- Pan, X.B.: Nucleation of instability of Meissner state of superconductors and related mathematical problems. In: Bian, B.J., Li, S.H., Wang, X.J. (eds.) Trends in Partial Differential Equations, "Advanced Lectures in Mathematics". International Press, Boston (2009)
- 26. Pan, X.B.: Meissner states of type II superconductors. J. Elliptic Parabolic Equations 4, 441–523 (2018)
- Pan, X.B., Kwek, K.: On a problem related to vortex nucleation of superconductivity. J. Diff. Equ. 182, 141–168 (2003)
- Serfaty, S.: Local minimizers for the Ginzburg-Landau energy near critical magnetic field, I, II. Comm. Contemp. Math. 1, 213–254, 295–333 (1999)
- Serfaty, S.: Stable configurations in superconductivity: uniqueness, multiplicity, and vortex nucleation. Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal. 149, 329–365 (1999)
- Sandier, E., Serfaty, S.: Global minimizers for the Ginzburg-Landau functional below the first critical magnetic field. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré, Anal. Non Lineaire 17, 119–145 (2000)
- Sandier, E., Serfaty, S.: Vortices in the magnetic Ginzburg-Landau model, Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and Their Applications, vol. 70. Birkhaüser, Boston-Basel-Berlin (2007)
- Valles, N., Liepe, M.: The superheating field of niobium: theory and experiment. In: Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on RF Superconductivity SRF2011, Chicago, IL, USA, 25-29 July (2011), pp. 293-301. https://accelconf.web.cern.ch/SRF2011/papers/tuioa05.pdf
- Xiang, X.F.: On the shape of Meissner solutions to a limiting form of Ginzburg -Landau systems. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 222, 1601–1640 (2016)

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Springer Nature or its licensor holds exclusive rights to this article under a publishing agreement with the author(s) or other rightsholder(s); author self-archiving of the accepted manuscript version of this article is solely governed by the terms of such publishing agreement and applicable law.